Public Document Pack

HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD
Date:

THURSDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2019 at 3.30 pm

Council Chamber
Civic Suite
Catford
SE6 4RU
Enquiries to:
Telephone:

Stewart Weaver-Snellgrove
020 8314 9308 (direct line)

MEMBERS
Damien Egan (Chair)
Cllr Chris Best
Tom Brown
Val Davison
Roz Hardie
Donna Hayward-Sussex
Gwen Kennedy
Michael Kerin
Dr Faruk Majid
Dr Catherine Mbema
Dr Simon Parton
Sara Williams
Christine Wykes Driver

Mayor of Lewisham
Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Health
and Adult Social Care
Executive Director for Community Services, Lewisham Council
Chair, Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
Voluntary and Community Sector Representative
Service Director, South London and Maudsley
NHS Foundation Trust
Interim Director of Nursing South London, NHS England
Healthwatch Lewisham
Chair, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group
Director of Public Health, Lewisham Council
Chair, Lewisham Local Medical Committee
Executive Director for Children & Young People,
Lewisham Council
Acting Chief Executive, Voluntary Action Lewisham

ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA
Item

Page

1.

Minutes of last meeting and matters arising

2.

Declarations of Interest

1-9
10 - 12

3.1 Referral from Healthier Communities and Children and Young People
Select Committees - BAME health inequalities

13 - 14

3.2 Response to the Healthier Communities and Children and Young People
Select Committees referral - BAME health inequalities

15 - 27

4.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) - refresh of Falls Service JSNA

28 - 57

5.

Better Care Fund - 2019/20 Plan

58 - 96

6.

South East London Integrated Care System - Response to the NHS Long
Term Plan

97 - 107

7.

Information item
a) Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board – Annual Report 2018/19

108 - 130

8.

Next meeting date - 12 March 2020:
Agenda items to include the BAME Health Inequalities Action Plan.

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to
consider some business in private. Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request.

Agenda Item 1
MINUTES OF THE
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Thursday 11th July 2019 at 3pm
ATTENDANCE
PRESENT: Mayor Damien Egan (Chair to the Board); Faruk Majid (Vice Chair to the
Board and Chair, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group); Cllr Chris Best (Deputy
Mayor of Lewisham and Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care); Tom
Brown (Executive Director for Community Services, LBL); Val Davison (Chair of
Lewisham & Greenwich Healthcare NHS Trust); Roz Hardie (Voluntary and
Community Sector Representative); Donna Hayward-Sussex (Service Director,
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust); Martin Hunt (Interim Chief
Executive Officer, Voluntary Action Lewisham); Michael Kerin (Healthwatch
Lewisham); and Dr Catherine Mbema (Director of Public Health, LBL).
APOLOGIES: Sara Williams (Executive Director for Children and Young People,
LBL); Dr Simon Parton (Chair of Lewisham Local Medical Committee) and Gwen
Kennedy (NHS England Representative).
IN ATTENDANCE: Dee Carlin (Head of Joint Commissioning, Lewisham CCG and
LBL); Keith Cohen (Youth Offending Service Manager, LBL ); Trish Duffy (Health
Intelligence Manager, Public Health, LBL); Caroline Hirst (Joint Commissioning SGM
); Chris Howard (Senior Environmental Protection Officer, LBL); Salena Mulhere
(SGM Inter-agency, Service Development and Integration); Folake Segun (Chief
Executive, Healthwatch Lewisham); Stewart Weaver-Snellgrove (Clerk to the Board,
LBL); Sarah Wainer (Programme Lead, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group);
Martin Wilkinson (Managing Director, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group); and
Christina Windle (Director of Commissioning Operations, NHS South East London
Commissioning Alliance).

Welcome and introductions
The Chair welcomed Tom Brown (Lewisham Council), Donna Hayward-Sussex
(SLaM) and Martin Hunt (Voluntary Action Lewisham) to their first meeting as new
members of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Apologies were received from Dr Simon Parton, and Sara Williams. The latter was
represented at the Board by Caroline Hirst.

1.

Minutes of the last meeting

1.1

The minutes of the last meeting were agreed as an accurate record with no
matters arising.

Page 1

2.

Declarations of interest

2.1

There were no declarations of interest.

3.

Healthier Communities Select Committee (HCSC) referral

3.1

This referral from the Healthier Communities Select Committee meeting of
14th May 2019 was with regards to discussions held on BAME mental health
inequalities.

3.2

The committee requested that progress of the work on BAME mental health
inequalities be set out with clear timelines, responsibilities and proposed
actions in line with commitments in the new Corporate Strategy. This was to
encompass both adults and children and young people.

3.3

Action:


The Board noted the contents of the report and agreed that Item 4 on the
agenda (BAME health inequalities update) would comprise the official
response from the Board to this HCSC referral.

4.

BAME health inequalities update

4.1

Dr Catherine Mbema provided an update to the Board on developments that
have taken place over the past year to address BAME mental health
inequalities in Lewisham and to request approval for the suggested approach
and planned actions for 2019/20 onwards.

4.2

Activities to date for Adults included:






4.3

BAME mental health summit (October 2018)
HWB workshop on ‘Improving health outcomes for BAME communities in
Lewisham’ (March 2019)
Lewisham Suicide Prevention Strategy (March 2019)
Good practice models research (May 2019)
Mental health JSNA (June 2019)

Activities to date for Children and Young People included:







Inspire, a school-focused mental health participation group which
developed an approach to reduce mental health stigma and strengthen
peer to peer support in schools (November 2018).
Anna Freud Centre awarded Lewisham CAMHS with the ‘Best
Participation in Service’ award.
CAMHS-led participation group, Alchemy, designed and delivered cultural
awareness training to CAMHS staff.
Alchemy commissioned for a further year with a focus on peer-to-peer
support and increased emotional literacy in schools (March 2019).
Project between National Maritime Museum and two CAMHS participation
groups to involve young people with mental health problems designing and

Page 2





making mental health first aid kits for refugee families arriving in Lewisham
(June 2019).
Expression of Interest submitted to the Department of Education for
funding two Mental Health Support Teams. The teams would deliver
interventions to CYP with mild to moderate needs in schools. Equality
drivers at centre of Lewisham’s proposal included tailoring services for
BAMER CYP (march 2019)
Recruitment of Healthy Schools Officer to directly support Lewisham
schools achieving Healthy School status, which incorporates a whole
school approach to improving emotional wellbeing and mental health (June
2019).

4.4

Reducing mental health inequalities is a priority area across all ages within
Lewisham Council. A variety of different work has already been implemented
and plans are in place for further work in 2019/20 and beyond. The longer
term aspiration is for the consideration of BAME health inequalities to be a
routine consideration in all aspects of commissioning local services and
programmes for the Lewisham population.

4.5

The following comments were made as part of the discussion by members of
the Board and those in attendance:







4.6

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) is making a series of
improvements in response to findings from the Mental Health JSNA.
Lewisham is an organic ‘Time to Change Hub’ with sign-up forms on the
Council’s website. Training will be provided for new ‘Champions’ who have
lived experience of mental health conditions.
A plan of action has been developed regarding co-production work on
BAME health inequalities and this will be presented to the Lewisham BME
Network for review and sign-up. Key challenge is to identify time-based
monitoring for Development Plan activities.
Service user involvement on mental health issues also takes place at the
operational group that sits under the Mental Health Alliance Board.
A challenge will be to ensure that sufficient infrastructure is in place across
the partnership to make progress and that a willingness exists to address
BAME health inequalities.

Actions:




The Board approved the approach and planned actions identified for
2019/20 onwards.
The Board requested that work commence on the two other priority areas
of BAME health inequalities previously identified i.e. obesity and cancer.
That the report for Agenda Item 4 be referred back to HCSC as the
Board’s formal response to the HCSC referral in Agenda Item 3.

5.

Making Sense of Mental Health 2018-19

5.1

Folake Segun provided the Board with the outcome of engagement carried
out by Healthwatch Lewisham with children and young people regarding their

Page 3

knowledge of mental health, their experiences and opinions on the services
available to them.
5.2

Five hundred and eleven (511) children and young people from 5 schools and
three organisations contributed to this work, with key findings as follows:








5.3

The following comments and additions were made as part of the discussion by
members of the Board and those in attendance:











5.4

In their services, children and young people value options, continuity,
respect for privacy, good listening and those services that are readily
available.
31% of those who took part felt they had experienced anxiety in their lives,
and one in four felt they had experienced depression.
The top 5 mental health concerns reported were exam stress, school
pressure, stress (in general), not being listened to and sleeping difficulties.
When asked what they would do if they experienced mental health issues,
one in five said they would do nothing, or block it out.
Children and young people were four times more likely to speak to their
teacher than to a counsellor if they were experiencing poor mental health.
They were most likely to speak to a family member or a friend.
One in four believed they had experienced depressions and 31% anxiety.
13% of those engaged had used counselling services.

Responses to mental health issues are being developed through teacher
and parent partnerships e.g. at Bonus Pastor children can come out of the
classroom and go into a safe space.
48% of schools have accessed mental health first aid training, though
there is less engagement from secondary schools.
Place2Be is a children's mental health charity providing school-based
support and in-depth training programmes to improve the emotional
wellbeing of pupils, families, teachers and school staff. This whole school
approach has been adopted by eight Lewisham schools, enabling pupils to
self-refer for counselling support.
Kooth is a provider of online mental health services for children, young
people and adults. It is accessible through mobile, tablet and desktop and
free at the point of use. It is also available in the evenings and at
weekends.
SLaM is in the process of developing psychological practice in community
settings.
A gap exists between Primary and Secondary provision of mental health
services for children and young people.
A key component of the Early Help review will be focussed on those not
meeting CAMHS’s thresholds.
A recommendation for a self-harm JSNA topic has been put forward,
which would include transitions (i.e. up to 25 years).

Action:


The Board noted the content of the report.

Page 4

6.

Public health approach to reducing violence

6.1

Keith Cohen provided members of the Board with an overview of the new
Framework for delivering the Public Health Approach to Reducing Violence.

6.2

This Framework is an important document in shaping our short, medium and
long term approach to reducing violence in all its forms; in the public realm,
within homes and domestic situations, hate crime and exposure to violence.

6.3

The Framework will shape and support the collective approach required to
reducing violence, with the following aims:






6.4

The following comments and additions were made as part of the discussion
by members of the Board and those in attendance:







6.5

Reduce the impacts and actual violence across Lewisham.
Identify the causes of violence in Lewisham, and act to deliver short and
longer term reductions.
Listen and work with communities to build on their strengths and deliver
solutions together.
Create a learning environment for continuous improvement.
Impact positively on wider social, economic and health outcomes for our
residents.

A Youth Offending Service model re violence reduction is being developed
by Goldsmiths.
MOPAC-funded initiative has social workers based in hospitals to engage
with those admitted with stab wounds. This is being piloted at King’s.
The Equality Impact Assessment of the Framework should be reviewed to
identify any disproportionality of youth violence.
Schools are often the gatekeepers of youth violence and there needs to be
a conversation about transparency. Concern that school reputation
management issues may influence this.
For the Framework to be successful it needs to be driven over a longer
period of time and engage a wide range of organisations. The relationship
between the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Violence Reduction
Board needs to be embedded so that momentum continues regardless of
organisational changes.

Actions:



The Board noted the content of the report.
All Board member organisations to consider how they might support the
Framework and collectively contribute to reducing violence in all its forms.
Feedback on these contributions to return to Board at a later date for
review.

7.

NICE quality standard on air pollution

7.1

Chris Howard provided the Board with a briefing on the NICE Quality
Standard on air pollution, which included assurances that all aspects of the

Page 5

Quality Standard are either being met, or have plans in place or in
development for how they will be met.
7.2

The responsibility for delivery of air quality actions identified in the NICE
report, primarily lies with Planning, Transport, Public Health with
Environmental Protection providing the monitoring and reporting for these
initiatives.

7.3

The four quality statements are:
i.

ii.

iii.
iv.

Statement 1 - Local authorities identify in the Local Plan, local
transport plan and other key strategies how they will address air
pollution, including enabling zero- and low-emission travel and
developing buildings and spaces to reduce exposure to air pollution.
Statement 2 - Local planning authorities assess proposals to
minimise and mitigate road-traffic-related air pollution in planning
applications for major developments.
Statement 3 - Public sector organisations reduce emissions from
their vehicle fleets to address air pollution.
Statement 4 - Children, young people and adults with chronic
respiratory or cardiovascular conditions are given advice at routine
health appointments on what to do when outdoor air quality is poor.

7.4

The report described what each of these statements means for service
providers, healthcare professionals, commissioners and people with long-term
breathing or heart conditions.

7.5

Action:


The Board noted the contents of the report.

8.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessments Update 2019/20

8.1

Catherine Mbema advised the Board of the prioritised Joint Strategic Needs
Assessments (JSNA) for the financial year 2019/20.

8.2

The JSNA Steering Group has considered a number of JSNA Topic
Assessment proposals, received from across partners in health and social
care in Lewisham. These were assessed and scored against the JSNA
Prioritisation Matrix, which is a tool developed to objectively assess and rank
topic assessment proposals. The topics which scored highest have been
approved and recommended to go forward:
a) Health of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender/Transsexual Plus
Population
b) Self-harm in Children and Young People
c) Transition and Preparing for Adulthood

8.3

Further JSNA work for 2019/20 includes completed topic assessments on
Autism, Supported Housing, Adult Mental Health and Adult Respiratory
Illness. These will be brought to future meetings of the Health and Wellbeing
Board for sign-off.

Page 6

8.4

Action:


The Board noted the contents of the report.

9.

Motor Neurone Disease Charter

9.1

Catherine Mbema introduced the Motor Neurone Disease (MND) Charter to
the Board. This followed a request from a Lewisham resident for health and
care partners to sign-up to the Charter.

9.2

The Charter is a statement of the respect, care and support that people living
with MND and their carers should expect.

9.3

The Charter consists of the following five Quality Statements:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

People with MND have the right to early diagnosis and information.
People with MND have the right to high quality care and treatments.
People with MND have the right to be treated as individuals and with
dignity and respect.
People with MND have the right to maximise their quality of life.
Carers of people with MND have the right to be valued, respected,
listened to and well supported.

9.4

In signing the Charter, partners are committing to undertake the work required
to assess the current service provision, how it’s coordinated and take steps to
address identified areas for improvement.

9.5

The Charter sets out the key services that commissioning bodies will need to
work with to ensure that Lewisham is working towards the Quality Standards:

















9.6

Neurology
Primary Care
Motor Neurone Disease Association
Palliative Care
Respiratory Service
Dietetics
Pharmacy (Medicine Management)
Continuing Healthcare Team
Social Care
Speech and Language Therapy
Augmentative and Alternative Communication (Assessment and Provision)
Research Bodies
Housing (includes Home Adaptations)
Wheelchair Services
Benefits Advice
Carers Services

The following comments and additions were made as part of the discussion
by members of the Board and those in attendance:

Page 7









9.10

MND Association has offered to share awareness and training in relation
to the disease with relevant stakeholders.
Health and Care Partners will need to look at the Quality Standards as
they apply to all the services listed above.
Public Health and Joint Commissioning would need to identify any gaps
and make the necessary recommendations to address these.
The adoption of disease-specific Charters may result in people with health
conditions that don’t have a voice, losing out on the benefits that come
from being in the spotlight.
Health and Care Partners should therefore consider how to apply the
principles of the Quality Standards across the board, rather than for
specific diseases.
Aspirations need to be more widely spread with resources targeted fairly
and appropriately.

Actions:



Health and Care Partners to work towards the vision and aspirations of the
MND Charter, with collective delivery of its aims.
Consideration to be given as to how Health and Care Partners can apply
the principles of the Quality Standards more broadly.

10.

South East London Commissioning Alliance (SELCA): Engagement on
CCG System Reform

10.1

Christina Windle and Martin Wilkinson updated the Board on the Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) merger programme across South East London
(SEL), with a request that members of the Board review the progress and
timeline for establishment of a single CCG.

10.2

The SEL CCG system reform is in response to the NHS’s Long Term Plan
which requires implementation of Integrated Care Systems by April 2021. The
merging of the six SEL CCGs by April 2020 is considered the first step in that
process.

10.3

The summary report on progress of the system reform programme is being
shared with all six Health and Wellbeing Boards across SEL as part of the
engagement process.

10.4

The following comments and additions were made as part of the discussion
by members of the Board and those in attendance:





Lewisham CCG has been rated as ‘Good’ for 2018/19, up from the
previous ‘Requires Improvement’ rating.
NHS is driven centrally rather than locally. Potential tensions between the
centre and the periphery with regards to these system reforms.
Always risk that system reform will retrench. Changes need to be real and
honest and should enrich rather than undermine.
Lessons learnt from place-based working are already playing out via
existing joint arrangements and experience of risk shares across CCGs.

Page 8









10.5

Local Authority will still have autonomy and budget alongside place-based
working.
Different boroughs will find own ways of working. Learning steps will need
to be gone through.
Under the new SEL governance structure, we need to ensure that the
diverse voices of Lewisham residents are heard, this includes finding ways
to fully engage the Voluntary and Community Sector on the Place-Based
Boards and the inclusion of the patient-voice beyond a single Healthwatch
representative.
Need to build VCS capacity and stimulate the market to achieve the right
outcomes. NHS providers must support VCS and non-NHS providers.
Not clear to what extent SELCA are actually engaging or consulting with
the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Outstanding questions: Will Lewisham have a fair share of funding? Will
Lewisham get its voice heard, not just locally but at a sector level? How do
we work together?

Action:


The Board noted the contents of the report.

The meeting ended at 16:45 hours

Page 9

Agenda Item 2
Health and Wellbeing Board
Title

Declarations of interest

Contributor

Chief Executive – London Borough of Lewisham

Class

Part 1 (open)

Item 2
14 November 2019

Declaration of interests
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda.
1

Personal interests
There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code
of Conduct:(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2) Other registerable interests
(3) Non-registerable interests

2

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a)

Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain

(b)

Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the
Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit from a Trade Union).

(c)

Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a
partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which
they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works.

(d)

Beneficial interests in land in the borough.

(e)

Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)

Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the Council
is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a partner, a body
corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which they have a
beneficial interest.

(g)

Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:(a)

that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the
borough; and

(b)

either
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the
total issued share capital of that body; or

Page 10

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person*
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of
that class.
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom
they live as spouse or civil partner.
(3)

Other registerable interests
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the
following interests:-

(4)

(a)

Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you
were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b)

Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion
or policy, including any political party

(c)

Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25

Non registerable interests
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not
required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).

(5)

Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation
(a)

Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event
before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in the
minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest the
member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw from
the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to influence
the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or
participation where such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and
on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000

(b)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable
pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the
meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is
considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in consideration of the
matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below applies.

Page 11

(6)

(c)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable
pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member
of the public in possession of the facts would think that their interest is so
significant that it would be likely to impair the member’s judgement of the
public interest. If so, the member must withdraw and take no part in
consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the outcome improperly.

(d)

If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member,
their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the
local area generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of
interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable interest.

(e)

Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal
judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the
Monitoring Officer.

Sensitive information
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be
registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

(7)

Exempt categories
There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so.
These include:(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter
relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception)
School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent
or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the
matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are
a governor;
Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
Allowances, payment or indemnity for members
Ceremonial honours for members
Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)

Page 12

Agenda Item 3a
Health and Wellbeing Board
Title

Matters referred (jointly) by the Children and Young
People Select Committee and Healthier Communities
Select Committee

Key Decision

No

Contributors

Children and Young People Select Committee
Healthier Communities Select Committee

Class

Part 1

Item No. 3a

Date

14 November 2019

1.

Purpose

1.1

This report informs the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) of the
comments and views of the Children and Young People Select
Committee and Healthier Communities Select Committee, arising from
a joint meeting at which BAME mental health inequalities was
discussed.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:
(a) Note the views and recommendations of the joint Committees set
out in paragraph 3 below.
(b) Provide a response to the Children and Young People Select
Committee and Healthier Communities Select Committee.

3.

Context

3.1

At a meeting on 14 May 2019, the Healthier Communities Select
Committee resolved:
“To hold a one-off joint meeting with the Children and Young People
Select Committee before the summer recess to further consider the
work being undertaken by the council to address BAME mental health
inequalities; to receive evidence at this meeting on the progress of this
work with clear timescales and proposed actions, on who is responsible
for overseeing and monitoring the progress of this work at senior officer
and cabinet level, and on whether there are any barriers to making
quick progress, and to receive evidence at this meeting from the
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care, the Cabinet Member
for Children’s Services, and the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing
Board.”

Page 13

This meeting was held on 17 July and was attended by Members of
both committees, as well as the Council’s Mental Health Champion. It
was resolved that a referral be made to the HWB recommending:
1) That HWB investigates the lack of robustness and
possible inaccuracies with CAMHS ethnicity data and
provides details of how and when this deficiency will be
addressed and remedied;
2) That HWB considers a dedicated programme, with
additional funding and other resources, based within
community and third sector partner organisations that
already have expertise and the trust of BAMER
communities, on whose cooperation public consultation
and co-production will rely.

4.

Financial Implications

4.1

There are no financial implications arising out of this report per se,
although the financial implications of the recommendations will need to
be considered in due course.

5.

Legal Implications

5.1

The Constitution provides for Select Committees to make reports and
recommendations to the Executive/Council (including the Health and
Wellbeing Board), which is obliged to consider the report and the
proposed response from the relevant Executive Director; and report back
to the Committee within two months (not including recess).

6.

Equalities Implications

6.1

There are no equalities implications arising out of this report per se,
although the equalities implications of the recommendations will need
to be considered in due course.

7.

Crime and Disorder/Environmental implications

7.1

There are no specific implications.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
If you have any queries on this report, please contact Emma Aye-Kumi,
Scrutiny Manager (020 8314 9534).

Page 14

Agenda Item 3b

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Report Title

Contributors
Class
Strategic
Context
1.

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) Health Inequalities –
Response to referral made by Children and Young People Select
Committee and Healthier Communities Select Committee
Director of Public Health, London Borough Item No. 3b
of Lewisham
Part 1
Date:
14th November
2019
See body of the report

Purpose
To respond to a referral made by a joint meeting of the Children and
Young People Select Committee and Healthier Communities Select
Committee on 17 July 2019. At this meeting it was resolved that a referral
be made to the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) recommending:
1) That HWB investigates the lack of robustness and possible
inaccuracies with CAMHS ethnicity data and provides details of how
and when this deficiency will be addressed and remedied;
2) That HWB considers a dedicated programme, with additional funding
and other resources, based within community and third sector
partner organisations that already have expertise and the trust of
BAMER communities, on whose cooperation public consultation and
co-production will rely.

2.

Recommendation/s
Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:

2.1

Note the response to the referral outlined below.

3.

Strategic Context

3.1

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required the creation of statutory
Health and Wellbeing Boards in every upper tier local authority. By
assembling key leaders from the local health and care system, the
principle purpose of the Health and Wellbeing Boards is to improve
health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities for local residents.

3.2

The activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is focussed on
delivering the strategic vision for Lewisham as established in
Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

3.3

The work of the Board directly contributes to the Council’s new
Corporate Strategy. Specifically Priority 5 – Delivering and Defending:

Page
1 15

Health, Social Care and Support – Ensuring everyone receives the
health, mental health, social care and support services they need.
4.

Background

4.1

In July 2018 the HWB agreed that the main area of focus for the Board
should be tackling health inequalities, with an initial focus on health
inequalities for BAME communities in Lewisham.

4.2

Following analysis undertaken by a sub group of the Board, three priority
areas were identified through which the Board could play a significant
role in addressing the widest gaps in BAME health inequalities. The
areas identified were: mental health; obesity; and cancer.

4.3

The work of the Board has focused on the area of mental health in this
first year and a strategic approach has been considered across both
Children and Young People (CYP) and Adults.

4.4

The approaches and commissioning for these two population groups are
carried out by separate teams across the council and CCG. However,
there is a clear understanding that reducing mental health inequalities
amongst BAME communities in Lewisham requires an integrated
approach to maximise resources and improve mental health and
wellbeing outcomes.

5.

CAMHS ethnicity data

5.1

Extensive work has been undertaken over the last three months by the
Lewisham CAMHS service alongside SLaM data analysts to improve the
accuracy and comprehensiveness of ethnicity data for Lewisham
CAMHS.

5.2

Data below in Table 1, shows a much improved position for 2019/20
where the number of ‘unknowns’ has been reduced to 9%, meaning that
the data is far more meaningful and accurate.

5.3

This more accurate and comprehensive data shows that although
access for BAMER children and young people is better than we originally
thought, there is still an issue of disproportion, when measured against
Lewisham’s demographics. There is more work to be done to
understand the level of disproportionality particularly for specific ethnic
groups and gender.

Page2 16

Table 1. Ethnicity Data for Community CAMHS in Lewisham

0-19 year olds in Lewisham
(Census 2011)
Lewisham CAMHS
Community Services (Sept
2016) (n=1,138)
Lewisham CAMHS
Community services (Sept
17) (n=1,307)
Lewisham CAMHS
Community services (Sept
18) (n=1,597)
Lewisham CAMHS
Community services (Sept
19) (n=1,733)

Other
ethnic
group

White

Unknown

Asian

Black

Mixed
Race

7.1%

35.7%

15.8%

4.8%

36.6%

0%

2.8%

27.9%

10.9%

2.8%

43.4%

12.1%

2.4%

29.6%

14.4%

2.9%

49.2%

1.5%

3%

23%

11%

2%

48%

13%

2%

23.5%

12%

2%

51.5%

9%

5.4

Data cleansing has identified that in September approximately 9% of
children and young people against a CAMHS caseload of 1,733 did not
provide their ethnicity details. Of the same CAMHS caseload 39.5% of
children and young people described themselves as of Black, Asian,
Minority, Ethic Refugee (BAMER) at the time of assessment, with 23.5%
describing themselves as having a Black background, thus
demonstrating an improved position of access than was previously
stated.

5.5

Alongside this work to improve the Lewisham CAMHS data,
commissioners for children and young people have also undertaken
analysis of reach and ethnicity data across the wider commissioned
mental health and emotional wellbeing pathway for children and young
people. Early findings have been positive, with BAMER access being
around 55-60% for most non-statutory/community based services.
Evidence of this can be seen in Table 2 below.

5.6

SLaM’s Children Wellbeing Practitioner (CWP) Programme has been
established to develop the CYP mental health workforce by allowing
trainee mental health practitioners, with robust clinical supervision, to
deliver evidence – based interventions to children and families with mild
to moderate needs. This proven, community and evidence based
approach has doubled in size over the past year. Whilst it is still a small
resource, with approximately four WTE practitioners and two trainees,
Table 2 shows that it has achieved 57% BAMER access against a total
figure of 63.4% of 0-19 year olds that identified as BAMER in the Census
2011.

Page
3 17

5.7

In 2019, Lewisham was successful in securing funding to implement two
Trailblazer Mental Health Support Teams (MHST), as set out in the
Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health: A Green
Paper. Much like Children Wellbeing Practitioners, Education Wellbeing
Practitioners (EWP) will allow a new cohort of trainees to join the local
workforce in delivering evidence based interventions in community
settings. This proven, community and evidence based approach is
hoped to mirror CWP’s success in delivering proportionate BAMER
access.

5.8

Appendix 1 provides benchmarking data which has been taken from the
recently developed ‘four borough’ SLaM performance dashboard. This
shows that many more Black CYP are accessing CAMHS services in
Lambeth. Lewisham’s figures are similar to Southwark’s, if the black
and mixed groups are combined.
Table 2. Ethnicity breakdown for non-statutory/community based CYP mental
health and wellbeing services

Service Name

Service description

Young Person’s
Health and
Wellbeing Service

Face to Face Counselling
(Compass)
Online counselling
(Kooth)
Evidence based
parenting programme
(EYA)
Early intervention
provision for children
looked after (SLaM)
Evidence based provision
to support CYP with
anxiety, low mood
(SLaM)
Postnatal Wellbeing
Parenting Programme for
mothers of babies aged
0-2 (Bromley, Lewisham
and Greenwich Mind)

Parenting Support
for behaviour/
conduct
CAMHS Virtual
School for Looked
After Children
Children Wellbeing
Practitioner
Programme
Mindful Mums
Parenting
Programme

5.9

Caseload/
Reach 18/19
595

CYP recorded
as BAMER
54%

710

57%

98

88%

103

58%

116

57%

141

38%

Positive progress has been made in improving the availability and quality
of data on the ethnic origin of children and young people accessing
statutory and non-statutory mental health and emotional wellbeing
services. This data shows a mixed picture with room for improvement,
particularly for statutory services. Action being taken is therefore as
follows:

Page4 18

•

Given the ethnic composition of the Lewisham CYP population,
BAMER access to mental health services has been identified as
one of nine key priorities within the refreshed CAMHS
Transformation Plan 2019. Baseline information will be reported
with clear actions attached, which will be monitored and reviewed
over the course of the coming year.

•

As part of wider performance management systems, equality of
access to services will remain a priority for SLaM, ongoing work
will be undertaken to ensure that the ethnicity of services users is
recorded and any anomalies are addressed.

•

Additional resource, such as the Mental Health in Schools
Trailblazer will be targeted to meet the identified needs of our
community, by focusing on BAMER access as a key priority.

•

We will build on the well-established BAMER participation
networks, such as Alchemy, that we already have in place.
Alongside public health, we will work with the London Borough of
Lambeth to learn from best practice in this area.

•

A range of training programmes will continue to be offered to
professionals across CAMHS and non-NHS providers such as
unconscious bias and cultural awareness, with an expectation
that this will be taken up by all relevant practitioners.

•

We will continue to build on successes achieved through colocation of services and integration of statutory mental health
provision with local non-NHS providers, but currently resourcing
is a real constraint.

•

We will actively seek to increase resources available for this area
of work. The CCG are recognising the historical financial position
and there are opportunities for improvement under the NHS
Investment Plan.

•

Ongoing work will continue with SLaM and other agencies,
building on the successes in community based services and
addressing the continued improvement agenda for SLaM
CAMHS. Where possible we will work alongside adult’s services,
when supporting the commitment to a ‘provider alliance’ across
children’s services.

6.

BAME mental health inequalities programme of work

6.1

The Provider Alliance Leadership group agreed to allocate the noncommitted funding in the 19/20 programme budget to community
engagement and involvement. A community engagement and
involvement framework has been drafted and was presented to the
Provider Alliance Leadership Group on the 28th October. The draft
framework will be tested with community representatives and shaped

Page
5 19

into a community and engagement strategy and subsequent action
plan for the Provider Alliance. The community engagement budget will
be used to support the delivery of the action plan.
6.2

The BAME network have a representative on the Leadership Group,
however concerns have been expressed that only having one
representative of the network is not sufficient. The Alliance will work with
representatives of the BAME network to consider the current
arrangements what may be the most effective method of engaging
BAME community members and/or representatives in the co-design and
co-production within the Provider Alliance development process.

6.3

An initial service user involvement meeting has taken place to support
the identification of service users that are engaged in local service, that
are willing to participate in the co-design and co-production of local care
pathways that will be delivered by the Provider Alliance. The Service
User Involvement forum and network will be co-ordinated by the
Lewisham Community Wellbeing service.

6.4

The Provider Alliance Leadership group have broadly accepted the draft
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment recommendations in principle and
have agreed to incorporate the agreed recommendations into their
planning documents.

6.5

The South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust have established
a Lewisham Independent Advisory Group to directly engage BAME
community representatives in dialogue that will support the improvement
of access, experience and outcomes for BAME service users. The
Provider Alliance Leadership Group and Independent Advisory Group
will establish a formal interface to ensure that there is a shared set of
values, learning and priorities in our approach to engagement and quality
improvement.

7.

BAME Health Inequalities Action Plan

7.1

At the last meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board and subsequent
joint Healthier/CYP Select meeting, the first iteration of an overarching
BAME Health Inequalities action plan covering the priority area of mental
health was presented. This action plan served to collate actions to
address BAME health inequalities in mental health across children and
young people and adults. An update on the actions presented in this
initial plan, incorporating the work outlined above, can be seen in
Appendix 2.

7.2

Work has since been undertaken by Council officers to extend this action
plan to cover all of the three priority areas of BAME health inequality
identified by the Board, namely mental health, cancer and obesity.
Council officers have also been working to ensure that the action plan is
co-produced with members of the Lewisham BME network.

Page6 20

7.3

To facilitate the final agreement of a co-produced overarching action
plan with the Lewisham BME network, it is proposed that a BAME health
inequalities working group covering mental health, cancer and obesity
consisting of Council officers responsible for the respective priority areas
and members of the Lewisham BME network, continue to oversee the
development of the plan. This working group will also monitor progress
using an agreed indicator framework for the action plan going forward. It
is proposed that this working group be co-ordinated by Public Health and
present update reports to each meeting of the Health and Wellbeing
Board.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

The various areas of work described within the report that is the
responsibility of the Council will be met from existing revenue budgets in
the Community Services and Children and Young People Directorates.

9.

Legal implications

9.1

Members of the Board are reminded of their responsibilities to carry out
statutory functions of the Health and Wellbeing Board under the Health
and Social Care Act 2012. Activities of the Board include, but may not
be limited to the following:
•
•

•
•
•
•

To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or
social services in the area to work in an integrated manner, for the
purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the area.
To provide such advice, assistance or other support as its thinks
appropriate for the purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements
under Section 75 NHS Act 2006 in connection with the provision of such
services.
To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of health related
services in its area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board.
To prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (as set out in Section
116 Local Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007).
To give opinion to the Council on whether the Council is discharging its
duty to have regard to any JSNA and any joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy prepared in the exercise of its functions.
To exercise any Council function which the Council delegates to the
Health and Wellbeing Board, save that it may not exercise the Council’s
functions under Section 244 NHS Act 2006.

10.

Crime and Disorder Implications

10.1

There are no Crime and Disorder Implications from this report.

11.

Equalities Implications

11.1

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality
duty (the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil

Page
7 21

partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and
sexual orientation.
11.2

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:

•

Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

•
•
11.3

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or
foster good relations.

11.4

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued
Technical Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory
guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions &
Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have
regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and
attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the
equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as
failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value.
The statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-andpolicy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technicalguidance/

11.5

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty:
1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty
5. Equality information and the equality duty

11.6

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and
who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the
duty, including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and

Page8 22

resources are available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/adviceand-guidance/publicsector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
12.

Environmental Implications

12.1

There are no environmental implications from this report.

If you have any difficulty in opening the links above or those within the body of
the report, please contact Stewart Snellgrove (Stewart.WeaverSnellgrove@lewisham.gov.uk; 020 8314 9308), who will assist.
If there are any queries on this report please contact Catherine Mbema, Public
Health, Lewisham Council, on 0208 314 4937, or by email at:
Catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk

Page
9 23

Appendix 1: Ethnicity Data – SLaM, CAMHS services: Croydon, Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark, June ‘19

10

Page 24

Appendix 2

Ref Action
No.
Children and Young People (CYP)
1. Establish mental health participation group
with a focus on BAME children and young
people

2. Response to recommendations from
member-led review and NHS intensive
support team review of mental health
pathway for CYP in Lewisham

Owner/Governance

LBL CYP
commissioning team
/ CYP Mental Health
and Emotional
Wellbeing Board
LBL CYP
commissioning team
/ CYP Mental Health
and Emotional
Wellbeing Board

April 2019 –
March 2021

June 2019

Timescale

32 recommendations with short,
medium and long term actions are being
worked through

Specific school work commenced In
October 2019

Progress

August 2019

September
2019

Adults Mental Health
Provider Alliance

Adults Mental Health
Provider Alliance

4. Implementation of recommendations from
the Adults Mental Health JSNA

Adults Mental Health
Provider Alliance

Adults
3. Work to ensure that there is community
and service user participation in co-design
of local service and care pathways

5. Work to ensure that Lived Experience
workers are ethnically representative of the
Lewisham population

An initial Service User involvement
network meeting was held in July,
further engagement work is needed with
local service users groups to promote
the network and increase participation –
representatives from the network will be
invited to join the co-design sessions for
the Provider Alliance
MH Provider Alliance has broadly
accepted the recommendations but will
need to establish an order of priority
NHSE Community Transformation bid
was not successful – MH Provider
Alliance to consider how this objective
will be achieved within existing
resources
December 2019
(Linked to
external funding
bids)

11

RAG

Page 25

Ref
No.

Action
6. To co-produce approaches to engagement
and on-ongoing dialogue as component of
the Alliance Engagement & Involvement
strategy/plan

Adults Mental Health
Provider Alliance

Owner/Governance
September
2019

Timescale

Progress

Council officers have received feedback
from the Lewisham BME network on the
first iteration of this action plan and will
work with network members over the
next 2-3 months to refine and agree the
next iteration of the plan, which will also
cover the priority areas of cancer and
obesity.
The BAMER Health network are now
represented on the Adult Mental Health
Provider Alliance Leadership Board,
others methods (As outlined above) that
enable co-production within the
commissioning process will need to be
identified and explored with the BAMER
Health network and wider community
Discussion between commissioners of
adult and CYP mental health services
has commenced to work on the

A community engagement and
involvement framework has since been
drafted and was presented to the
Provider Alliance Leadership Group on
the 28th October.

A new Transformation Manager has
been appointed to support the Provider
Alliance Development process.

October 2019

October 2019

CYP and Adults
7. To work with the Lewisham BAME Health
Network to continue to develop this action
plan for the next 3 years

8. To develop a co-production infrastructure
to engage Lewisham BAME communities
in commissioning decisions that impact
upon mental health and emotional
wellbeing

CYP Mental Health
and Emotional
Wellbeing
board/Adults Mental
Health Provider
Alliance/Public
Health

October 2019

CYP Mental Health
and Emotional
Wellbeing
board/Adults Mental
Health Provider
Alliance/Public
Health

9. To develop a Lewisham approach to
promote the interface between adult and
CYP mental health services

CYP Mental Health
and Emotional
Wellbeing
board/Adults Mental

12

RAG

Page 26

Ref
No.

Action

10.To develop the Time to Change Hub to
include a focus on reducing stigma in
BAME communities in Lewisham

Owner/Governance
Health Provider
Alliance
Lewisham Public
Health/Adults Mental
Health
Commissioning
Team/Adults Mental
Health Provider
Alliance

13

Timescale

September
2019

Progress

interface between adults and children’s’
services.
The Hub has already been established
but work to focus on reducing stigma in
BAME communities is to be developed.

RAG

Page 27

Agenda Item 4

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Report Title

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Update

Contributors

Director of Public Health, London Borough Item No.
of Lewisham
Part 1
Date:
14 November 2019

Class

4

1.

Purpose

1.1

To request approval for the completed Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA) Topic Assessment refresh of the Falls JSNA as part
of the agreed process at the July 2017 Health and Wellbeing Board.

2.

Recommendation/s

2.1

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to
approve the refreshed Falls JSNAs.

3.

Policy Context

3.1

The production of a JSNA became a statutory duty on PCTs and upper
tier local authorities in 2007. The Health and Social Care Act 2012
placed a new statutory obligation on Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs), the Local Authority and NHS England to jointly produce and to
commission with regard to the JSNA. The Act placed an additional duty
on the Local Authority and CCGs to develop a joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy for meeting the needs identified in the local JSNA.

3.2

The objective of a JSNA is to provide access to a profile of Lewisham's
population, including demographic, social and environmental
information. It also provides access to in-depth needs assessments
which address specific gaps in knowledge or identify issues associated
with particular populations/services. These in-depth assessments vary
in scope from a focus on a condition, geographical area, or a segment
of the population, to a combination of these. The overall aim of each
needs assessment is to translate robust qualitative and quantitative data
analysis into key messages for commissioners, service providers and
partners.

3.3

The most recent version of the JSNA can be found here:
www.lewishamjsna.org.uk.

3.4

The priorities of The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-2023 were
informed by the JSNA.

Page1 28

4.

Background

4.1

To undertake its responsibilities the Board needs to be periodically
updated on the local population and its health needs. Individual JSNA
topics provide in-depth analysis and recommendations for that specific
service/population group.

5.

JSNA Steering Group

5.1.1 The JSNA Steering Group is responsible for topic prioritisation, review
and approval of completed assessments to recommend to the Health
and Wellbeing Board. The group is now fully established and has been
meeting since November 2017. It has representation from Public Health,
Lewisham CCG, Lewisham and Greenwich Trust, Voluntary Action
Lewisham, a representative of the local community organisations,
Children and Young People’s Commissioning, Health Watch and the
Local Medical Committee. The group is chaired by the Director of Public
Health.
5.2

Falls JSNA Refresh

5.2.1 In the UK 30% of people aged 65 plus and 50% of people aged 80 plus
will fall at least once a year. Nationally there are 700,000 A&E
attendances following an older person falling. The associated mortality
and morbidity from a fall is high. This includes psychological and
physiological stress as well as physical injury, threatening functional
independence and resulting in reduced health related quality of life.
In Lewisham, in 2017, 6% of ambulance service calls were to people
over 65 who had fallen and 73% of these cases were taken to hospital.
There were 160 hip fractures in 2017-18, costing Lewisham Borough
just over £1 million.
5.2.2 This JSNA Topic Assessment was undertaken to provide an overview
of the epidemiology of falls in Lewisham and nationally and to identify
gaps in current service and make recommendations for local planning
and strategy formulation.
5.2.3 Since the original Falls JSNA, the Lewisham Falls service has been
established. Details of this and other current services are detailed in
the JSNA.
5.2.4 The draft document is available as Appendix A.
5.3

Further JSNA work for 2019/20

5.3.1 As reported at the July 2019 meeting of the Health and Wellbeing
Board, topic assessments on CYP Self-harm, the LGBT+ Population
and Transition from Childhood to Adulthood are being produced this
financial year.

Page
2 29

6.

Financial implications

6.1

There are no specific financial implications. However the financial
implications of any recommendations arising from the assessments will
be considered either during or once the assessments are completed as
appropriate.

7.

Legal implications

7.1

The requirement to produce a JSNA is set out above.

7.2

Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and
Social Care Act 2012, Health and Wellbeing Boards are under a duty to
encourage integrated working between the persons who arrange for
health and social care services in their area.

8.

Crime and Disorder Implications

8.1

There are no Crime and Disorder Implications from this report.

9.

Equalities Implications

9.1

JSNAs are a continuous process of strategic assessment and planning,
with a core aim to develop local evidence, based priorities for
commissioning which will improve health and reduce inequalities.
Equalities Implications have been highlighted throughout the body of the
appendixes reports.

10.

Environmental Implications

10.1

There are no Environmental Implications from this report.

11.

Conclusion

11.1

The new JSNA process continues to progress and aims to become
embedded in strategic planning in future years.

If you have any difficulty in opening the links above or those within the body of
the report, please contact Stewart Weaver-Snellgrove (Stewart.WeaverSnellgrove@lewisham.gov.uk; 020 8314 9308), who will assist.
If there are any queries on this report please contact Patricia Duffy, Public
Health, Lewisham Council, on 0208 314 7990, or by email at:
patricia.duffy@lewisham.gov.uk

Page3 30

Falls
November 2019

Public Health
London Borough of Lewisham

Page 31

Contents
Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 3
Facts and Figures ........................................................................................................... 3
What are the key inequalities? ........................................................................................ 8
Targets and Performance ................................................................................................ 9
National and Local Strategies ........................................................................................ 13
What works? ................................................................................................................. 16
Current activities and services in Lewisham .................................................................. 18
What is this telling us?................................................................................................... 23
What should we be doing next?..................................................................................... 24
References .................................................................................................................... 25

Page 32

Introduction
A fall is an unexpected event in which a person comes to rest on the ground, floor or a
lower level. There are over 400 possible risk factors for falling, including age, muscle
weakness, drug therapy, balance deficit, cognitive impairment, the environment, visual
impairment and depression1.
In the UK 30% of people older than 65 and 50% of people older than 80 will fall at least
once a year2. Each year over 700,000 older people in the UK attend hospital Accident &
Emergency departments following a fall3, and many more attend Minor Injury Units or
call for ambulance assistance. Approximately 10% of the UK ambulance service calls
are to people over 65 who have fallen and about 60% of these cases are taken to
hospital.
The associated mortality and morbidity from a fall is high. This includes psychological
and physiological stress as well as physical injury, threatening functional independence
and resulting in reduced health related quality of life.
Purpose of the Needs Assessment:
 To provide an overview of the epidemiology of falls in Lewisham and nationally.
 To review the evidence and recommendations for effective management of falls
and quality care services.
 To identify current service provision.
 To identify gaps in current service and make recommendations for local planning
and strategy formulation
This is a refresh of the 2013 needs assessment and provides an update of the previous
findings.

What do we know?
Facts and Figures
1. Lewisham has a population of 303,500 with 28,500 residents aged 65+. Thus the

proportion of the population aged over 65 years is 9.4%, compared to the England
average of 18.2%. This is expected to rise to 10.2% by 20254.
2. Within the borough in 2018 there was a 15% reduction in the number of people

aged over 65 who presented to the London Ambulance Service with a fall, 2342
compared to 2739 the previous year5.
3. In 2017 6% of the Lewisham ambulance service calls were to people over 65 who

had fallen and 73% of these cases were taken to hospital6.

Page 33

4. There were also 160 hip fractures in 2017-18, costing Lewisham Borough

approximately just over £1 million. Hip fractures for those aged over 80 were
lower than the national level at a rate of 1,458 per 100,000 compared to the
England rate of 1,539 per 100,0007.
Figures 1-3 below show recent trends for admissions to hospital following a fall in the
population aged 65+. Within Lewisham over a two year period the number of admissions
fluctuated month by month, reaching a peak of 103 in June 2018.
Figure 1. Graph to show the admissions attributed to falls in persons in Lewisham 20162018

120

Number of Lewisham CCG emergency admissions attributed
to falls in persons aged 65+. 2016/18

100
80
60
40
20

Oct-16
Nov-16
Dec-16
Jan-17
Feb-17
Mar-17
Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18

0

Secondary User Service (SUS) via CCG

Page 34

Figure 2. Graph to show admissions attributed to falls 2017/18 compared locally and
nationally.

Lewisham is performing mid-table compared to similar local authorities.
Figure 3. Graph to show the rates of falls in Lewisham between 2010 and 2018.

The general trend for falls admissions is stable.

Page 35

One of the likely outcomes of a fall in the elderly is a fragility fracture. This occurs when
a person falls from standing height or less to the floor or other lower surface and suffers
a fracture, the most common of which are wrist, spine, hip, humerus and pelvis8. Falls
and resultant fractures in people aged 65 or over account for over 4 million bed days
each year in England alone and are the leading cause of accidental mortality in older
people9.
The most serious fragility fracture is a fractured neck of femur, which affects
approximately 60,000 people per year in the UK, and costs the NHS around £2 billion
per year and results in up to 14,000 deaths10. Approximately 50% of older people who
fracture their hip are never functional walkers again and 20% will die within six months. A
further 20% previously living independently will end up in a care home11.
Approximately half of all hip fractures follow a previous fragility fracture. By identifying
patients in a consistent, systematic way, it is estimated that up to 25% of hip fractures
(about 20,000 a year) could be prevented. When accounting for the national
demographic projections for 2025, the number of hip fractures are projected to rise to
682,000.
Figure 4. Fractured neck of femur rates 2017 to 2018 compared locally and nationally.

Page 36

Figure 5. Graph to show the rates of fractured neck of femur in Lewisham between 2010
and 2018.

Annual trends in hospital admissions for fractured
neck of femur in persons 65+. 2010-2018
Directly age-sex standardised rate/100,000 population
(with 95% confidence intervals)

700

600
500
400

England

300

London

200

Lewisham

100

2017-18

2016-17

2015-16

2014-15

2013-14

2012-13

2011-12

2010-11

0

Source: www.phoutcomes.info
As shown in Figures 4 and %, in 2017/18 Lewisham's rate of fractured neck of femurs
was 558 per 100,000, which was higher than London average (515 per 100,000) and
lower than England overall (578 per 100,000).
Between 2013 and 2015 the average mortality in Lewisham from accidental falls for
people age over 65 was 50.40 per 100,000 in the population, lower than the regional
average of 52.57 12.
Falls also result in loss of confidence, continued fear of falling, activity restriction,
reduced functional ability, loss of independence, social isolation and thus increased
dependency on carers and services. Falls prevention is therefore an important Public
Health issue, as it will save lives, decrease disability, improve quality of life and reduce
hospital and social care costs.

Page 37

What are the key inequalities?
There have been very few studies looking into whether rates of falling and admission for
hip fractures are related to socioeconomic factors. In one study, based in Nottingham,
looking at over 40,000 patients admitted to hospital in Nottingham following a fall
seemed to show some evidence of an association at between hospital admissions for
falls and socio-economic deprivation, with higher rates in deprived areas. However, no
such association has been found for hip fracture13.
Figure 6. Graph to show the admission rates via Lewisham A&E of over 65 year olds
with a fall in 2017 separated by Lewisham wards.

This graph shows that the lowest rate of falls admissions is from the Brockley ward, with
the highest rate of admissions from Grove Park. The most deprived areas of Lewisham,
according to the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 are Evelyn, New Cross, Downham,
Whitefoot and Bellingham. This suggests that there is no link between deprivation and
the rate of falls admissions, as the most deprived wards are spread throughout the
graph, and not concentrated at the higher rates of falls admissions end.
There are even fewer studies looking at the effect of ethnicity on falls, and there is
currently no real evidence to suggest there is any relationship between the two.
However, it is well established that people with an Afro-Caribbean background have a far
higher bone mass density than Caucasians; up to 29% higher, meaning that it is less
likely that a person of Afro-Caribbean ethnicity will sustain fractures following a fall 14.
This is of importance in Lewisham, as over a third of Lewisham’s population is from
black and minority ethnic communities.

Page 38

Poor housing is often overlooked as a factor contributing to accidents. The English
Housing Survey Bulletin15 presents key findings from housing reports, and indicates
housing quality across England. The November 2017 bulletin stated that 11% of the
housing stock had some form of Category 1 hazard. The majority of these hazards are
those that particularly affect older people, such as damp and excess cold. They also
include risk of falls on stairs, floors or in the bathroom. While the private rented sector
had the highest proportion of homes with a Category 1 hazard, there was a notable
decrease in the proportion of stock with such hazards, from 31% in 2008 to 14% in 2017.
This is likely the result of newer homes entering the private rented stock, the installation
of energy efficiency measures and improvements in standards due to local enforcement.
The single largest risk factor for falls is age. However other factor may increase the risk
of falls such as use of alcohol or combinations of prescription drugs.

Targets and Performance
Bisphosphonates that contain nitrogen (such as alendronate, risedronate, ibandronate,
and zoledronic acid) have the most potent antiresorptive properties and are the most
commonly used drugs in the treatment of osteoporosis. They inhibit bone resorption by
inducing apoptosis of osteoclasts, thus preventing age related bone loss and
deterioration of bone microarchitecture. The graph below shows that since 2015, the
prescribing of medications for the secondary prevention of fragility fractures has
decreased. This may be due to long term users of bisphosphonates taking a ‘drug
holiday’ due to adverse effects of long term use. Additionally patients may be deterred
from taking medication due to fear of adverse side effects. Often side effects information
on the medications is misinterpreted or miscommunicated so what is essentially a minor
risk is seen as a high risk. Even if a patient refuses medication periodic monitoring to
reassess fracture risk and treatment strategies is necessary, along with further
discussion of the balance of benefits and risks of treatment16 The reduction in medication
does not directly relate to an increase in the number of falls, any increase is more likely
to be attributed to multifactoral reasons.

Page 39

Figures 7-12 Graphs to show the decrease in prescribing of medications used in the
secondary prevention
Figure 7 – Osteoporosis Prescribing – Lewisham CCG

Figure 8 - Alendronic Acid Prescriptions

5,000
4,500
4,000
3,500
3,000
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
0
Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep
14 14 14 15 15 15 15 16 16 16 16 17 17 17 17 18 18 18

Page 40

Figure 9 – Etidronate Prescriptions

1.2
1
0.8
0.6
0.4
0.2
0
Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep
14 14 14 15 15 15 15 16 16 16 16 17 17 17 17 18 18 18
No longer marketed in the UK.

Figure 10 – Risedronate Prescriptions
600
500
400
300
200
100
0
Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep
14 14 14 15 15 15 15 16 16 16 16 17 17 17 17 18 18 18

Page 41

Figure 11 – Raloxifene Prescriptions

70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0
Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep
14 14 14 15 15 15 15 16 16 16 16 17 17 17 17 18 18 18

Figure 12 – Strontium Prescriptions
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0
Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul - Oct - Jan - Apr - Jul Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep
14 14 14 15 15 15 15 16 16 16 16 17 17 17 17 18 18 18
No longer marketed in the UK.

Page 42

National and Local Strategies
There are several policies and guidelines, which set out measures to reduce the number
and impact of falls in older people.
In 2010 both organisational and clinical national audits were conducted by the Clinical
Effectiveness and Evaluation Unit (CEEU) of the Royal College of Physicians of Services
for Falls and Bone health of older people17. Information on nearly 10,000 patients came
from all NHS Acute Trusts, or equivalent, in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, as
well as Primary Care Organisations, Mental Health Trusts, and a sample of care homes.
The report Falling Standards, Broken Promises made these key recommendations:
 Local NHS services should commission a fracture liaison service (FLS) in line with
best evidence for fracture prevention.
 Health and local authority commissioners should ensure adequate local provision of
therapeutic exercise programmes for falls prevention.
 Local NHS services should ensure that there is adequate provision of falls clinics, or
similar, particularly for those older people who have fallen and fractured or who are
at risk of fracture.
 Emergency departments and minor injury units should introduce routine screening
for falls risk and osteoporosis for all older people presenting with falls and fractures.
 Local health commissioners should ensure that care home residents receive regular
medication reviews, including treatment of osteoporosis, and, where appropriate,
have access to therapeutic exercise for falls prevention.
 Acute hospitals should review and improve their procedures for admission and care
of hip fracture patients, with particular regard to pain relief, pressure sore prevention
and intravenous fluids.
In 2011, the Older people's experience of therapeutic exercise as part of a falls
prevention service was conducted by the CEEU. It summarises results from a postal
questionnaire which asked about older people’s experiences of therapeutic exercise,
and asked staff about exercise provision in NHS trusts around England, Wales and
Northern Ireland. The main findings were:
 Health officials need to commission a local, integrated exercise continuum across
health and local authorities/voluntary sector to ensure long term provision of
evidence-based exercise programmes for reducing falls run by appropriately
qualified staff.
 The quality of training and delivery of exercise programmes for reducing falls
needs to be monitored locally and nationally against the evidence base for
delivering effective exercise programmes to reduce falls.
The aim of the 2013 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE): Clinical
Guideline 161- The Assessment and Prevention of Falls in Older People18 was to

Page 43

formulate evidence-based clinical practice relating to the assessment of older people
and the prevention of falls. Key priorities for implementation include:
1. Case/risk identification
2. Multi-factorial falls risk assessment
3. Multi-factorial interventions
In 2013 NICE updated guidance on secondary prevention of osteoporotic fragility
fractures in postmenopausal women19 who have osteoporosis and have sustained a
clinically apparent osteoporotic fragility fracture. It recommends the use of alendronate,
raloxifene and teriparatide for the secondary prevention of osteoporotic fragility fractures
in postmenopausal women. Guidance on strontium ranelate and etidronate was
removed because these drugs are no longer marketed in the UK.
The National Falls Prevention Coordination Group (NFPCG) is made up of
organisations involved in the prevention of falls, care for falls-related injuries and the
promotion of healthy ageing. It was formed with the aim of coordinating and supporting
falls prevention activity in England.
At the first NFPCG meeting in July 2016, it was agreed that the range of different
professions and providers carrying out falls and fracture prevention activities, and the
different ways of resourcing these, created the need for a consensus on ways to support
and encourage ‘whole-system’ local commissioning.
Subsequently in 2017, member organisations of the NFPCG, along with Public Health
England (PHE), produced a falls and fracture consensus statement and resource pack20
with the aims of reducing falls and fracture risk and improving management of fracture,
including secondary prevention.
Leading on from this, NHS RightCare, in collaboration with PHE and the NOS,
developed a Falls and Fragility Fractures Pathway which defines three priorities for
optimisation.
NHS Right Care Pathway - Falls and Fragility Fractures 2017
The pathway provides a national case for change and a set of resources to support
Local Health Economies to concentrate their improvement efforts where there is greatest
opportunity to address variation and improve population health. It states that:
Commissioners responsible for Falls and Fragility Fractures for their population should:
 focus on the three priorities for optimisation
o Falls prevention
o Detecting and Managing Osteoporosis
o Optimal support after a fragility fracture
 work across the system to ensure that schemes to deliver the higher value
interventions are in place

Page 44



o Targeted case-finding for osteoporosis, frailty and falls risk
o Strength and balance training for those at low to moderate risk of falls
o Multi-factorial intervention for those at higher risk of falls
o Fracture liaison service for those who have had a fragility fracture,
Use the Falls Prevention National Consensus Statement and Resource Pack,
especially the implementation checklist

2018 NICE impact report on falls and fragility fractures
The report focused on what is known about the uptake and impact of recommendations
linked to the above Falls and Fragility Fractures Pathway 3 main priorities.
NICE first published guidance on assessing the risk of fragility fractures in 2012. In 2013
it published guidance on falls in older people, and in 2015 we went on to issue a quality
standard on this topic. Since their publication, monthly survey data revealed a reduction
in the proportion of people experiencing a fall while in care and an increase in the
recognition of the importance of frailty.
The data also found that the proportion of trusts using fall risk prediction tools has
reduced since NICE issued a recommendation that they should not be used in hospitals.
These tools have not been shown to accurately predict the risk of falling. Instead, all
patients over 65, and those aged 50 to 64 who may have a relevant underlying
condition, should be considered as being at risk. They should be offered a multifactorial
risk assessment taking account of things like any history of falls, medication they are on
and visual impairment. These assessments now take place in Lewisham, however it is
difficult to demonstrate/correlate any referral for intervention with a reduction in falls.
Identification and management of patients with frailty
From 1 July 2017, the General Medical Services (GMS) contract requires GP practices
in England to routinely identify moderate and severe frailty in patients aged 65 years and
over. Data collected will include the number of patients with severe frailty who are
recorded as having had a fall in the preceding 12 months. This is now happening in
Lewisham, patients are assessed at a multi-disciplinary team meeting and referred to
services when appropriate to prevent escalation of needs.
The guidance states that:
If the patient has reported a fall, clinically appropriate intervention is offered, such
as referrals to a falls clinic, which practices would routinely record. NHS England
will use this information to understand the nature of the interventions made and
the prevalence of frailty by degree among practice populations and nationally.
This information will be used to identify patient and commissioning need to
support practices in the management of frailty. The routine identification of those
most vulnerable of falling will allow General Practitioners to target those patients
who are most likely to benefit from interventions.

Page 45

EU Falls Festival
The European Falls Festival annually brings together leading academics, researchers,
health care practitioners, clinicians, industry representatives and key stakeholders from
across the globe to celebrate best practice research and innovation in the
multidisciplinary study and implementation of falls prevention in older people.

NHS Long Term Plan 2019 - Falls
The plan aims to “work on falls and fracture prevention”, recognizing that “a 50%
improvement in the delivery of evidence-based care could deliver £100 million in savings”.
It identifies that:
Extending independence as we age requires a targeted and personalised approach,
enabled by digital health records and shared health management tools. Primary
care networks will from 2020/21 assess their local population by risk of
unwarranted health outcomes and, working with local community services,
make support available to people where it is most needed. GPs are already
using the Electronic Frailty Index to routinely identify people living with severe frailty.
Using a proactive population health approach focused on moderate frailty will also
enable earlier detection and intervention to treat undiagnosed disorders, such as
heart failure. Based on their individual needs and choices, people identified as
having the greatest risks and needs will be offered targeted support for both their
physical and mental health needs, which will include musculoskeletal conditions,
cardiovascular disease, dementia and frailty.
Integrated primary and community teams will work with people to maintain their
independence: for example, 30% of people aged 65 and over, and 50% of those
aged 80 and over, are likely to fall at least once a year21. Falls prevention schemes,
including exercise classes and strength and balance training, can significantly reduce
the likelihood of falls and are cost effective in reducing admissions to hospital22.

What works?
Over recent years systematic reviews of falls intervention studies have established that
prevention interventions can reduce falls. These preventions strategies can be split into
three main groups;
 Exercise based interventions,
 Home modification interventions
 Multifaceted interventions23,24,25.

Page 46

Intervention

Reduction in risk of falling

Community based group exercise sessions (additional
home based content)26

40%

Home based Otago exercise program27, 28
(Physiotherapist visits and independent practice
encouraged)

35%

Community based group Tai Chi (Independent practice
encouraged)29,30

55%

Exercise based interventions
During the visits, the physiotherapist/nurse prescribes a set of in-home exercises
(selected at appropriate and increasing levels of difficulty) and a walking plan. The
exercises include strengthening exercises for lower leg muscle groups using ankle cuff
weights, balance and stability exercises such as standing with one foot in front of the
other and walking on the toes and active range of motion exercises such as neck
rotation and hip and knee extensions. The exercises take about 30 minutes and
participants are encouraged to complete the exercises three times a week and to walk
outside the home at least twice a week. This is then continued on an ongoing basis.
Home modification interventions
The home modification interventions (now running in Lewisham), is proven to have a
benefit, are home visits by an occupational therapist and a falls home intervention team
(HIT). Home visits by an occupational therapist who identified environmental hazards
and unsafe behaviours, and recommended home modifications and behaviour changes,
reduced fall rates by one-third among men and women who had experienced one or
more falls in the previous year31. The occupational therapist should visit each
participant’s home and conduct an assessment to identify environmental hazards such
as slippery floors, poor lighting, and rugs with curled edges, and discuss with the
participant how to correct these hazards. Based on standard occupational therapy
principles, the therapist can also assess each participant’s abilities and behaviours, and
how each functions in his or her home environment32. Specific unsafe behaviours can be
identified such as wearing loose shoes, leaving clutter in high-traffic areas, and using
furniture to reach high places33.
The home intervention team also provides home visits to identify environmental hazards
that can increase the risk of falling, provide advice about possible changes, offer
assistance with home modifications, and provide training in using safety devices and
mobility aids. This has shown to reduce the fall rate by 31 percent34. It is shown to be
most effective among those who have experienced two or more falls in the previous
year; the fall rate for these participants can be reduced by 37 percent. The first home

Page 47

visit should be conducted while a patient is still hospitalized following a fall. Two team
members, an occupational therapist with either a nurse or a physiotherapist, depending
on patient’s anticipated needs, conduct a home assessment. They can identify home
hazards and determine what safety equipment a patient may need. During two to three
subsequent home visits, an occupational therapist or nurse can meet with the patient to
discuss home hazards, recommend home modifications, facilitate necessary
modifications and teach patients how to use safety devices and mobility aids when
necessary35.
Multifaceted interventions
This approach includes both exercise and home modification interventions.
Studies have also shown that educating patients on how to prevent falls, along with
structured exercise programmes and home hazard interventions, have the best results.
By educating patients and teaching them fall prevention strategies, falls rate can be
reduced by up to two thirds36 37.

Current activities and services in Lewisham
The falls service at Lewisham Hospital has expanded over the last few years with the
introduction of the Falls and Fracture Liaison Service and the new DEXA scanner.
Consultant led hospital based falls clinics
The falls clinics at Lewisham Hospital are for those who have specific medical and
clinical requirements which may attribute to their risk of falling. Patients can be referred
to the falls clinic from health professionals; general practitioners, emergency department
and the in-patient wards.
Patients referred to the falls clinic are seen by a multidisciplinary team. In addition to the
frailty, nutrition, bone health assessments and abbreviated mental test they have a
comprehensive geriatric assessment completed by a consultant physician. As there is no
occupational therapist in the falls clinic patients can be referred to either the Community
Falls Team or to Lewisham Adult Therapy Team.
Patients have an initial follow up appointment in the falls clinic to follow up any
investigations that may be requested including ECG, blood test, 24 hour ECG and CT
head scan. Any additional follow up appointments that may be needed are usually in the
consultants’ general medical clinic.
An audit was undertaken in line with the NICE Falls Guidelines and in response to the
Falls and Fracture consensus statement on those attending the Stable and Steady
classes. In conclusion the audit has shown that a programme of targeted strength and
balance exercises has improved outcome measures which impact on falls risk in those
aged over 65 years. This includes physical improvements demonstrated by the TUAG
(Timed Up and Go) and 6 meter walk and psychological improvements relating to
improved confidence and reduced fear of falling (short FES-I). Although the EQ-VAS
(subjective quality of life measure) showed a small overall reduction it can be suggested
that this measure does not accurately reflect changes in falls risk factor reduction since it

Page 48

is likely to be affected by non falls factors such as changes in health status and life
events as well as how the person feels on that particular day.
The Hospital Falls group (Balance Group) no longer runs as the majority of patients go to
the Community Falls Service Stable and Steady classes. One to one treatment sessions
are offered to elderly fallers.
Community Falls Service
The Community Falls Service was established clinically in February 2017 following
significant preparatory work by a group of stakeholders from Health, Social Care and the
third sector. The service is therapist led and consists of physiotherapists, occupational
therapists and therapy assistant practitioners/postural stability instructors. The service
supports the provision of an integrated falls pathway for older people (over 65) to reduce
the incidence of falls and falls related injuries in Lewisham residents and/or those with a
Lewisham GP. A joint referral system for general practitioners enables the service to
triage all referrals appropriately. The total number of referrals from April 2018 to March
2019 was 1,336. The team have seen a significant increase in referrals from 696 in
2017/18. This reflects increased awareness of the service and the creation of a new
referral route with the London Ambulance Service. A service review evidencing impact is
taking place as of Autumn 2019.
Referrals are mainly from Accident and Emergency or General Practitioners, and the
clinic aims to see individuals with:
1. unexplained falls
2. two falls in six months
3. balance difficulties
4. a fear of falling
5. syncope (fainting) aged 65 or over
Patients are assessed by all members of the team as to the underlying reason for their
falls and to assess their bone health. Appropriate investigations can then be arranged,
and they may be referred on if necessary. Patients with syncope can be referred onto
specialist investigations for their syncopal episodes, and there is also access to ECG
and 24 hour ECG if cardiac investigations are deemed necessary.
Patients can be referred to the community occupational therapists who will assess the
patient and decide whether the home environment needs to be assessed, and a home
visit will normally then be done within a week. They can also be referred to additional
community services such as social services or district nurses for further help at home.
Patients are assessed for their gait and balance by the physiotherapists and can be
referred onto a group or for individual physiotherapy if required.
Patients will be assessed for their individual falls risk and interventions and advice will be
given for each as necessary. The recommendations for any treatment according to
national guidelines will be conveyed to the General Practitioner. Patients will also
receive information on healthy lifestyles and healthy ageing.

Page 49

The service model (displayed below) is based on the evidence set out in the Falls and
Fracture Consensus Statement38
Community Falls Service Model
The service model is split into two arms. The reactive arm takes referrals in response to
need / incident much as per usual systems in community health care. The proactive arm
encourages ‘case finding’ of patients whom are known to be at risk of falls – with a view to
establishing early intervention to focus on prevention. To support the evidence base and
‘case find’ patients the service has established direct referral routes with the Safe and
Independent Living (SAIL) project and with Linkline.
The service has a single point of access. All referrals (unless part of an agreed and predetermined direct referral pathway) are accepted verbally via the Falls Helpline. This helpline
is staffed by clinicians and also provides advice and onward signposting. The service has
recently developed a general practitioner referral form which will enable general practitioners
to refer via EMIS.
Referrals received are clinically triaged. All new patients receive a Multifactorial Falls
Assessment and Home Hazard Assessment. In addition to this the service currently
provides the following interventions:
Physiotherapy
Physiotherapy assessment and intervention for falls related to complex physical and
neurological problems and vestibular disorders as well as gait analysis and re-education,
strengthening and balance programmes and assessment for appropriate walking aids.
Occupational Therapy
Occupational Therapy assessment and intervention for falls related to activities of daily
living, visual impairment, cognitive impairment and environmental issues.
Assistant Led home exercise programmes based around the Otago/Falls Management
Exercise (FaME)
Otago is a lower limb strength, balance and walking programme of pre-set exercises with
progression guidance. FaMe is a tailored and progressive programme of strength and
balance which also includes upper limb strength exercises to support backward chaining
approaches to retrain getting on and off the floor. Public Health England and the Falls and
Fractures Consensus Statement 2017 Resource Pack recommends Otago and FaME as
cost effective evidence based programmes to reduce falls. These are home based exercise
programmes which are tailored to the individual and which run for up to 6 months.
Stable and Steady classes
Stable and Steady classes are run by Qualified Postural Stability Instructors who have been
trained in FaME. As well as having robust evidence in both primary and secondary falls
prevention, it has also been shown to increase physical habitual activity in older people as
well as improving confidence, activity and independence. In line with the evidence which
shows that 50 hours exercise is required in order to be clinically effective, the classes run for
25 weeks (1 hour per week) plus 1 hour per week exercise ‘homework’

Page 50

Of those accessing the service over half (54%) are aged between 80 and 89 years old,
with the majority of assessments (85%) taking place within the clients’ home.
Falls awareness days
Lewisham Healthcare NHS Trust has a Falls Awareness Day once a year, with the aim
of highlighting the importance of falls and falls prevention. There are stalls at the
hospital run by nurses, physiotherapists and occupational therapists, and visitors are
able to get their blood pressure checked and find out about how to access Falls’ and
exercise services within the borough.
Age UK Falls Campaign and handyman services
Age UK have launched the 'Stop Falling: Start Saving Lives and Money' campaign
calling for improved access to falls prevention services and special exercise
programmes.
The Stop Falling: Start Saving Lives and Money campaign calls for:
1. Falls prevention services to be a priority across the country. They want lots of
different groups, including the Department of Health, general practitioners,
primary care trusts and local authorities to work together to make sure that,
wherever we live, when patients fall, they receive all the support needed to
prevent a further fall in the future.
2. Evidence-based exercise programmes that have been proven to work to be
made available. It is known that these exercise programmes can reduce the
risk of falls by up to 50%. All older people who are at risk of falling should be
encouraged and supported to take part.
3. General practitioners and other health services staff should make sure that
those who are at risk get the help they need.
Age UK also operates a handy man service called HandyVan. They can help with small
repairs such as putting up curtain rails, shelves and pictures, safety measures including
fitting smoke alarms, carbon monoxide detectors and grab rails, home security such as
door and window locks, door chains and door viewers and energy efficiency checks
including installing draught excluders, radiator heat reflectors and energy efficient
lightbulbs. Many of these measures, such as the small repairs and safety measures can
help prevent falls in the home.
Community exercise programmes
There are numerous community based exercise groups and falls groups based in
Lewisham. These are normally run on a voluntary basis and require funding to keep
going. They tend to be for more able bodied people, and those that can organize their
own transport.

Page 51

London Ambulance Service Direct Referral Pathway
London Ambulance Service have an agreed pathway with Community Rapid Response
Team for referrals from patients who have fallen. Between 1 October 2018 and 31 March
2019, 166 patients were referred to the CFS by the LAS. Of these 42 patients (25.30%)
were already known to the service. An audit of the data from the first 6 months has
shown that it is possible to case-find older people who have fallen and who are not
currently known to the local falls service. The audit also provides a means of establishing
the most frequent fallers in Lewisham who can then be discussed at neighbourhood
MDT meetings. Using the Return in Investment Tool (ROI Tool) (Public Health England,
2018) it can be estimated that the intervention provided to those referred by the LAS
prevented 50 falls (compared to usual care) and 3 admissions to hospital including one
admission due to hip fracture.
Telecare/Linkline
Lewisham established Linkline in 1987 to help vulnerable people in their own homes,
people living in assisted housing and also in private residences. There are now 4,500
users throughout Lewisham, the majority of whom are over 80 years old. It operates 24
hours, 365 days a year offering reassurance and practical advice in emergency
situations.
As well as the pendant alarms, and alarms that go on watches, they can provide a
variety of assistive technologies that may benefit fallers. These include sensor mats,
automatic lights and fall detectors. These can then be linked to carer-pagers to alert a
carer if a service user has had a fall or has got up from bed and not returned after a
certain period of time.
The pendant alarms are linked to a central hub, and when the alarm is pressed the
service user is called and the situation is assessed. If the service user does not answer
the call, or they are distressed and require assistance a first responder will go out to
them, or an ambulance will be called.
The service currently receives referrals from general practitioners, social services,
hospitals, community nurses, and from individuals themselves or their families.
SLaM Falls pathway
The 4-step pathway for inpatients with mental health illness or dementia and specialist
care units was revised in 2018
1. On Admission – Assessing Risk
Patients are assessed within 4 hours of admission
2. Undertaking detailed assessment to inform a multi-disciplinary team (MDT) Care
Plan to minimize risk of person falling
Assessments by MDT professionals completed within 72 hours of admission and
documented
3. Creating a plan of care to minimize risks of falling

Page 52

All clinical outcomes from the fall’s assessment process form a “Falls Care Plan”
and copy given to patient
4. Care Plan - Review and Evaluation
Falls Risk are discussed at weekly MDT and documented in the Ward Round
notes
A similar community pathway exists which is carried out at clients’ home by an
occupational therapist, with an option to refer to the Community Falls team.

What is this telling us?
What are the key gaps in knowledge and/or services?
Currently documentation and reporting of falls that occur in residential homes and care
homes is as follows:







When a resident has a fall in a care home where no injury is sustained or a
minor injury (Skin Tear) then an incident/accident form is completed and
followed by review of falls risk assessment, falls/mobility care plan and
recorded in falls diary.
If a resident sustains serious injury (Fracture; Head Injury) and admitted to
hospital a Care Quality Commission notification is completed and sent.
Alongside completion of Duty of Candour and incident/accident form, review
of falls risk assessment, falls/mobility care plan and recorded in falls diary.
Some care homes send a copy of the incident/accident form for all falls to
resident’s Social Worker, however this is not universally done. Very few
patients are referred from these homes to the Falls Clinic by their general
practitioner, most self refer directly. Jointly agreed processes with care home
providers is preferred as it improves procedures for both parties.

Patients referred to the falls clinic get seen by a multidisciplinary team. However, there
is currently no occupational therapist that works at the clinic, and so patients are referred
to the community falls service. Most patients who require occupational therapy
assessment are assessed at home, which has the advantage of them being assessed in
their own environment.
The community falls groups are popular with patients but tend to be for the more abled
patients as they have to organise their own transport.
There are a variety of assistive technologies available to help in the prevention of falls,
and to aid in early intervention for fallers. These technologies are readily available, but
are not frequently prescribed or provided for those that may need it. Those that work
within Telecare and Linkline Assistive Technology Service feel that the major hurdle to
their work is lack of awareness amongst other healthcare professionals including general
practitioners and the Falls Service of the services that they can provide. They currently
run Telecare awareness training with social services and the occupational therapists at
Lewisham Hospital, but they would like to see this offered to other health professionals.

Page 53

What is coming on the horizon?
Due to increasing numbers in the The Community Falls Service Stable and Steady
classes a falls class at Lewisham hospital is planned to start in early 2020. It has also
been found that within the Stable and Steady classes there are clients that would benefit
as they have a higher level of dependency.

What should we be doing next?


















Provide support to residential care providers to ensure they keep falls registers,
record falls and are able to prompt general practitioners to refer to the falls
service. This could be done through an outreach function of the falls service or
through working with other professionals who already provide support to
residential care.
Present clear and accurate information for all aspects of the boroughs Falls
provision linking both community and hospital services. At present it is difficult for
referrers and patients to navigate the services effectively. The Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Falls rehabilitation website mentions that there is a hospital
Balance Group but no this longer runs and there is no signposting to other
services.
Continue to promote the local falls service to increase and maintain general
practitioners’ awareness of both the Quality Outcomes Framework requirements
and the benefits of referral.
Develop a closer relationship with the London Ambulance Service and Telecare
to record and pass on all those patients that fall but are not admitted to hospital
so that they can be followed up by the Fracture Liaison Coordinator.
Establish accessible exercise/falls groups for individuals who have completed a
formal falls group of fixed sessions but may require some ongoing or ‘top up’
support. This may be facilitated through exercise on referral schemes run by
general practitioners.
Improve awareness about the service that Telecare provides, and involve other
healthcare professionals, including general practitioners in the Telecare training
sessions.
Ensure that existing falls services can meet the needs of the ageing BME
population and that these individuals are being referred into services by their
GPs. Improve ethnic monitoring of all falls services in support of this.
Audit to be conducted on patients admitted to hospital for falls to determine
different types of fall and any associated conditions
Contact other areas who have implemented a Falls service to understand what
difference/impact has been made
Independent evaluation of the Falls service to be carried out and include
feedback gathered from service users

Original Publication date: 1 February 2013
Refreshed: 2019 by Jacqueline Francis, Public Health Intelligence Analyst

Page 54

References
1

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Osteoporosis: assessing the risk of
fragility fracture https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg146/chapter/introduction
2

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE (2013). Falls in older people:
assessing risk and prevention. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg161
3

Lewisham Community Falls Service Leaflet. Lewisham CCG
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/yourhealth/PublishingImages/Pages/Falls/Community%20Falls%20Leaflet.pdf
Lewisham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – A Picture of Lewisham
http://www.lewishamjsna.org.uk/a-profile-of-lewisham
4

5

Safestas data http://www.london.gov.uk/safestats

6

Safestas data http://www.london.gov.uk/safestats

7

Public Health Profiles
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/falls#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000007/ati/102/are/E
09000023
8

Public Health England. Falls and fracture consensus statement
https://www.england.nhs.uk/south/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2017/03/falls-fracture.pdf
9

Public Health England. Falls and fracture consensus statement
https://www.england.nhs.uk/south/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2017/03/falls-fracture.pdf
10

Department of Health (2001). National Service Framework for Older People.
Department of Health. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quality-standards-forcare-services-for-older-people
11

Public Health England. Falls and fracture consensus statement
https://www.england.nhs.uk/south/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2017/03/falls-fracture.pdf
12

Mortality from accidental falls https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/clinical-indicators/compendium-of-population-healthindicators/compendium-mortality/current/mortality-from-accidental-falls
13

Public Health England. Falls and fracture consensus statement
https://www.england.nhs.uk/south/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2017/03/falls-fracture.pdf
14

Mortality from accidental falls https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/clinical-indicators/compendium-of-population-healthindicators/compendium-mortality/current/mortality-from-accidental-falls
15

English Housing Survey 2017 to 2018: headline report
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-housing-survey-2017-to-2018headline-report

Page 55

16

Osteoporosis treatment gap comes at a high price
https://www.pharmaceutical-journal.com/opinion/insight/why-some-patients-arereluctant-to-take-osteoporosis-drugs/20202282.article
17

The National Audit of Falls and Bone Health
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/national-audit-falls-and-bone-health
18

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Falls in older people: assessing risk
and prevention https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg16
19

Raloxifene and teriparatide for the secondary prevention of osteoporotic fragility
fractures in postmenopausal women
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta161?https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta161
20

Falls and fractures: consensus statement and resources pack
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/falls-and-fractures-consensus-statement
21

Royal College of Nursing (2018) Falls Resources for nursing professionals on the
prevention, treatment and management of falls in older people. Available from:
https://www.rcn.org.uk/clinical-topics/older-people/falls
22

Public Health England (2018) A Return on Investment Tool for the Assessment of
Falls Prevention Programmes for Older People Living in the Community. Available from:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment
_data/file/679856/A_return_on_investment_tool_for_falls_prevention_programmes.pdf
23

Rubenstein LZ, Josephson KR, Trueblood PR, Loy S, Harker JO, Pietruszka FM,
Robbins, AS. Effects of a group exercise program on strength, mobility, and falls among
fall-prone elderly men. Journal of Gerontology: Medical Sciences. 2000
Jun;55A(6):M317-21.
24

Lord SR, Castell S, Corcoran J, Dayhew J, Matters B, Shan A, Williams P. The effect
of group exercise on physical functioning and falls in frail older people living in retirement
villages: A randomized, controlled trial. Journal of the American Geriatric Society. 2003
Dec;51(12):1685-92.
25

Skelton D, Todd C (2004). What are the main risk factors for falls amongst older
people and what are the most effective interventions to prevent these falls? How should
interventions to prevent falls be implemented? Health Evidence Network, World Health
Organisation Europe.
26

Barnett A, Smith B, Lord S, Williams M, Baumand A. Community-based group
exercise improves balance and reduces falls in at-risk older people: A randomized
controlled trial. Age and Ageing. 2003 Jul;32(4):407-14.
27

Campbell AJ, Robertson MC, La Grow SJ, Kerse NM, Sanderson GF, Jacobs RJ,
Sharp DM, Hale LA. Randomised controlled trial of prevention of falls in people aged
visual impairment: The VIP trial. BMJ. 2005 Oct 8;331(7520):817-20.
28

Tinetti ME, Baker DI, McAvay G, Claus EB, Garrett P, Gottschalk M, Koch ML, Trainor
K, Horwitz RI. A multifactorial intervention to reduce the risk of falling among elderly

Page 56

people living in the community. New England Journal of Medicine. 1994 Sept
29;331(13):821-7.
29

Wolf SL, Barnhart HX, Kutner NG, McNeely E, Coogler C, Xu T. Reducing frailty and
falls in older persons: An investigation of Tai Chi and computerized balance training.
Journal of the American Geriatric Society. 1996 May;44(5):489-97.
30

Li F, Harmer P, Fisher KJ, McAuley E, Chaumeton N, Eckstrom E, Wilson NL. Tai Chi
and fall reductions in older adults: A randomized controlled trial. Journal of Gerontology.
2005 Feb;60A(2):187-94.
31

Clemson L, Cumming RG, Kendig H, Swann M, Heard R, Taylor K. The effectiveness
of a community-based program for reducing the incidence of falls in the elderly: A
randomized trial. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2004 Sep;52(9):1487-94.
Cumming RG, Thomas M, Szonyi M, Salkeld G, O’Neill E, Westburg C, Frampton G.
Home visits by an occupational therapist for assessment and modification of
environmental hazards: A randomized trial of falls prevention. Journal of the American
Geriatric Society. 1999 Dec;47(12):1397-1402.
32

33

Nikolaus T, Bach M. Preventing falls in community-dwelling frail older people using a
home intervention team (HIT): Results from the Randomized Falls HIT Trial. Journal of
the American Geriatrics Society. 2003 Mar;51(3):300-5.
34

Hornbrook MC, Stevens VJ, Wingfield DJ, Hollis JF, Greenlick MR, Ory MG.
Preventing falls among community-dwelling older persons: Results from a randomized
trial. The Gerontologist. 1994 Feb;34(1):16-23.
35

Wagner EH, LaCroix AZ, Grothaus L, Leveille SG, Hecht J, Artz K, Odle K, Buchner
DM. Preventing disability and falls in older adults: A population-based randomized trial.
American Journal of Public Health. 1994 Nov;84(11):1800-6.
36

Day L, Fildes B, Gordon I, Fitzharris M, Flamer M, Lord S. Randomised factorial trial of
falls prevention among older people living in their own homes. British Medical Journal.
2002 Jul 20;325(7356):128-33.
37

Close J, Ellis M, Hooper R, Glucksman E, Jackson S, Swift C. Prevention of Falls in
the Elderly Trial (PROFET): A randomised controlled trial. Lancet.1999 Jan
9;353(9147):93-7.
38

Public Health England. Falls and fracture consensus statement
https://www.england.nhs.uk/south/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2017/03/falls-fracture.pdf

Page 57

Agenda Item 5
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Report Title

Better Care Fund 2019/20

Contributors

Whole System Model of Care Programme Lead

Item No.

Class

Part 1

14 November 2019

Strategic Context

Please see body of report

Date:

5

1.1

This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with an
overview of the Better Care Fund (BCF) plan for 2019/20 and asks the Board to
formally agree the plan. The plan was submitted to NHS England on 27
September 2019 but it is subject to formal approval by the Health and Wellbeing
Board.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to:




Formally approve the Better Care Fund Plan 2019/20.
Delegate future approval of the BCF/IBCF quarterly returns to the S75
Agreement Management Group.
Agree to receive the quarterly returns for information at the next available
Health and Wellbeing Board following submission.

3.

Strategic Context

3.1

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires Health and Wellbeing Boards to
encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services
in the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the
health and wellbeing of the area.

3.2

The Care Act 2014 amended the NHS Act 2006 to provide the legislative basis
for the Better Care Fund. It allows for the mandate to NHS England to include
specific requirements relating to the establishment and use of an integration
fund.

3.3

The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a joint health and social care integration fund
managed by Lewisham Council and Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group.
The strategic framework is set out in the national BCF policy framework and
planning guidance.

4.

BCF Plan 2019/20

4.1

On 18 July 2019, NHS England, Department of Health and Social Care and
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government published the Better
Care Fund Planning Requirements for 2019/20. The document sets out the
detailed requirements for Better Care Fund (BCF) plans following publication of
the 2019/20 Better Care Fund Policy Framework issued by Departments on 10
April 2019.

4.2

All Health and Wellbeing Boards in England must agree a plan for the use of
pooled funding to support integrated health and care services. Pooled funding

Page 58

includes the Disabled Facilities Grant which provides housing adaptations and
related support. To reduce the burden of planning, a single planning template
was issued, removing the requirement for a separate narrative plan. Plans for
use of the Winter Pressures Grant were also requested for the first time in the
2019/20 BCF plan to encourage more proactive, joint planning ahead of winter
and minimise seasonal pressures.
4.3

The national conditions of the BCF continue to set a minimum contribution to
support social care from the NHS, support the health and wellbeing of people
with care needs and reduce the need for more acute care.

4.4

As in 2017-19 the BCF plan has been developed by Lewisham Council and
Lewisham CCG. Activity supported through the BCF has been developed jointly
by commissioners and providers and agreed by the Managing Director of the
CCG and the Executive Director for Community Services for the Council. The
plan has been produced and is supported by CCG and LBL finance officers.

4.5

The BCF Plan 2019/20 covers one financial year and is an evolution of the
2017-19 plan. The 2019/20 plan continues to fund activity in the following
areas:
 Prevention and Early Action
 Community based care and the development of Neighbourhood Care
Networks
 Enhanced Care and Support to reduce avoidable admissions to hospital
and to facilitate timely discharge from hospital
 Estates and IMT

4.6

A list of activity funded by the BCF in 2019/20 can be found in the Expenditure
section (tab 6) of the BCF planning template.

5.

Funding Contributions

5.1

In 2019/20 the financial contribution to the BCF from the CCG is £22.055m. This
has increased from £20.915m in 2018/19 in accordance with the published CCG
allocations. The IBCF grant to Lewisham Council has been pooled with the BCF
and totals £13.134m in 2019/20. The Winter Pressures Grant totalling £1.368m
and the Disabled Facilities Grant totalling £1.339m, which are paid to the
Council, have also been pooled with the BCF in line with grant conditions. An
additional financial contribution from the Council of £774k to support
neighbourhood teams is also included in the pooled fund. The total BCF pooled
budget for 2019/20 is £38.671m.

5.2

The financial contributions to the BCF have been agreed by the CCG and
Council and agreed through the CCG’s and Council’s formal budget setting
processes.

6.

National Conditions

6.1

The BCF plan is required to demonstrate that the following national conditions
have been met:
 Plans to be jointly agreed and signed off by the Health and Wellbeing
Board;
 NHS contribution to adult social care is maintained in line with inflation;
 Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services; and
 Managing Transfers of Care

Page 59

6.2

In line with the Policy Framework the NHS contribution to adult social care has
been maintained in line with inflation. In 2019/20 £9.113m has been allocated
to ensure adult social care continues to be protected.

6.3

The BCF plan 2019/20 commits £11.276m to NHS commissioned out-of-hospital
services. Through the BCF, investment will be made in the following NHS
Commissioned out-of hospital services. These include:
 Primary Care
 Community Based Falls Team
 Community Mental Health Services including Home Treatment Team
and Care Home Intervention Team
 Medicines Management
 Enablement Services

7.

Planned Activity

7.1

The 2019/20 plan outlines targets and plans to deliver against the four national
metrics:
 Non elective admissions
 Delayed transfers of care
 Admissions to residential and care homes
 Effectiveness of reablement

7.2

Further information on specific targets for 2019/20 is set out in the Metrics section
(tab 8) of the BCF planning template.

7.3

As in previous years, Lewisham Health and Care Partners aim to achieve a
sustainable and accessible health and care system which supports people to
maintain and improve their physical and mental wellbeing, to live independently
and be able to access high quality care when they need it. The 2019/20 BCF
plan contributes to the achievement of the LHCP aim.

7.4

Further information on planned activity in 2019/20 is included in the Strategic
Narrative section (tab 4) of the BCF plan.

8.

Governance

8.1

The BCF arrangements are underpinned by pooled funding arrangements with
a section 75 agreement. A section 75 agreement is an agreement made under
section 75 of the National Health Services Act 2006 between a local authority
and an NHS body in England. It can include arrangements for pooling
resources and delegating certain NHS and local authority health related functions
to the other partner.

8.2

The Section 75 Agreement Management Group (Adults) oversaw the 2017-19
BCF plan and will also oversee the 2019/20 BCF plan and expenditure.

8.3

Further information on the governance arrangements is included in the Strategic
Narrative section (tab 4) of the BCF plan.

9.

Financial Implications

9.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report. M onitoring of the
activity supported by t he Better Care Funding continues to be undertaken by
the Section 75 Agreement Management Group (Adults).

Page 60

10.

Legal implications

10.1

As part of their statutory functions, members are required to encourage persons
who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in the area to work
in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing
of the area, and to encourage persons who arrange for the provision of healthrelated services in its area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board.

10.2

Where there is an integration of services and/or joint funding, then this is
dealt with under an agreement under Section 75 of t h e NHS Act 2006 which
sets out the governance arrangements for the delivery of services, and where
relevant any delegation of functions from one party to another and the respective
budget contributions of the local authority and the CCG in relation to the services.

11.

Crime and Disorder Implications

11.1

There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report or its
recommendations.

12.

Equalities Implications

12.1

Tackling inequalities in health is one of the overarching purposes of integration.
Each new or existing service funded by the BCF has regard to the need to reduce
inequalities in access to care and outcomes of care.
An equalities
assessment/analysis is undertaken as part of the development of any new
proposals to assess the impact of the new services on different communities and
groups.

13.

Environmental Implications

13.1

There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its
recommendations.

14.

Conclusion

14.1

This report provides an overview of the Better Care Fund 2019/20 plan and asks
members to formally approve the plan. The BCF plan is subject to a national
assurance process. Lewisham CCG and the Council expect to be notified of the
outcome of this process by December 2019.

14.2

If you have problems opening or printing any embedded links in this document,
please contact stewart.weaver-snellgrove@lewisham.gov.uk (Phone: 020
8314 9308).

14.3

If there are any queries on this report please contact sarah.wainer@nhs.net
(Phone: 020 3049 1880).

Page 61

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template
1. Guidance
Overview
Note on entering information into this template
Throughout the template, cells which are open for input have a yellow background and those that are pre-populated
have a grey background, as below:
Data needs inputting in the cell
Pre-populated cells
Note on viewing the sheets optimally
For a more optimal view each of the sheets and in particular the drop down lists clearly on screen, please change the
zoom level between 90% - 100%. Most drop downs are also available to view as lists within the relevant sheet or in the
The details of each sheet within the template are outlined below.
Checklist (click to go to Checklist, included in the Cover sheet)
1. This section helps identify the data fields that have not been completed. All fields that appear as incomplete should be
complete before sending to the Better Care Support Team.
2. It is sectioned out by sheet name and contains the description of the information required, cell reference for the
question and the 'checker' column which updates automatically as questions within each sheet are completed.
3. The checker column will appear 'Red' and contain the word 'No' if the information has not been completed. Clicking
on the corresponding 'Cell Reference' column will link to the incomplete cell for completion. Once completed the
checker column will change to 'Green' and contain the word 'Yes'
4. The 'sheet completed' cell will update when all 'checker' values for the sheet are green containing the word 'Yes'.
5. Once the checker column contains all cells marked 'Yes' the 'Incomplete Template' cell (below the title) will change to
6. Please ensure that all boxes on the checklist are green before submission.
2. Cover (click to go to sheet)
1. The cover sheet provides essential information on the area for which the template is being completed, contacts and
2. Question completion tracks the number of questions that have been completed; when all the questions in each
section of the template have been completed the cell will turn green. Only when all cells are green should the template
be sent to england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net
3. Please note that in line with fair processing of personal data we collect email addresses to communicate with key
individuals from the local areas for various purposes relating to the delivery of the BCF plans including plan
development, assurance, approval and provision of support.
We remove these addresses from the supplied templates when they are collated and delete them when they are no
longer needed.
4. Strategic Narrative (click to go to sheet)
This section of the template should set out the agreed approach locally to integration of health & social care. The
narratives should focus on updating existing plans, and changes since integration plans were set out until 2020 rather
than reiterating them and can be short. Word limits have been applied to each section and these are indicated on the
1. Approach to integrating care around the person. This should set out your approach to integrating health and social
care around the people, particularly those with long term health and care needs. This should highlight developments
2 i. Approach to integrating services at HWB level (including any arrangements at neighbourhood level where relevant).
This should set out the agreed approach and services that will be commissioned through the BCF. Where schemes are
new or approaches locally have changed, you should set out a short rationale.
2 ii. DFG and wider services. This should describe your approach to integration and joint commissioning/delivery with
wider services. In all cases this should include housing, and a short narrative on use of the DFG to support people with
care needs to remain independent through adaptations or other capital expenditure on their homes. This should include
3. How your BCF plan and other local plans align with the wider system and support integrated approaches. Examples
may include the read across to the STP (Sustainability Transformation Partnerships) or ICS (Integrated Care Systems)
plan(s) for your area and any other relevant strategies.
You can attach (in the e-mail) visuals and illustrations to aid understanding if this will assist assurers in understanding
5. Income (click to go to sheet)

Page 62

1. This sheet should be used to specify all funding contributions to the Health and Wellbeing Board's Better Care Fund
(BCF) plan and pooled budget for 2019/20. On selected the HWB from the Cover page, this sheet will be pre-populated
with the minimum CCG contributions to the BCF, DFG (Disabled Facilities Grant), iBCF (improved Better Care Fund) and
Winter Pressures allocations to be pooled within the BCF. These cannot be edited.
2. Please select whether any additional contributions to the BCF pool are being made from Local Authorities or the CCGs
and as applicable enter the amounts in the fields highlighted in ‘yellow’. These will appear as funding sources when
planning expenditure. The fields for Additional contributions can be utilised to include any relevant carry-overs from the
3. Please use the comment boxes alongside to add any specific detail around this additional contribution including any
relevant carry-overs assigned from previous years. All allocations are rounded to the nearest pound.
4. For any questions regarding the BCF funding allocations, please contact England.bettercaresupport@nhs.net

Page 63

6. Expenditure (click to go to sheet)
This sheet should be used to set out the schemes that constitute the BCF plan for the HWB including the planned
expenditure and the attributes to describe the scheme. This information is then aggregated and utilised to analyse the
BCF plans nationally and sets the basis for future reporting and to particularly demonstrate that National Condition 2
The table is set out to capture a range of information about how schemes are being funded and the types of services
they are providing. There may be scenarios when several lines need to be completed in order to fully describe a single
scheme or where a scheme is funded by multiple funding streams (eg: iBCF and CCG minimum). In this case please use a
consistent scheme ID for each line to ensure integrity of aggregating and analysing schemes.
On this sheet please enter the following information:
1. Scheme ID:
- This field only permits numbers. Please enter a number to represent the Scheme ID for the scheme being entered.
Please enter the same Scheme ID in this column for any schemes that are described across multiple rows.
2. Scheme Name:
- This is a free field to aid identification during the planning process. Please use the scheme name consistently if the
scheme is described across multiple lines in line with the scheme ID described above.
3. Brief Description of Scheme
- This is free text field to include a brief headline description of the scheme being planned.
4. Scheme Type and Sub Type:
- Please select the Scheme Type from the drop-down list that best represents the type of scheme being planned. A
description of each scheme is available at the end of the table (follow the link to the description section at the top of the
main expenditure table).
- Where the Scheme Types has further options to choose from, the Sub Type column alongside will be editable and turn
"yellow". Please select the Sub Type from the drop down list that best describes the scheme being planned.
- Please note that the drop down list has a scroll bar to scroll through the list and all the options may not appear in one
view.
- If the scheme is not adequately described by the available options, please choose ‘Other’ and add a free field
description for the scheme type in the column alongside.
5. Planned Outputs
- The BCF Planning requirements document requires areas to set out planned outputs for certain scheme types (those
which lend themselves to delivery of discrete units of delivery) to help to better understand and account for the activity
funded through the BCF.
- The Planned Outputs fields will only be editable if one of the relevant scheme types is selected. Please select a relevant
6. Metric Impact
- This field is collecting information on the metrics that a chem will impact on (rather than the actual planned impact on
the metric)
- For the schemes being planned please select from the drop-down options of ‘High-Medium-Low-n/a’ to provide an
indicative level of impact on the four BCF metrics. Where the scheme impacts multiple metrics, this can be expressed by
selecting the appropriate level from the drop down for each of the metrics. For example, a discharge to assess scheme
might have a medium impact on Delayed Transfers of Care and permanent admissions to residential care. Where the
7. Area of Spend:
- Please select the area of spend from the drop-down list by considering the area of the health and social system which is
most supported by investing in the scheme.
- Please note that where ‘Social Care’ is selected and the source of funding is “CCG minimum” then the planned spend
would count towards National Condition 2.
- If the scheme is not adequately described by the available options, please choose ‘Other’ and add a free field
description for the scheme type in the column alongside.
- We encourage areas to try to use the standard scheme types where possible.
8. Commissioner:
- Identify the commissioning entity for the scheme based on who commissions the scheme from the provider. If there is
a single commissioner, please select the option from the drop-down list.
- Please note this field is utilised in the calculations for meeting National Condition 3.
- If the scheme is commissioned jointly, please select ‘Joint’. Please estimate the proportion of the scheme being
commissioned by the local authority and CCG/NHS and enter the respective percentages on the two columns alongside.
9. Provider:
- Please select the ‘Provider’ commissioned to provide the scheme from the drop-down list.
- If the scheme is being provided by multiple providers, please split the scheme across multiple lines.

Page 64

10. Source of Funding:
- Based on the funding sources for the BCF pool for the HWB, please select the source of funding for the scheme from
the drop-down list
- If the scheme is funding across multiple sources of funding, please split the scheme across multiple lines, reflecting the
11. Expenditure (£) 2019/20:
- Please enter the planned spend for the scheme (or the scheme line, if the scheme is expressed across multiple lines)
12. New/Existing Scheme
- Please indicate whether the planned scheme is a new scheme for this year or an existing scheme being carried forward.
This is the only detailed information on BCF schemes being collected centrally for 2019/20 and will inform the
understanding of planned spend for the iBCF and Winter Funding grants.

Page 65

7. HICM (click to go to sheet)
National condition four of the BCF requires that areas continue to make progress in implementing the High Impact
Change model for managing transfers of care and continue to work towards the centrally set expectations for reducing
DToC. In the planning template, you should provide:
- An assessment of your current level of implementation against each of the 8 elements of the model – from a drop- Your planned level of implementation by the end March 2020 – again from a drop-down list
A narrative that sets out the approach to implementing the model further. The Narrative section in the HICM tab sets out further
8. Metrics (click to go to sheet)
This sheet should be used to set out the Health and Wellbeing Board's performance plans for each of the Better Care
Fund metrics in 2019/20. The BCF requires plans to be agreed for the four metrics. This should build on planned and
1. Non-Elective Admissions (NEA) metric planning:
- BCF plans as in previous years mirror the latest CCG Operating Plans for the NEA metric. Therefore, this metric is not
collected via this template.
2. Residential Admissions (RES) planning:
- This section requires inputting the information for the numerator of the measure.
- Please enter the planned number of council-supported older people (aged 65 and over) whose long-term support
needs will be met by a change of setting to residential and nursing care during the year (excluding transfers between
residential and nursing care) for the Residential Admissions numerator measure.
- The prepopulated denominator of the measure is the size of the older people population in the area (aged 65 and over)
taken from ONS subnational population projections.
- The annual rate is then calculated and populated based on the entered information.
- Please include a brief narrative associated with this metric plan
3. Reablement (REA) planning:
- This section requires inputting the information for the numerator and denominator of the measure.
- Please enter the planned denominator figure, which is the planned number of older people discharged from hospital to
their own home for rehabilitation (or from hospital to a residential or nursing care home or extra care housing for
rehabilitation, with a clear intention that they will move on/back to their own home).
- Please then enter the planned numerator figure, which is the planned number of older people discharged from hospital
to their own home for rehabilitation (from within the denominator) that will still be at home 91 days after discharge.
- The annual proportion (%) Reablement measure will then be calculated and populated based on this information.
- Please include a brief narrative associated with this metric plan
4. Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) planning:
- The expectations for this metric from 2018/19 are retained for 2019/20 and these are prepopulated.
- Please include a brief narrative associated with this metric plan.
- This narrative should include details of the plan, agreed between the local authority and the CCG for using the Winter
Pressures grant to manage pressures on the system over Winter.
9. Planning Requirements (click to go to sheet)
This sheet requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to confirm whether the National Conditions and other Planning
Requirements detailed in the BCF Policy Framework and the BCF Requirements document are met. Please refer to the
BCF Policy Framework and BCF Planning Requirements documents for 2019/20 for further details.
The Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) underpinning the Planning Requirements are also provided for reference as they will be
utilised to assure plans by the regional assurance panel.
1. For each Planning Requirement please select ‘Yes’ or ‘No’ to confirm whether the requirement is met for the BCF Plan.
2. Where the confirmation selected is ‘No’, please use the comments boxes to include the actions in place towards
meeting the requirement and the target timeframes.
10. CCG-HWB Mapping (click to go to sheet)
The final sheet provides details of the CCG - HWB mapping used to calculate contributions to Health and Wellbeing
Board level non-elective activity figures.

Page 66

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template
2. Cover
Version 1.2
Please Note:
- You are reminded that much of the data in this template, to which you have privileged access, is management information only and is not in the public domain.
It is not to be shared more widely than is necessary to complete the return.
- Please prevent inappropriate use by treating this information as restricted, refrain from passing information on to others and use it only for the purposes for
which it is provided. Any accidental or wrongful release should be reported immediately and may lead to an inquiry. Wrongful release includes indications of the
content, including such descriptions as "favourable" or "unfavourable".
- Please note that national data for plans is intended for release in aggregate form once plans have been assured, agreed and baselined as per the due process
outlined in the BCF Planning Requirements for 2019/20.
- This template is password protected to ensure data integrity and accurate aggregation of collected information. A resubmission may be required if this is
breached.
Health and Wellbeing Board:

Lewisham

Completed by:

Martin Wilkinson

E-mail:

martinwilkinson@nhs.net

Contact number:

020 3049 3371

Who signed off the report on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board:

Approval pending in November

Will the HWB sign-off the plan after the submission date?
If yes, please indicate the date when the HWB meeting is scheduled:

Yes
14/11/19
Professional
Title (where

*Area Assurance Contact Details:

Role:
Health and Wellbeing Board Chair

applicable)

Mayor

First-name:
Damien

Surname:
Egan

E-mail:
damien.egan@lewisham.gov.uk

Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer (Lead)

Andrew

Bland

andrewbland@nhs.net

Additional Clinical Commissioning Group(s) Accountable Officers

Martin

Wilkinson

martinwilkinson@nhs.net

Local Authority Chief Executive

Janet

Senior

janet.senior@lewisham.gov.uk

Local Authority Director of Adult Social Services (or equivalent)

Tom

Brown

tom.brown@lewisham.gov.uk

Better Care Fund Lead Official

Sarah

Wainer

sarah.wainer@nhs.net

LA Section 151 Officer

David

Austin

david.austin@lewisham.gov.uk

Robert

Mellors

robert.mellors@lewisham.gov.uk

Sharon

Gibbs

s.gibbs2@nhs.net

Please add further area contacts that Better Care Fund Local Authority Lead
you would wish to be included in
official correspondence --> Better Care Fund Programme Support Officer

*Only those identified will be addressed in official correspondence (such as approval letters). Please ensure all individuals are satisfied with the
information entered above as this is exactly how they will appear in correspondence.

Page 67

Question Completion - when all questions have been answered and the validation boxes below have turned green you should send the
template to england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net saving the file as 'Name HWB' for example 'County Durham HWB'
Please see the Checklist below for further details on incomplete fields

2. Cover
4. Strategic Narrative
5. Income
6. Expenditure
7. HICM
8. Metrics
9. Planning Requirements

Complete:
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
<< Link to the Guidance sheet

Checklist
2. Cover

^^ Link back to top
Cell Reference
D13
D15
D17
D19
D21
D23
D24
C27 : C36
F27 : F36
G27 : G36
H27 : H36

Health & Wellbeing Board
Completed by:
E-mail:
Contact number:
Who signed off the report on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board:
Will the HWB sign-off the plan after the submission date?
If yes, please indicate the date when the HWB meeting is scheduled:
Area Assurance Contact Details - Role:
Area Assurance Contact Details - First name:
Area Assurance Contact Details - Surname:
Area Assurance Contact Details - E-mail:
Sheet Complete
4. Strategic Narrative

Yes
^^ Link back to top

A) Person-centred outcomes:
B) (i) Your approach to integrated services at HWB level (and neighbourhood where applicable):
B) (ii) Your approach to integration with wider services (e.g. Housing):
C) System level alignment:

Cell Reference
B20
B31
B37
B44

Are any additional LA Contributions being made in 2019/20?
Additional Local Authority
Additional LA Contribution
Additional LA Contribution Narrative
Are any additional CCG Contributions being made in 2019/20?
Additional CCGs
Additional CCG Contribution
Additional CCG Contribution Narrative

Checker
No
No
Yes
Yes
No

Sheet Complete
5. Income

Checker
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

^^ Link back to top
Cell Reference
C39
B42 : B44
C42 : C44
D42 : D44
C59
B62 : B71
C62 : C71
D62 : D71

Checker
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Sheet Complete

Page 68

6. Expenditure

^^ Link back to top
Cell Reference
B22 : B271
C22 : C271
D22 : D271
E22 : E271
F22 : F271
G22 : G271
H22 : H271
I22 : I271
J22 : J271
K22 : K271
L22 : L271
M22 : M271
N22 : N271
O22 : O271
P22 : P271
Q22 : Q271
S22 : S271
T22 : T271
U22 : U271
V22 : V271

Scheme ID:
Scheme Name:
Brief Description of Scheme:
Scheme Type:
Sub Types:
Specify if scheme type is Other:
Planned Output:
Planned Output Unit Estimate:
Impact: Non-Elective Admissions:
Impact: Delayed Transfers of Care:
Impact: Residential Admissions:
Impact: Reablement:
Area of Spend:
Specify if area of spend is Other:
Commissioner:
Joint Commissioner %:
Provider:
Source of Funding:
Expenditure:
New/Existing Scheme:
Sheet Complete
7. HICM

Checker
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

^^ Link back to top

Priorities for embedding elements of the HCIM for Managing Transfers of Care locally:
Chg 1) Early discharge planning - Current Level:
Chg 2) Systems to monitor patient flow - Current Level:
Chg 3) Multi-disciplinary/Multi-agency discharge teams - Current Level:
Chg 4) Home first / discharge to assess - Current Level:
Chg 5) Seven-day service - Current Level:
Chg 6) Trusted assessors - Current Level:
Chg 7) Focus on choice - Current Level:
Chg 8) Enhancing health in care homes - Current Level:
Chg 1) Early discharge planning - Planned Level:
Chg 2) Systems to monitor patient flow - Planned Level:
Chg 3) Multi-disciplinary/Multi-agency discharge teams - Planned Level:
Chg 4) Home first / discharge to assess - Planned Level:
Chg 5) Seven-day service - Planned Level:
Chg 6) Trusted assessors - Planned Level:
Chg 7) Focus on choice - Planned Level:
Chg 8) Enhancing health in care homes - Planned Level:
Chg 1) Early discharge planning - Reasons:
Chg 2) Systems to monitor patient flow - Reasons:
Chg 3) Multi-disciplinary/Multi-agency discharge teams - Reasons:
Chg 4) Home first / discharge to assess - Reasons:
Chg 5) Seven-day service - Reasons:
Chg 6) Trusted assessors - Reasons:
Chg 7) Focus on choice - Reasons:
Chg 8) Enhancing health in care homes - Reasons:

Cell Reference
B11
D15
D16
D17
D18
D19
D20
D21
D22
E15
E16
E17
E18
E19
E20
E21
E22
F15
F16
F17
F18
F19
F20
F21
F22

Sheet Complete

Checker
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Page 69

8. Metrics

^^ Link back to top
Cell Reference
E10
E17
F27
G26
F39
F40
G38

Non-Elective Admissions: Overview Narrative:
Delayed Transfers of Care: Overview Narrative:
Residential Admissions Numerator:
Residential Admissions: Overview Narrative:
Reablement Numerator:
Reablement Denominator:
Reablement: Overview Narrative:
Sheet Complete
9. Planning Requirements

Checker
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

^^ Link back to top

PR1: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Plan to Meet
PR2: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Plan to Meet
PR3: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Plan to Meet
PR4: NC2: Social Care Maintenance - Plan to Meet
PR5: NC3: NHS commissioned Out of Hospital Services - Plan to Meet
PR6: NC4: Implementation of the HICM for Managing Transfers of Care - Plan to Meet
PR7: Agreed expenditure plan for all elements of the BCF - Plan to Meet
PR8: Agreed expenditure plan for all elements of the BCF - Plan to Meet
PR9: Metrics - Plan to Meet
PR1: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Actions in place if not
PR2: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Actions in place if not
PR3: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Actions in place if not
PR4: NC2: Social Care Maintenance - Actions in place if not
PR5: NC3: NHS commissioned Out of Hospital Services - Actions in place if not
PR6: NC4: Implementation of the HICM for Managing Transfers of Care - Actions in place if not
PR7: Agreed expenditure plan for all elements of the BCF - Actions in place if not
PR8: Agreed expenditure plan for all elements of the BCF - Actions in place if not
PR9: Metrics - Actions in place if not
PR1: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Timeframe if not met
PR2: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Timeframe if not met
PR3: NC1: Jointly agreed plan - Timeframe if not met
PR4: NC2: Social Care Maintenance - Timeframe if not met
PR5: NC3: NHS commissioned Out of Hospital Services - Timeframe if not met
PR6: NC4: Implementation of the HICM for Managing Transfers of Care - Timeframe if not met
PR7: Agreed expenditure plan for all elements of the BCF - Timeframe if not met
PR8: Agreed expenditure plan for all elements of the BCF - Timeframe if not met
PR9: Metrics - Timeframe if not met

Cell Reference
F8
F9
F10
F11
F12
F13
F14
F15
F16
H8
H9
H10
H11
H12
H13
H14
H15
H16
I8
I9
I10
I11
I12
I13
I14
I15
I16

Sheet Complete

Checker
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

^^ Link back to top

Page 70

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template
3. Summary
Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Lewisham

Income & Expenditure
Income >>
Funding Sources
DFG
Minimum CCG Contribution
iBCF
Winter Pressures Grant
Additional LA Contribution
Additional CCG Contribution
Total

Income
£1,338,708
£22,055,666
£13,134,491
£1,367,882
£773,989
£0
£38,670,736

Expenditure
Difference
£1,338,708
£22,055,666
£13,134,491
£1,367,882
£773,989
£0
£38,670,736

Expenditure >>
NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital spend from the minimum CCG allocation
Minimum required spend
£6,267,595
Planned spend
£11,276,274
Adult Social Care services spend from the minimum CCG allocations
Minimum required spend
£9,113,415
£9,113,415
Planned spend
Scheme Types
Assistive Technologies and Equipment
Care Act Implementation Related Duties
Carers Services
Community Based Schemes
DFG Related Schemes
Enablers for Integration
HICM for Managing Transfer of Care
Home Care or Domiciliary Care
Housing Related Schemes
Integrated Care Planning and Navigation
Intermediate Care Services
Personalised Budgeting and Commissioning
Personalised Care at Home
Prevention / Early Intervention
Residential Placements
Other
Total

£494,050
£900,000
£501,012
£3,705,001
£1,338,708
£1,094,050
£6,932,892
£5,397,949
£164,000
£2,194,044
£5,221,450
£0
£3,836,985
£1,081,029
£4,018,166
£1,791,400
£38,670,736

Page 71

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

HICM >>
Planned level of maturity for 2019/2020
Chg 1 Early discharge planning

Established

Chg 2 Systems to monitor patient flow

Established

Chg 3

Multi-disciplinary/Multi-agency discharge
teams

Established

Chg 4 Home first / discharge to assess

Established

Chg 5 Seven-day service

Established

Chg 6 Trusted assessors

Established

Chg 7 Focus on choice

Established

Chg 8 Enhancing health in care homes

Established

Metrics >>
Non-Elective Admissions
Delayed Transfer of Care

Go to Better Care Exchange >>

Residential Admissions
19/20 Plan
Long-term support needs of older people (age 65 and
over) met by admission to residential and nursing care Annual Rate
homes, per 100,000 population

545.8292393

Reablement
19/20 Plan
Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were
still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into Annual (%)
reablement / rehabilitation services

0.928571429

Planning Requirements >>
Theme

Code

Response

PR1

Yes

PR2

Yes

PR3

Yes

NC2: Social Care Maintenance

PR4

Yes

NC3: NHS commissioned Out of Hospital Services

PR5

Yes

NC4: Implementation of the High Impact Change
Model for Managing Transfers of Care

PR6

Yes

PR7

Yes

PR8

Yes

PR9

Yes

NC1: Jointly agreed plan

Agreed expenditure plan for all elements of the BCF

Metrics

Page 72

Lewisham

4. Strategic Narrative

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template
Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Please outline your approach towards integration of health & social care:
When providing your responses to the below sections, please highlight any learning from the previous planning round (2017-2019)
and cover any priorities for reducing health inequalities under the Equality Act 2010.

0 Please do not exceed the word limit

Please note that there are 4 responses required below, for questions: A), B(i), B(ii) and C)
Link to B) (i)
Link to B) (ii)
Link to C)
A) Person-centred outcomes
Your approach to integrating care around the person, this may include (but is not
limited to):
- Prevention and self-care
- Promoting choice and independence
Remaining Word Limit:

As in previous years, Lewisham Health and Care Partners aim to achieve a sustainable and accessible health and care system which supports people to maintain and improve their physical and mental wellbeing, to live independently and be able to access to high quality care when they need it. The 201920 BCF plan contributes to the achievement of the LHCP aim and is an evolution of the 2017-19 Plan. It will continue to fund activity which delivers person centred care and improves health and care outcomes. The 2019-20 BCF plan includes schemes in the following areas:
- Prevention and Early Intervention
- Community Based Care and the development of provider alliance activity
- Enhanced Care and Support
- Estates and IMT

Through the work of our provider alliances and other planned activity supported by the BCF/IBCF, the majority of schemes in 2019-20 continue to support the delivery of community based care so that it is:
Proactive and Preventative – By creating an environment which promotes health and wellbeing, making it easy for people to find the information and advice they need on the support, activities, opportunities available to maintain their own health and wellbeing and to manage their health and care more
effectively;
Accessible – By improving delivery and timely access when needed to planned and urgent health and care services in the right setting in the community, which meet the needs of our diverse population and address inequalities. This includes raising awareness of the range of health and care services
available and increasing access to community health services and early intervention support.
Co-ordinated – So that people receive personalised health and care services which are coordinated around them, delivered closer to home, and which integrate physical and mental health and care services, helping them to live independently for as long as possible.

As previously, LHCP recognise that preventative interventions are critical in managing the increasing demand in health and social care services. This includes reducing the overall burden of disease in the population and underpinning the financial sustainability of the whole system. LHCP have therefore
increased the investment within the BCF/IBCF for prevention and early action, to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for individuals and so that costs can be reduced further down the care pathway.
The BCF/IBCF in 2019/20 will continue to support two social prescribing schemes: Community Connections and Safe and Independent Living (SAIL).

Community Connections is led by Age UK Lewisham and Southwark and is delivered by the Lewisham Connections Consortium, a partnership of six voluntary sector organisations in Lewisham. Community Connections is a preventative social prescribing project, aimed at improving the health and
wellbeing of vulnerable adults across the borough. This is achieved through a combination of community development work and individual community facilitation for vulnerable adults. SAIL is an additional social prescribing service, also managed by Lewisham and Southwark Age UK, and delivered
through a simple checklist and referral. It is aimed at people over 60 and those supporting them such as GPs, district nurses, carers and relatives to access to a broad range of coordinated support and/or information to support safe and independent living at home.

A full evaluation of the SAIL Project in Lewisham was conducted in 2018 using a Social Return on Investment (SROI) methodology. It also included an assessment of social value by including case studies, stories and stakeholder feedback. The evaluation demonstrates the SAIL model to be highly effective
and one which achieves excellent outcomes for older people in Lewisham. The most consistently highlighted benefits of the project were that it improves efficiency, making it very quick to make multiple referrals, and improves access to services. The SAIL checklist achieves this through its simplicity and
by gathering multiple services onto a single form. Analysis in the evaluation has shown that for every £1 invested so far, the return has been £4.91.
Additional benefits of the SAIL Connections model highlighted by partners included:
• Developing personalised support plans

Page 73

B) HWB level
(i) Your approach to integrated services at HWB level (and neighbourhood where applicable), this may include (but is not
limited to):
- Joint commissioning arrangements
- Alignment with primary care services (including PCNs (Primary Care Networks))
- Alignment of services and the approach to partnership with the VCS (Voluntary and Community Sector)
Remaining Word Limit:
0 Please do not exceed the word limit
^^ Link back to top

A primary focus for LHCP continues to be on the integrated delivery of proactive, co-ordinated and accessible community based care at a neighbourhood level, and on establishing an effective interface between community based care and secondary provision. Four partnership priorities have been
identified for system transformation in 2019-20: Frailty, Mental Health, Respiratory and Diabetes. BCF/IBCF funding in 2019-20 will continue to support commissioning and provider activity in these areas.

Aligned to this, Lewisham will seek to further strengthen its existing joint commissioning arrangements for children’s and adults which are currently governed by S75 agreements. Throughout 2019-20 Lewisham will review these commissioning arrangements as part of the development of the integrated
care system for South East London.

Commissioners are actively involved in the development of two shadow provider alliances: a Mental Health alliance to support working age adults and a ‘Care at Home’ alliance for services which provide care and support to adults in their own homes. Work undertaken in 2019-20 will provide the
foundation to establish an overarching community based care provider alliance in 2020-21. Both alliances will seek to foster and embed a shared culture across the health and care system to ensure the delivery of consistent, high quality, person-centred services that build on a person’s assets and
preferences. Commissioning intentions will be developed in 2019-20 to reflect the ambition of provider alliance activity.

The Mental Health Provider Alliance will work to transform the current mental health system for adults of working age, to a system that provides early intervention, prevention and personalised support. It will support individuals to achieve their personal goals, facilitate recovery and to stay healthy by
building a preventative model that empowers and builds the capacity of local GPs and communities and improves joint working between primary care and providers of mental health services across the statutory and voluntary and community sector.

Simultaneously, the Care at Home Provider Alliance will develop integrated working across services that support adults in their own homes to provide high quality, proactive, cost effective person centred care and support when it is needed at pace and scale. The scope for the alliance is district nursing,
adult therapies, enablement and adult social care, working closely with other health and care providers, most importantly primary care, home care and mental health.
During 2019-20 the Mental Health Provider Alliance will focus on:
Front Door & Rapid Crisis Response – working with all partners to identify a new model of care for patients entering mental health services. The front door offer will examine a rapid response crisis model to aid primary care.
Community Support – to create seamless evidence-based treatments for service users.
Rehabilitation & Complex Care – exploring new care models within Lewisham for those patients with severe symptoms, multiple co-morbidities, and often significant risk histories to reduce the need for out of area placements.
The Care at Home Provider Alliance will focus on:
Workforce: to identify synergies and opportunities for workforce development, informed by the NHS Interim People Plan.
Assessment and care planning: to develop joint assessment and care planning processes; trusted assessor functions; establish a shared vision and agreed referral criteria for the enablement service.

Managing interfaces: improve the interface with primary care, specifically through streamlined referral processes and stronger key working; develop new ways of working with Home Care agencies and strengthen the interface with the Flow Centre to reduce inappropriate referrals following discharge.

Page 74

(ii) Your approach to integration with wider services (e.g. Housing), this should include:
- Your approach to using the DFG to support the housing needs of people with disabilities or care needs. This should include any
arrangements for strategic planning for the use of adaptations and technologies to support independent living in line with the
Remaining Word Limit:
11
^^ Link back to top

Work with partners across the borough in the strategic planning and delivery of services will continue in 2019-20 to support people to remain independent at home.
A key contributor to Lewisham’s approach to integration and personalisation are the Neighbourhood Co-ordinators, one in each neighbourhood. Funded from the BCF since 2015 the co-ordinators received 1863 requests for support in 2018-19, a 20% increase on the previous year and a 49% increase on
2016-17. The co-ordinators will continue to be funded by the BCF in 2019-20 to improve multi-disciplinary working for those people with complex health and social care needs and facilitate effective liaison between formal and informal health and care providers across Lewisham.

The team of co-ordinators will continue to provide signposting, support with case conferences and connecting community based care to wider health and care providers. In 2019-21, they will build on work to strengthen links to community mental health services, London Ambulance Service, the
Community Falls Service, housing providers, drugs and alcohol support services and voluntary sector providers. In 2019-20 a key focus will be to support the neighbourhoods to provide more effective ‘in reach’ to hospital discharge, to reduce hand offs and delays, and improve multi-disciplinary
approaches to complex discharges.

As mentioned above in 2019-20, the connections between Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Community Development Partnerships and Local Care Networks (see section above) will be strengthened. Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Community Development Partnerships currently produce a neighbourhood
community development plan which is informed by the Community Connections gap analysis and identifies key priorities for each area. This plan informs the future work of the local NCDP partnership and local health and care partners. A small grant fund of £25k has been made available for each
partnership to deliver local solutions to the local priorities identified. This model of participatory budgeting was shortlisted for a national LGC award for excellence in Community Integration, based on the relationships Age UK Lewisham and Southwark built between the Council, community and voluntary
sector, and health and social care services.

In 2019/20 the Better Care Fund will continue to be used to provide adaptations to enable people to continue to live independently. Adaptations support Lewisham’s approach to prevention, are vital in improving safety in the home and can make life easier for the disabled person and their carer.
Adaptations are also crucial in avoiding a move into care or in enabling patients leave hospital. During 2018/19 75 households received disabled facilities grant funding. The service recently undertook a satisfaction survery of DFG clients. Of those who responded, over 90% were either ‘very satisfied’ or
‘satisfied’ with the overall service.

In 2019/20 a number of new initiatives will also be implemented by Housing and Adult Social Care. This includes piloting a new approach to hoarding. A new post has been created and will deliver the partnership prototype model for an effective, fully coordinated, hoarding management service across
all tenures. Other priorities for 2019-20 include: building and strengthening our evidence base for Disabled Facilities Grants; establishing a Health and Housing post; expanding the role of Trusted Assessors; and developing an integrated offer for Assistive Technology. In addition, the Mental Health
Provider Alliance is developing a stepped care approach within supported housing to address the housing needs of people with the mental health issues.

In 2019-20 LHCP will also continue to oversee activity to make best use of our collective estates. This work is aligned with the ambition set out in Lewisham’s One Public Estate and Devolution proposals and in the Local Estates Strategy. LHCP have committed to sharing assets where appropriate, ensuring
that estate planning takes into account wider strategic aims for health and care and that plans support the transformation, improvement and delivery of both acute, primary and community based care. Community health and care services are in the process of being co-located, bringing a range of teams
together at the Waldron neighbourhood hub in Summer 2019, co-locating enablement and adult therapies later in 2019-20 and district nursing and adult social care teams in N2 and N3 in 2020-21.

The BCF will also continue to support the development and application of Lewisham’s Population Health and Care Data Management System. This system will bring together a range of local health and care data into a single management information system. It will enable commissioners and providers to
better understand the population health and care needs of Lewisham; improve the quality, safety and speed of care delivery and decision making; enable better evidence-based decisions on service design, provision and pathways; identify care gaps across the Lewisham population; improve health and
care outcomes and reduce inequalities: and reduce waste, duplication and costs across the system.

Page 75

C) System level alignment, for example this may include (but is not limited to):
- How the BCF plan and other plans align to the wider integration landscape, such as STP/ICS plans
- A brief description of joint governance arrangements for the BCF plan
Remaining Word Limit:
28
^^ Link back to top

Lewisham Health and Care Partners share a collective vision for a sustainable and accessible health and care system in Lewisham that better supports people to maintain and improve their physical and mental wellbeing, to live independently and to have access to high quality care when they need it.
The activity supported by the BCF funds key priority areas to achieve LHCP’s vision. Several areas of work have been recognised as innovative and demonstrating good practice and have been presented to SEL colleagues, including that on social prescribing and the population health data management
system. The BCF continues to support both our approach to population health management, the development of provider alliances for mental health and Care at Home, as well as wider service transformation to support admission avoidance and improve the processes for hospital discharge, for example
around continuing healthcare assessments.
Lewisham Health and Care Partners include: Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT); London Borough of Lewisham (LBL); NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (LCCG); One Health Lewisham (Pan-Lewisham GP Federation); South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM); and
Lewisham's Local Medical Committee. The Partners meet regularly at the LHCP Executive Board which exists to provide shared system wide leadership, set the strategic direction for integration and transformation and oversee the changes required for health and care across Lewisham. More recently
discussions have taken place to enhance primary care representation and input from the voluntary and community sector to the Executive Board given the establishment of Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and the increased recognition of the role of the VCSE in maintaining and improving health and
wellbeing.
As set out in its terms of reference, members of the LHCP Executive Board work collaboratively on the development and delivery of health and care across the whole system to promote and deliver integrated and holistic care, and are responsible for the delivery of One Public Estate (OPE) and the
population health system. To ensure alignment of commissioning and provider activity, members of the partnership maintain a strategic view of the population health needs of Lewisham; identify priority areas for action across the system; monitor progress and development of the strategic
commissioning and provider alliance arrangements and set and maintain the strategic direction to best deliver all aspects of community based care. So that the strategic direction is coherent and is adopted by all parts of the system, members ensure that their respective governing bodies, the local
political leadership, the STP are appropriately engaged and informed.
To further ensure alignment around key activity across the system, the LHCP Executive Board has established sub-committees and steering groups as required. These include partnership groups for Estates and Communications and new groups for Workforce and strategic IT. These are in addition to the
two provider alliances, information on which is detailed elsewhere.
The LHCP Executive Board also interfaces and communicates with, amongst others, Lewisham’s Regeneration and Capital Programme Board, which approves s106 funding and monitors progress on local building and regeneration programmes supporting health and care developments, the Section 75
Agreement Management Group which oversees and monitors the BCF/IBCF, the Joint Commissioning Group which develops annual joint commissioning intentions and plans, and the Stronger Communities Partnership Board whose remit includes community development and equalities. This ensures
consistency between the work of the LHCP and that of others to maximise impact and avoid duplication of effort.
As the local care partnership, Lewisham Health and Care Partners, forms part of the South East London Integrated Care System (ICS) which is in turn part of the national ICS wave 3 programme. Although PCNs have not formally nominated their representatives for the LHCP Executive Board, Lewisham’s
local PCNs are now working as part of LHCP to develop operational and strategic links, as well as taking advantage of the relevant support offered through SEL ICS. As new requirements for primary care networks come on stream, such as those on social prescribing, health and care colleagues are
supporting and working closely with primary care network leads and the GP federation to ensure that the PCNs are properly connected to existing Lewisham pathways and offers such as Community Connections/SAIL which are already established and funded by the BCF. This national resource provided
to PCNs for additional social prescribers at a local level will increase the number of social prescribing referrals and is expected to stretch the existing capacity within the voluntary and community sector. Therefore an additional £196k has been included in the 2019/20 IBCF plan in anticipation of this
increased demand and to provide appropriate interventions.
The local landscape will also be affected by the CCG proposal to merge in 2020 with other south east London CCGs as part of the wider ICS journey. Subject to the application to be submitted at end September 2019 and the subsequent consideration and decision by NHSE, a new South East London CCG
will be created on 1 April 2020. As part of this, opportunities are being sought to deepen our local integration of health and care commissioning for community based care, including proposals to establish a Borough Based Board with appropriate delegation and decision making from the SEL CCG and the
local Council. Consideration is also being given to the creation of a joint borough based Director post to further integration of commissioning across the system and to the system transformation staff resources that will be required. This work will proceed and further planning will take place during 201920 for implementation (subject to approvals) in 2020/21.
The development of the Borough Based Board and the proposed overarching provider alliance for community based care will ensure that Lewisham’s health and care partnership continues to build on the strong foundations and partnership working already established by Lewisham Health and Care
Partners. The local health and care partnership and ultimately the proposed Borough Based Board will continue to be the vehicle through which both commissioners and providers work together to improve health and care outcomes and reduce health inequalities through a framework of agreed and

Page 76

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template
5. Income
Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Lewisham

Local Authority Contribution
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)

Gross Contribution

Lewisham

£1,338,708

DFG breakerdown for two-tier areas only (where applicable)
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
Total Minimum LA Contribution (exc iBCF)

£1,338,708

iBCF Contribution
Lewisham

Contribution
£13,134,491

Total iBCF Contribution

£13,134,491

Winter Pressures Grant
Lewisham

Contribution
£1,367,882

Total Winter Pressures Grant Contribution

£1,367,882

Are any additional LA Contributions being made in 2019/20? If
yes, please detail below

Yes

Lewisham

Comments - please use this box clarify any specific
uses or sources of funding
£773,989 Neighbourhood Community Team

Total Additional Local Authority Contribution

£773,989

Local Authority Additional Contribution

Contribution

Page 77

CCG Minimum Contribution
1 NHS Lewisham CCG
2
3
4
5
6
7
Total Minimum CCG Contribution

Contribution
£22,055,666

£22,055,666

Are any additional CCG Contributions being made in 2019/20? If
yes, please detail below

Additional CCG Contribution

Total Addition CCG Contribution
Total CCG Contribution

Total BCF Pooled Budget

No

Contribution

£0
£22,055,666

2019/20
£38,670,736

Funding Contributions Comments
Optional for any useful detail e.g. Carry over

Page 78

Comments - please use this box clarify any specific
uses or sources of funding

15

14

13

12

11

10

9

Social Care delivery

Extra Care provision

Winter capacity

Enablement Services
(LA)

Enablement Services
(CCG)

DFG

Community Mental
Health

Neighbourhood
Community Teams

6. Expenditure
Lewisham

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template

Brief Description of
Scheme

Integrated Care
Planning and
Navigation
HICM for
Managing
Transfer of Care
Assistive
Technologies and
Equipment
Prevention / Early
Intervention

Income
£1,338,708
£22,055,666
£13,134,491
£1,367,882
£773,989
£0
£38,670,736

Expenditure
£1,338,708
£22,055,666
£13,134,491
£1,367,882
£773,989
£0
£38,670,736

Balance
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0

Under Spend
£11,276,274
£0

Planned Spend

£6,267,595
£9,113,415

Minimum Required Spend

£9,113,415

Primary Care

CCG

CCG

REA

Medium

Primary Care

CCG

Metric Impact
DTOC
RES

Low

Medium

Community
Health

CCG

NEA

Low

Low

Medium

Community
Health

LA

Area of Spend Please specify if Commissioner
'Area of Spend'
is 'other'

Medium

Low

Medium

High

Social Care

CCG

Planned Outputs
Please specify if
Planned
Planned
'Scheme Type' Output Unit
Output
is 'Other'
Estimate

High

High

Medium

Low

Community
Health

Social Prescribing

Other

Collaborative
working

Chg 5. Seven-Day
Services
Medium

Low

Low

Medium

LA

Other

Wellness Services

High

Low

Low

Social Care

Other

Medium

Low

High

Physical
health/wellbein
g

Physical
health/wellbein
g

Medium

High

% NHS (if Joint
Commissioner)

Expenditure
% LA (if Joint
Commissioner)

Placements

52.0 Medium

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Minimum CCG
Contribution

£313,000 Existing

£327,800 Existing

£237,800 Existing

£1,170,000 Existing

£1,467,200 Existing

Expenditure (£)

Minimum CCG
Contribution

£130,200 Existing

Provider

Minimum CCG
Contribution

£544,344 Existing

New/
Existing
Scheme

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Source of
Funding

NHS
Community
Provider
NHS
Community
Provider
NHS
Community
Provider
NHS
Community
Provider
Charity /
Voluntary
Sector
NHS
Community
Provider
Local
Authority

£3,062,996 Existing

Low

Minimum CCG
Contribution

High

Single Point of
Access

Local
Authority

£2,119,100 Existing

£773,989 Existing

LA

Minimum CCG
Contribution

£1,338,708 Existing

Additional LA
Contribution
Social Care

DFG

Local
Authority
High

CCG

NHS Mental
Health
Provider
Local
Authority

LA

High

Mental Health

LA

£1,972,400 Existing

Social Care

Medium

Low

Social Care

Minimum CCG
Contribution

£3,249,050 Existing

High

182.0 High

718.0 High

Medium

High

CCG

Minimum CCG
Contribution

High

Packages

Packages

High

Medium

Community
Health

NHS
Community
Provider
Local
Authority

High

Medium

High

LA

Low

Adaptations

High

Social Care

High

Reablement/Reha
bilitation Services

Hours of Care

Placements

Reablement/Reha
bilitation Services

96.0 Medium

High

£1,483,900 Existing

Low

Minimum CCG
Contribution

High

NHS Acute
Provider

29,537.0 Medium

CCG

High

Acute

Low

Extra Care

Chg 5. Seven-Day
Services
Chg 4. Home First
/ Discharge to
Access
Chg 1. Early
Continuing care
Discharge
Planning

High

High

Reduce acute
pressures

Social Care

£558,166 Existing

High

LA

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Medium

Social Care

CCG

LA

Medium

Medium

Community
Health

£412,568 Existing

High

High

Minimum CCG
Contribution

High

Medium

Charity /
Voluntary
Sector
Local
Authority
Low

High

CCG

£1,608,400 Existing

Low

Continuing
Care

CCG

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Medium

Link to Scheme Type description
Scheme Type
Sub Types

Required Spend
NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital spend from the minimum
CCG allocation
Adult Social Care services spend from the minimum CCG
allocations

Running Balances
DFG
Minimum CCG Contribution
iBCF
Winter Pressures Grant
Additional LA Contribution
Additional CCG Contribution
Total

Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Scheme Name

<< Link to summary sheet

Scheme
ID

1

2

3

SAIL Connections

16

Hospital Discharge
Provision

Low

Primary Care

NHS
Community
Provider
CCG

£533,000 Existing

High

High

CCG

Minimum CCG
Contribution

High

Low

Estates

CCG

NHS
Community
Provider
CCG
Low

Low

Not applicable Other

CCG

£560,901 Existing

Medium

Not
applicable

Programme
Management

Minimum CCG
Contribution
Not applicable Not
applicable

Not applicable Other

£54,794 Existing

Integrated
workforce

Not
applicable

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Enablers for
Integration

Not applicable Not
applicable

£290,462 Existing

Implementation &
Change Mgt
capacity

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Enablers for
Integration

A preventative social
Prevention / Early
prescribing project
Intervention
aiming to improve the
Training and education Prevention / Early
to support self
Intervention
management for people
A gateway for people
Integrated Care
accesing health and
Planning and
care; a seamless
Navigation
Provision of social work Personalised Care
and OT support in the at Home
community
Provision of social work Personalised Care
and OT support in the at Home
community
Comumunity secondary Community Based
mental health services Schemes
including Assessment
Adaptations to the
DFG Related
home to support
Schemes
independence, safety
Target: Bed occupancy Intermediate Care
of 96% or above.
Services
Provision on
Provision of community Intermediate Care
rehabilitation and
Services
enablement services to
Additional capacity to
Other
reduce pressures on the
acute over the winter
Provision of supported Residential
accommodation for
Placements
people with high care
Social care support to
HICM for
enable discharge from Managing
hospital 7 days a week Transfer of Care
Reduce length of stay in HICM for
acute setting
Managing
Transfer of Care
HICM for
Managing
Transfer of Care
Community Based
Schemes
Timely CHC
assessment/review to
support hospital
Support for patients
with or at high risk of
medicine related
Estate activity to
support integrated
working
Porgramme
management to support
partnership integration

Co-ordinated Care - NHS Telephone triage
111
services for urgent
healthcare needs,
Integrated Primary and Extended access to GP
Urgent Care - GP
appointments
Extended Access Service
Improved use of
To improve provision of
equipment
and access to low level
equipment and tech to
Community Falls Service Interventions to
manage/prevent falls

5

Self management
support

4

6

17

Single Point of Access

18

Continuing Healthcare
redesign
implementation
LIMOS

7

19

Neighbourhood hubs

Neighbourhood
Community Teams

20

8

21

Programme
Management

Page 79

23

22

Carers Information,
Advice and Support

Connect Care

Population Health
System
Shared information
Enablers for
record to support MDT Integration
working
Information, advice and Carers Services
support to unpaid carers

Shared data and
information system

Enablers for
Integration

24

Care Home

Shared records
and
Interoperability
Shared records
and
Interoperability
Carer Advice and
Support

Residential
Placements

Contingency

HICM for
Managing
Transfer of Care
Housing Related
Schemes

Integrated Care
Planning and
Navigation
Home Care or
Domiciliary Care

Residential
Placements
Care Planning,
Assessment and
Review

Care Home

Housing Related
Schemes

Chg 4. Home First Quicker step
/ Discharge to
down into
Access
community
Increasing
number of
available
Developing
Home Finding
service

Other

25

31

30

29

28

27

26

Contingency
Mitigation of financial
risk associated with
activity above plan
Support for Mental
Maintenance of current
Health provision
level of residential
provision
Development of
Development of
community support
alternative forms of care
services
to reduce use of
Learning Disability
Supported
supported
accommodation in a
accommodation
family style setting
Learning Disability
Increasing the number
supported
of people with learning
accommodation
disabilities living
Transitions
Residential placements
for high challenge young
people aged 18-25 years
Transitions
Case management and
care planning for young
people aged 18-25 years
Protection of current
Protection of care
level of packages of care packages

32

33

34

Development of Trusted
Assessor model with
care home providers
Delaying savings

Increase funding of D2A Support to reduce
length of stay in acute
settings
Support to reduce
length of stay in acute
settings
Maintenance of social
care budgets

35

Delaying savings

Maintenance of social
care budgets

36

Placements

Placements

Packages

Packages

Not applicable Other

IMT

CCG

£397,705 Existing

Not
applicable

Private Sector Minimum CCG
Contribution

Not applicable Not
applicable
Joint

£161,089 Existing

IMT

Private Sector Minimum CCG
Contribution

Not applicable Other

30.0%

Not
applicable

Joint

70.0%

Not applicable Not
applicable

£307,500 Existing

£501,012 Existing

Private Sector iBCF

£205,000 Existing

Minimum CCG
Contribution

LA

Private Sector iBCF

£82,000 Existing

Local
Authority

Not applicable Other

High

Mental Health

LA

Private Sector iBCF

£82,000 Existing

LA

Medium

Low

Mental Health

LA

Private Sector iBCF

£3,152,500 Existing

Social Care

High

Not
applicable

Low

Social Care

LA

Private Sector iBCF

£182,500 Existing

Low

Not applicable Not
applicable
Low

Medium

Social Care

iBCF

£307,500 Existing

Low

Medium

Medium

LA

Local
Authority

£1,722,000 Existing

150.0 Medium

High

Low

High

Social Care

Minimum CCG
Contribution

9.0 Medium

High

High

Not applicable Social Care

LA

Private Sector iBCF

£1,332,500 Existing

Medium

High

Medium

High

CCG

High

High

High

Not applicable Social Care

LA

Private Sector iBCF

£102,500 Existing

Low

High

Medium

50.0%

High

High

Not
applicable

Social Care

LA

Private Sector iBCF

£1,435,000 Existing

79.0 Medium

High

50.0%

High

High

Not
applicable
Medium

Social Care

LA

Private Sector iBCF

£1,025,000 Existing

Contingency

60.0 High

Medium

High

High

Social Care

LA

Private Sector iBCF

Medium

Medium

High

Medium

Medium

Social Care

LA

£161,042 Existing

Local
Authority

iBCF

50.0%

£1,400,000 Existing

50.0%

Private Sector iBCF

Joint

LA

Not applicable Social Care

Social Care

Not
applicable

High

Minimum CCG
Contribution

High

Local
Authority

Winter
Pressures Grant

122.0 Not applicable High

LA

Local
Authority

£70,000 New

Packages

Social Care

LA

iBCF

£70,000 New

£840,949 Existing

High

Social Care

Local
Authority

Minimum CCG
Contribution

Private Sector iBCF

Low

High

LA

CCG

LA

Medium

High

Not applicable Community
Health

CCG

Social Care

Medium

High

Not applicable Community
Health

LA

Charity /
Voluntary
Sector
Local
Authority

High

Medium

Not
applicable

Low

LA

High

Telecare

Not applicable Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not applicable Social Care

CCG

73.0 Not applicable High

Other approaches Reduce acute
pressures

Not applicable Not
applicable

Low

Not applicable Other

LA

Charity /
Voluntary
Sector
Local
Authority

Low

£256,250 Existing

Integrated models
of provision

Medium

High

Social Care

LA

£50,000 New

£114,000 New

Private Sector Minimum CCG
Contribution

£196,029 New

iBCF

Minimum CCG
Contribution

£20,000 New

£900,000 New

iBCF

£20,000 New

CCG

Minimum CCG
Contribution

iBCF

£1,367,882 New

Integrated models
of provision

Not applicable High

Not
applicable

Low

Social Care

CCG

Social Care

Social Prescribing

Not applicable Not
applicable

Low

High

Social care

Low

Deprivation of
Liberty Safeguards
(DoLS)
Integrated models
of provision

Medium

High

High

Packages

Not applicable Not
applicable

Legal

Social Prescribing

Not applicable High

High

Chg 1. Early
Discharge
Planning
Chg 1. Early
Discharge
Planning

Not applicable High

HICM for
Chg 4. Home First
Managing
/ Discharge to
Transfer of Care Access
HICM for
Chg 6. Trusted
Managing
Assessors
Transfer of Care
Home Care or
Maintaining
Domiciliary Care
levels of
funding to the
Community Based
Maintaining
Schemes
levels of
funding for
Other approaches Contingency

37

49

48

47

46

45

44

43

42

41

40

39

38

Contingency (High
Mitigation of financial HICM for
Impact Changes)
risk associated with
Managing
activity above plan
Transfer of Care
Provider inflation
Funding to support
Home Care or
stability of local care
Domiciliary Care
care market
Demographic growth
Provision to support the Home Care or
complex care needs of a Domiciliary Care
growing adult
Care Act
Increased use of
Assistive
implementation
Telecare to support care Technologies and
at home
Equipment
Winter Pressures Grant Funding aligned to
HICM for
system-wide plans to
Managing
support pressure on
Transfer of Care
Provider Alliance
Programme resource to Enablers for
development - LBL
support the
Integration
contribution
development of
Programme resources to Enablers for
Provider Alliance
support the
Integration
development - CCG
development of
contribution
SAIL Connections
A preventative social
Prevention / Early
prescribing project
Intervention
aiming to improve the
Deprivation of Liberty
Support to manage the Care Act
Safeguards (DOLS)
increase in requests for Implementation
DOLS authoristions
Related Duties
Provider Alliance
Independent legal
Enablers for
independent advice
advice to support the
Integration
development of
Social Prescribing
Funding support to the Prevention / Early
activity
VCSE to provide
Intervention
additional social
DTOC support
Social work resource to HICM for
support patient flow and Managing
reduce length of stay
Transfer of Care
DTOC support
Social work resource to HICM for
support patient flow and Managing
reduce length of stay
Transfer of Care

Page 80

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template
7. High Impact Change Model
Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Lewisham

Explain your priorities for embedding elements of the High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfers of Care locally, including:
- Current performance issues to be addressed
- The changes that you are looking to embed further - including any changes in the context of commitments to reablement and Enhanced Health in Care
Homes in the NHS Long-Term Plan
- Anticipated improvements from this work
Change 1 – Early Discharge Planning
Early discharge planning is supported by the use of expected date of discharge (EDD), however further work is underway to ensure consistency across all
wards. In elective care, planning should begin before admission. In emergency or unscheduled care, robust systems need to be in place to develop plans for
management and discharge, and to allow an EDD to be set within 48 hours. In order to achieve a more proactive discharge focus on wards, a number of
actions are planned for implementation in 2019/20:

Please enter current
position of maturity

Please enter the
If the planned maturity level for 2019/20 is below established,
maturity level planned please state reasons behind that?
to be reached by March
2020

Established

Established

Early discharge planning
Chg 1

Chg 2

Systems to monitor patient
flow

Established

Established

Chg 3

Multi-disciplinary/Multiagency discharge teams

Established

Established

Chg 4

Home first / discharge to
assess

Established

Established

Established

Established

Established

Established

Established

Established

Established

Established

Seven-day service
Chg 5
Trusted assessors
Chg 6
Focus on choice
Chg 7

Chg 8

Enhancing health in care
homes

Page 81

8. Metrics

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template
Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Collection of the NEA metric
plans via this template is not
required as the BCF NEA metric
plans are based on the NEA CCG
Operating plans submitted via
SDCS.

19/20 Plan

8.1 Non-Elective Admissions

Total number of
specific acute
non-elective
spells per
100,000
population

Lewisham

Overview Narrative
Lewisham met its Non Elective Admissions for 2018-19. However this was not the case
for M1-M4 in 2019/20. Non Elective Admissions for Lewisham CCG are running at
8.6% over plan (6.6% year on year with plans to reduce admissions this year).
However, this is dominated by short stay admissions (length of stay less than a day) of
23.3% over plan. Admissions with length of stay over 1 day are 2.9% over plan (0.3%
year on year growth). Admissions with length of stay over 7 days have reduced by
2.9% year on year.
The major schemes to tackle emergency admissions are Respiratory and UTI.

Please set out the overall plan in the HWB area for
reducing Non-Elective Admissions, including any
assessment of how the schemes and enabling activity for
Health and Social Care Integration are expected to impact
on the metric.

Please set out the overall plan in the HWB area for
reducing Delayed Transfers of Care to meet expectations
set for your area. This should include any assessment of
how the schemes and enabling activity for Health and
Social Care Integration are expected to impact on the
metric. Include in this, your agreed plan for using the
Winter Pressures grant funding to support the local health
and care system to manage demand pressures on the
NHS, with particular reference to seasonal winter
pressures.

Plans are yet to be finalised and signed-off so are subject to change; for the latest version of the NEA CCG operating plans at your HWB footprint please contact your local Better Care Manager (BCM)
in the first instance or write in to the support inbox:
ENGLAND.bettercaresupport@nhs.net

8.2 Delayed Transfers of Care

Delayed Transfers of Care per day
(daily delays) from hospital (aged
18+)

19/20 Plan Overview Narrative
Lewisham is currently below the joint DTOC target of 15.3 bed days and this has been
the case since February 2019. However, this level of performance has been
maintained despite the increase in people presenting with complex co-morbidities,
including Dementia. A number of schemes will continue to be funded through the
BCF/IBCF in 2019/20 to support activity to reduce length of stay and delayed transfers
15.3
of care, primarily schemes 17 and 33, but also through schemes which support activity
in the community such as enablement. This activity includes that which supports
people to return to their own homes and also that which enables a transfer to a
residential or nursing placement. Focus continues on DToCs and LoS through daily
'white board' meetings on the wards and bi-weekly 'Get Me Home' meetings.

Please note that the plan figure for Greater Manchester has been combined, for HWBs in Greater Manchester please comment on individuals HWBs rather than Greater Manchester as a whole.
Please note that due to the merger of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole to a new Local Authority will mean that planning information from 2018/19 will not reflect the present geographies.

Page 82

8.3 Residential Admissions

Long-term support needs of older
people (age 65 and over) met by
admission to residential and
nursing care homes, per 100,000
population
Annual Rate
Numerator
Denominator

18/19 Plan
555
158
28,481

19/20 Plan Comments
Please set out the overall plan in the HWB area for
Lewisham continues to work towards reducing
reducing rates of admission to residential and nursing
546 placements in residential settings. A range of Extra Care
homes for people over the age of 65, including any
provision exists within the borough which is considered
assessment of how the schemes and enabling activity for
158 before a placement is sought. In 2019/20, additional IBCF
Health and Social Care Integration are expected to impact
funding has been allocated to fund domiciliary care
on the metric.
28,947 packages to support people to remain independent and

Long-term support needs of older people (age 65 and over) met by admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population (aged 65+) population projections are based on a calendar
year using the 2016 based Sub-National Population Projections for Local Authorities in England;

Please set out the overall plan in the HWB area for
18/19 Plan
19/20 Plan Comments
Lewisham continues to perform well in supporting people increasing the proportion of older people who are still at
home 91 days after discharge from hospital into
90.0%
92.9% to remain at home 91 days post discharge and the
Enablement Service was recently rated good by CQC. A reablement/rehabilitation, including any assessment of
how the schemes and enabling activity for Health and
108
169 review of Enablement was undertaken in 2018 and
identified opportunities to strengthen key processes and Social Care Integration are expected to impact on the
metric.
182 develop greater collaborative working. In 2019-20, a
120

Please note that due to the merger of the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Authorities, this will mean that planning information from 2018/19 will not reflect the present geographies.

8.4 Reablement

Proportion of older people (65 and Annual (%)
over) who were still at home 91
days after discharge from hospital Numerator
into reablement / rehabilitation
services
Denominator

Please note that due to the merger of the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Authorities, this will mean that planning information from 2018/19 will not reflect the present geographies.

Page 83

Better Care Fund 2019/20 Template
9. Confirmation of Planning Requirements

Planning Requirement

A jointly developed and agreed plan
that all parties sign up to

Lewisham

Key considerations for meeting the planning requirement
These are the Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs) underpinning the Planning Requirements (PR)

Has a plan; jointly developed and agreed between CCG(s) and LA; been submitted?
Has the HWB approved the plan/delegated approval pending its next meeting?
Have local partners, including providers, VCS representatives and local authority service leads (including housing and DFG leads) been
involved in the development of the plan?
Do the governance arrangements described support collaboration and integrated care?
Where the strategic narrative section of the plan has been agreed across more than one HWB, have individual income, expenditure,
metric and HICM sections of the plan been submitted for each HWB concerned?

Please confirm
whether your
BCF plan meets
the Planning
Requirement?

Yes

PR2

A clear narrative for the integration of Is there a narrative plan for the HWB that describes the approach to delivering integrated health and social care that covers:
health and social care
- Person centred care, including approaches to delivering joint assessments, promoting choice, independence and personalised care?
- A clear approach at HWB level for integrating services that supports the overall approach to integrated care and confirmation that the
approach supports delivery at the interface between health and social care?
- A description of how the local BCF plan and other integration plans e.g. STP/ICSs align?
- Is there a description of how the plan will contribute to reducing health inequalities (as per section 4 of the Health and Social Care Act)
and to reduce inequalities for people with protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010? This should include confirmation that
equality impacts of the local BCF plan have been considered, a description of local priorities related to health inequality and equality that Yes
the BCF plan will contribute to addressing.
Has the plan summarised any changes from the previous planning period? And noted (where appropriate) any lessons learnt?

PR5

PR4

Is there a plan for implementing the
High Impact Change Model for
managing transfers of care?

Has the area committed to spend at
equal to or above the minimum
allocation for NHS commissioned out
of hospital services from the CCG
minimum BCF contribution?

Does the total spend from the CCG minimum contribution on non-acute, NHS commissioned care exceed the minimum ringfence (autovalidated on the planning template)?

A demonstration of how the area will Does the total spend from the CCG minimum contribution on social care match or exceed the minimum required contribution (automaintain the level of spending on
validated on the planning template)?
social care services from the CCG
minimum contribution to the fund in
line with the uplift in the overall
contribution

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

A strategic, joined up plan for DFG
spending

PR6

Does the BCF plan demonstrate a continued plan in place for implementing the High Impact Change Model for Managing Transfers
of Care?
Has the area confirmed the current level of implementation and the planned level at March 2020 for all eight changes?
Is there an accompanying overall narrative setting out the priorities and approach for ongoing implementation of the HICM?
Does the level of ambition set out for implementing the HICM changes correspond to performance challenges in the system?
If the current level of implementation is below established for any of the HICM changes, has the plan included a clear explanation and
set of actions towards establishing the change as soon as possible in 2019-20?

Is there confirmation that use of DFG has been agreed with housing authorities?
Does the narrative set out a strategic approach to using housing support, including use of DFG funding that supports independence at
home.
In two tier areas, has:
- Agreement been reached on the amount of DFG funding to be passed to district councils to cover statutory Disabled Facilities Grants?
or
- The funding been passed in its entirety to district councils?

PR3

PR1

Code

Selected Health and Wellbeing Board:

Theme

NC1: Jointly agreed plan

NC2: Social Care
Maintenance

NC3: NHS commissioned
Out of Hospital Services

NC4: Implementation of
the High Impact Change
Model for Managing
Transfers of Care

Please note any supporting
documents referred to and
relevant page numbers to
assist the assurers

Where the Planning
requirement is not met,
please note the actions in
place towards meeting the
requirement

Where the Planning
requirement is not met,
please note the anticipated
timeframe for meeting it

Page 84

Agreed expenditure
plan for all elements of
the BCF

Metrics

PR9

PR8

PR7

Does the plan set stretching metrics
and are there clear and ambitious
plans for delivering these?

Indication of outputs for specified
scheme types

Is there a clear narrative for each metric describing the approach locally to meeting the ambition set for that metric?
Is there a proportionate range of scheme types and spend included in the expenditure section of the plan to support delivery of the
metric ambitions for each of the metrics?
Do the narrative plans for each metric set out clear and ambitious approaches to delivering improvements?
Have stretching metrics been agreed locally for:
- Metric 2: Long term admission to residential and nursing care homes
- Metric 3: Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement

Has the area set out the outputs corresponding to the planned scheme types (Note that this is only for where any of the specified set of
scheme types requiring outputs are planned)? (auto-validated)

Is there a confirmation that the
Have the planned schemes been assigned to the metrics they are aiming to make an impact on?
components of the Better Care Fund Expenditure plans for each element of the BCF pool match the funding inputs? (auto-validated)
pool that are earmarked for a purpose Is there confirmation that the use of grant funding is in line with the relevant grant conditions? (tick-box)
are being planned to be used for that Is there an agreed plan for use of the Winter Pressures grant that sets out how the money will be used to address expected demand
purpose?
pressures on the Health system over Winter?
Has funding for the following from the CCG contribution been identified for the area?
- Implementation of Care Act duties?
- Funding dedicated to carer-specific support?
- Reablement?

Yes

Yes

Yes

Page 85

CCG to Health and Well-Being Board Mapping for 2019/20
HWB Code
E09000002
E09000002
E09000002
E09000002
E09000002
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E09000003
E08000016
E08000016
E08000016
E08000016
E08000016
E08000016
E06000022
E06000022
E06000022
E06000022
E06000055
E06000055
E06000055
E09000004
E09000004
E09000004
E09000004
E09000004
E08000025
E08000025
E08000025
E08000025
E08000025
E06000008
E06000008
E06000008
E06000008
E06000009
E06000009
E08000001
E08000001
E08000001
E08000001
E08000001
E06000058
E06000058
E06000036
E06000036
E06000036
E06000036
E08000032
E08000032
E08000032
E08000032
E08000032
E08000032
E09000005
E09000005
E09000005
E09000005
E09000005
E09000005
E09000005
E09000005
E06000043
E06000043
E06000043
E06000023
E06000023
E09000006
E09000006
E09000006
E09000006
E09000006
E09000006
E09000006
E09000006

LA Name
Barking and Dagenham
Barking and Dagenham
Barking and Dagenham
Barking and Dagenham
Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnet
Barnsley
Barnsley
Barnsley
Barnsley
Barnsley
Barnsley
Bath and North East Somerset
Bath and North East Somerset
Bath and North East Somerset
Bath and North East Somerset
Bedford
Bedford
Bedford
Bexley
Bexley
Bexley
Bexley
Bexley
Birmingham
Birmingham
Birmingham
Birmingham
Birmingham
Blackburn with Darwen
Blackburn with Darwen
Blackburn with Darwen
Blackburn with Darwen
Blackpool
Blackpool
Bolton
Bolton
Bolton
Bolton
Bolton
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole
Bracknell Forest
Bracknell Forest
Bracknell Forest
Bracknell Forest
Bradford
Bradford
Bradford
Bradford
Bradford
Bradford
Brent
Brent
Brent
Brent
Brent
Brent
Brent
Brent
Brighton and Hove
Brighton and Hove
Brighton and Hove
Bristol, City of
Bristol, City of
Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Bromley

CCG Code
07L
08F
08M
08N
08W
07M
07P
07R
09A
07X
08C
08D
08E
06N
08H
08Y
02P
02X
03A
03L
03N
03R
11E
15C
11X
99N
06F
06H
04G
07N
07Q
09J
08A
08L
15E
05C
05J
05L
05Y
00Q
00T
00V
01A
00R
02M
00T
00V
00X
01G
02H
11J
11A
15A
15D
99M
10C
02N
02W
02R
02T
15F
03J
07M
07P
07R
09A
07W
08C
08E
08Y
09D
09G
99K
11E
15C
07N
07Q
07V
08A
08C
08K
08L
99J

CCG Name
NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG
NHS Havering CCG
NHS Newham CCG
NHS Redbridge CCG
NHS Waltham Forest CCG
NHS Barnet CCG
NHS Brent CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Enfield CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Haringey CCG
NHS Harrow CCG
NHS Herts Valleys CCG
NHS Islington CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Barnsley CCG
NHS Doncaster CCG
NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG
NHS Rotherham CCG
NHS Sheffield CCG
NHS Wakefield CCG
NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Somerset CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS Nene CCG
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Birmingham and Solihull CCG
NHS Dudley CCG
NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG
NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
NHS Walsall CCG
NHS Blackburn with Darwen CCG
NHS Bolton CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS East Lancashire CCG
NHS Blackpool CCG
NHS Fylde & Wyre CCG
NHS Bolton CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS Chorley and South Ribble CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS Wigan Borough CCG
NHS Dorset CCG
NHS West Hampshire CCG
NHS Berkshire West CCG
NHS East Berkshire CCG
NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG
NHS Surrey Heath CCG
NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG
NHS Bradford City CCG
NHS Bradford Districts CCG
NHS Calderdale CCG
NHS Leeds CCG
NHS North Kirklees CCG
NHS Barnet CCG
NHS Brent CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Ealing CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Harrow CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Brighton and Hove CCG
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG
NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG
NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS West Kent CCG

Page 86

% CCG in HWB % HWB in CCG
90.7%
87.4%
6.9%
8.3%
0.4%
0.6%
2.5%
3.5%
0.1%
0.1%
91.1%
92.1%
2.0%
1.8%
1.0%
0.7%
0.2%
0.1%
3.0%
2.4%
0.3%
0.2%
2.2%
1.6%
1.2%
0.8%
0.0%
0.1%
0.2%
0.1%
0.2%
0.1%
94.6%
98.1%
0.3%
0.4%
0.2%
0.2%
0.3%
0.3%
0.2%
0.4%
0.4%
0.6%
93.5%
98.3%
0.2%
0.9%
0.2%
0.5%
0.1%
0.3%
37.7%
97.4%
0.4%
1.9%
0.2%
0.6%
93.4%
89.8%
0.1%
0.1%
1.4%
1.5%
7.2%
8.4%
0.1%
0.1%
78.4%
81.7%
0.2%
0.0%
3.1%
0.4%
39.2%
17.8%
0.5%
0.1%
88.9%
95.8%
1.2%
2.3%
0.2%
0.2%
0.7%
1.7%
86.4%
97.6%
2.1%
2.4%
97.3%
97.5%
1.5%
1.0%
0.2%
0.1%
0.6%
0.5%
0.8%
0.9%
52.4%
99.7%
0.2%
0.3%
0.5%
2.0%
26.1%
96.9%
0.6%
1.0%
0.2%
0.1%
67.2%
18.4%
98.9%
23.9%
98.0%
56.3%
0.2%
0.0%
0.9%
1.4%
0.2%
0.0%
2.3%
2.4%
89.7%
86.4%
3.9%
2.8%
1.3%
0.7%
0.5%
0.6%
0.6%
0.4%
5.9%
4.0%
4.3%
2.7%
97.9%
99.7%
0.1%
0.2%
0.3%
0.1%
0.1%
0.0%
49.3%
100.0%
0.2%
0.1%
94.6%
95.1%
1.2%
1.4%
1.4%
1.2%
0.1%
0.0%
0.1%
0.2%
1.9%
1.8%
0.1%
0.2%

E10000002
E10000002
E10000002
E10000002
E10000002
E10000002
E10000002
E10000002
E08000002
E08000002
E08000002
E08000002
E08000002
E08000002
E08000033
E08000033
E08000033
E08000033
E10000003
E10000003
E10000003
E10000003
E10000003
E10000003
E10000003
E09000007
E09000007
E09000007
E09000007
E09000007
E09000007
E09000007
E09000007
E06000056
E06000056
E06000056
E06000056
E06000056
E06000056
E06000049
E06000049
E06000049
E06000049
E06000049
E06000049
E06000049
E06000049
E06000049
E06000050
E06000050
E06000050
E06000050
E06000050
E06000050
E06000050
E09000001
E09000001
E09000001
E09000001
E09000001
E09000001
E09000001
E06000052
E06000052
E06000047
E06000047
E06000047
E06000047
E06000047
E06000047
E08000026
E08000026
E09000008
E09000008
E09000008
E09000008
E09000008
E09000008
E09000008
E09000008

Buckinghamshire
Buckinghamshire
Buckinghamshire
Buckinghamshire
Buckinghamshire
Buckinghamshire
Buckinghamshire
Buckinghamshire
Bury
Bury
Bury
Bury
Bury
Bury
Calderdale
Calderdale
Calderdale
Calderdale
Cambridgeshire
Cambridgeshire
Cambridgeshire
Cambridgeshire
Cambridgeshire
Cambridgeshire
Cambridgeshire
Camden
Camden
Camden
Camden
Camden
Camden
Camden
Camden
Central Bedfordshire
Central Bedfordshire
Central Bedfordshire
Central Bedfordshire
Central Bedfordshire
Central Bedfordshire
Cheshire East
Cheshire East
Cheshire East
Cheshire East
Cheshire East
Cheshire East
Cheshire East
Cheshire East
Cheshire East
Cheshire West and Chester
Cheshire West and Chester
Cheshire West and Chester
Cheshire West and Chester
Cheshire West and Chester
Cheshire West and Chester
Cheshire West and Chester
City of London
City of London
City of London
City of London
City of London
City of London
City of London
Cornwall & Scilly
Cornwall & Scilly
County Durham
County Durham
County Durham
County Durham
County Durham
County Durham
Coventry
Coventry
Croydon
Croydon
Croydon
Croydon
Croydon
Croydon
Croydon
Croydon

06F
14Y
15D
06N
08G
04F
04G
10Q
00T
00V
01A
01D
14L
01G
02R
02T
03A
01D
06F
06H
06K
99D
07H
07J
07K
07M
07P
07R
09A
08C
08D
08H
08Y
06F
14Y
06K
06N
06P
04F
15M
01C
05G
01R
01W
02A
02D
02E
02F
01C
01F
01R
02D
02E
02F
12F
07R
09A
07T
08C
08H
08V
08Y
15N
11N
00D
03D
00K
13T
00J
00P
05A
05H
07Q
07V
09L
08C
08K
08R
08T
08X

NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Buckinghamshire CCG
NHS East Berkshire CCG
NHS Herts Valleys CCG
NHS Hillingdon CCG
NHS Milton Keynes CCG
NHS Nene CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS Bolton CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS East Lancashire CCG
NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS Bradford Districts CCG
NHS Calderdale CCG
NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG
NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG
NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
NHS South Lincolnshire CCG
NHS West Essex CCG
NHS West Norfolk CCG
NHS West Suffolk CCG
NHS Barnet CCG
NHS Brent CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Haringey CCG
NHS Islington CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Buckinghamshire CCG
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
NHS Herts Valleys CCG
NHS Luton CCG
NHS Milton Keynes CCG
NHS Derby and Derbyshire CCG
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
NHS North Staffordshire CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Stockport CCG
NHS Trafford CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Warrington CCG
NHS West Cheshire CCG
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
NHS Halton CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Warrington CCG
NHS West Cheshire CCG
NHS Wirral CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS City and Hackney CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Islington CCG
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Devon CCG
NHS Kernow CCG
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG
NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG
NHS North Durham CCG
NHS Sunderland CCG
NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG
NHS Warwickshire North CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
NHS East Surrey CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Merton CCG
NHS Sutton CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG

Page 87

0.6%
94.4%
1.4%
1.2%
0.7%
1.3%
0.1%
0.6%
0.8%
94.0%
0.0%
0.4%
0.6%
1.4%
0.4%
98.4%
0.3%
0.1%
1.1%
71.8%
0.8%
0.3%
0.2%
1.6%
4.0%
0.2%
1.3%
83.9%
5.6%
0.4%
0.5%
3.2%
0.3%
56.6%
0.8%
0.3%
0.4%
2.3%
0.1%
0.1%
96.4%
1.1%
98.6%
1.6%
0.2%
0.6%
0.7%
1.9%
1.2%
0.2%
0.5%
99.4%
0.4%
96.9%
0.3%
0.2%
0.1%
1.8%
0.0%
0.1%
0.4%
0.0%
0.3%
99.7%
97.0%
0.1%
0.1%
0.7%
96.7%
1.2%
74.5%
0.4%
1.6%
95.3%
2.9%
0.2%
3.0%
0.8%
0.8%
0.5%

0.5%
94.9%
1.2%
1.4%
0.4%
0.7%
0.2%
0.7%
1.2%
94.3%
0.2%
0.5%
2.0%
1.9%
0.6%
98.9%
0.3%
0.1%
0.7%
96.7%
0.7%
0.0%
0.1%
0.4%
1.4%
0.3%
1.9%
88.9%
4.8%
0.3%
0.6%
3.0%
0.2%
95.0%
1.5%
0.6%
0.9%
1.9%
0.1%
0.3%
50.2%
0.6%
45.8%
1.2%
0.1%
0.2%
0.4%
1.2%
0.7%
0.0%
0.2%
29.5%
0.3%
69.1%
0.3%
7.0%
2.5%
70.4%
1.2%
3.6%
15.0%
0.2%
0.6%
99.4%
52.4%
0.0%
0.0%
0.7%
46.3%
0.6%
99.8%
0.2%
1.3%
93.2%
1.3%
0.0%
3.0%
0.4%
0.4%
0.5%

E10000006
E10000006
E06000005
E06000005
E06000005
E06000005
E06000015
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000007
E10000008
E10000008
E10000008
E10000008
E08000017
E08000017
E08000017
E08000017
E08000017
E06000059
E06000059
E06000059
E06000059
E08000027
E08000027
E08000027
E08000027
E08000027
E09000009
E09000009
E09000009
E09000009
E09000009
E09000009
E09000009
E09000009
E06000011
E06000011
E06000011
E06000011
E10000011
E10000011
E10000011
E10000011
E10000011
E10000011
E09000010
E09000010
E09000010
E09000010
E09000010
E09000010
E09000010
E09000010
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012
E10000012

Cumbria
Cumbria
Darlington
Darlington
Darlington
Darlington
Derby
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Derbyshire
Devon
Devon
Devon
Devon
Doncaster
Doncaster
Doncaster
Doncaster
Doncaster
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dudley
Dudley
Dudley
Dudley
Dudley
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
East Riding of Yorkshire
East Riding of Yorkshire
East Riding of Yorkshire
East Riding of Yorkshire
East Sussex
East Sussex
East Sussex
East Sussex
East Sussex
East Sussex
Enfield
Enfield
Enfield
Enfield
Enfield
Enfield
Enfield
Enfield
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex
Essex

01K
01H
00C
00D
03D
00K
15M
02Q
15M
05D
01C
04E
04L
04M
03N
01W
01Y
04V
15N
11J
11N
11X
02P
02Q
02X
03L
03R
11J
11X
11A
99N
15E
05C
05L
06A
06D
07P
09A
07W
08C
08E
08G
07Y
08Y
02Y
03F
03M
03Q
09D
09F
09P
99K
09X
99J
07M
07T
06K
07X
08C
08D
06N
08H
07L
99E
06H
99F
06K
08F
06L
06Q
06T
08N
99G
07G
08W
07H
07K

NHS Morecambe Bay CCG
NHS North Cumbria CCG
NHS Darlington CCG
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG
NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG
NHS Derby and Derbyshire CCG
NHS Bassetlaw CCG
NHS Derby and Derbyshire CCG
NHS East Staffordshire CCG
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
NHS Mansfield and Ashfield CCG
NHS Nottingham North and East CCG
NHS Nottingham West CCG
NHS Sheffield CCG
NHS Stockport CCG
NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
NHS West Leicestershire CCG
NHS Devon CCG
NHS Dorset CCG
NHS Kernow CCG
NHS Somerset CCG
NHS Barnsley CCG
NHS Bassetlaw CCG
NHS Doncaster CCG
NHS Rotherham CCG
NHS Wakefield CCG
NHS Dorset CCG
NHS Somerset CCG
NHS West Hampshire CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Birmingham and Solihull CCG
NHS Dudley CCG
NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
NHS Wolverhampton CCG
NHS Wyre Forest CCG
NHS Brent CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Ealing CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Harrow CCG
NHS Hillingdon CCG
NHS Hounslow CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG
NHS Hull CCG
NHS Scarborough and Ryedale CCG
NHS Vale of York CCG
NHS Brighton and Hove CCG
NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG
NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG
NHS West Kent CCG
NHS Barnet CCG
NHS City and Hackney CCG
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
NHS Enfield CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Haringey CCG
NHS Herts Valleys CCG
NHS Islington CCG
NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG
NHS Basildon and Brentwood CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS Castle Point and Rochford CCG
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
NHS Havering CCG
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
NHS Mid Essex CCG
NHS North East Essex CCG
NHS Redbridge CCG
NHS Southend CCG
NHS Thurrock CCG
NHS Waltham Forest CCG
NHS West Essex CCG
NHS West Suffolk CCG

Page 88

54.0%
99.9%
98.2%
1.2%
0.1%
0.2%
26.5%
0.2%
70.9%
7.9%
0.3%
2.1%
0.3%
5.1%
0.5%
0.1%
13.9%
0.5%
65.7%
0.3%
0.3%
0.4%
0.3%
1.5%
96.8%
1.5%
0.1%
46.0%
0.6%
1.7%
0.7%
0.1%
93.3%
3.9%
1.8%
0.8%
1.8%
0.2%
86.9%
5.5%
0.4%
0.7%
4.7%
0.7%
97.3%
9.2%
0.7%
6.6%
1.0%
100.0%
99.7%
98.1%
2.8%
0.8%
1.0%
0.1%
0.3%
95.2%
0.1%
7.7%
0.1%
0.2%
0.1%
99.8%
0.1%
95.2%
1.6%
0.3%
0.2%
100.0%
98.6%
2.9%
3.3%
1.4%
0.5%
97.1%
2.3%

36.6%
63.4%
96.1%
3.2%
0.2%
0.6%
100.0%
0.0%
92.6%
1.4%
0.0%
0.5%
0.0%
0.6%
0.4%
0.0%
4.3%
0.2%
99.2%
0.3%
0.2%
0.3%
0.3%
0.6%
97.8%
1.2%
0.2%
95.6%
0.9%
2.5%
1.0%
0.6%
90.7%
6.9%
1.5%
0.3%
1.6%
0.1%
90.4%
3.1%
0.3%
0.5%
3.5%
0.4%
85.1%
7.9%
0.2%
6.8%
0.6%
34.7%
33.3%
29.6%
1.2%
0.7%
1.2%
0.1%
0.6%
90.9%
0.0%
6.9%
0.2%
0.1%
0.0%
18.2%
0.0%
11.5%
0.6%
0.0%
0.0%
25.5%
22.7%
0.6%
0.4%
0.2%
0.1%
19.8%
0.4%

E08000037
E08000037
E08000037
E08000037
E08000037
E10000013
E10000013
E10000013
E10000013
E10000013
E10000013
E10000013
E09000011
E09000011
E09000011
E09000011
E09000011
E09000011
E09000012
E09000012
E09000012
E09000012
E09000012
E09000012
E09000012
E06000006
E06000006
E06000006
E06000006
E06000006
E09000013
E09000013
E09000013
E09000013
E09000013
E09000013
E09000013
E09000013
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E10000014
E09000014
E09000014
E09000014
E09000014
E09000014
E09000014
E09000014
E09000014
E09000015
E09000015
E09000015
E09000015
E09000015
E09000015
E09000015
E09000015

Gateshead
Gateshead
Gateshead
Gateshead
Gateshead
Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire
Greenwich
Greenwich
Greenwich
Greenwich
Greenwich
Greenwich
Hackney
Hackney
Hackney
Hackney
Hackney
Hackney
Hackney
Halton
Halton
Halton
Halton
Halton
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Hampshire
Haringey
Haringey
Haringey
Haringey
Haringey
Haringey
Haringey
Haringey
Harrow
Harrow
Harrow
Harrow
Harrow
Harrow
Harrow
Harrow

13T
00J
00L
00N
00P
15C
11M
05F
10Q
05R
05T
99N
07N
07Q
08A
08C
08L
08Q
07R
09A
07T
08C
08D
08H
08V
01F
01J
99A
02E
02F
07P
07R
09A
07W
08C
07Y
08X
08Y
15A
09G
11J
15D
10K
09N
99M
10J
10R
10V
10X
10C
11A
99N
07M
07R
09A
07T
07X
08C
08D
08H
07M
07P
07W
08C
08E
06N
08G
08Y

NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG
NHS North Durham CCG
NHS Northumberland CCG
NHS South Tyneside CCG
NHS Sunderland CCG
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Herefordshire CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS South Warwickshire CCG
NHS South Worcestershire CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Southwark CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS City and Hackney CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Haringey CCG
NHS Islington CCG
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
NHS Halton CCG
NHS Knowsley CCG
NHS Liverpool CCG
NHS Warrington CCG
NHS West Cheshire CCG
NHS Brent CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Ealing CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Hounslow CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Berkshire West CCG
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG
NHS Dorset CCG
NHS East Berkshire CCG
NHS Fareham and Gosport CCG
NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG
NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG
NHS North Hampshire CCG
NHS Portsmouth CCG
NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG
NHS Southampton CCG
NHS Surrey Heath CCG
NHS West Hampshire CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Barnet CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS City and Hackney CCG
NHS Enfield CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Haringey CCG
NHS Islington CCG
NHS Barnet CCG
NHS Brent CCG
NHS Ealing CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Harrow CCG
NHS Herts Valleys CCG
NHS Hillingdon CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG

Page 89

38.5%
0.9%
0.5%
0.3%
0.0%
0.1%
97.6%
0.5%
0.2%
0.6%
1.1%
0.2%
5.1%
1.1%
89.2%
0.2%
4.4%
0.1%
0.7%
0.2%
90.2%
0.5%
0.6%
4.6%
0.5%
98.2%
0.2%
0.3%
0.7%
0.6%
0.3%
0.1%
2.5%
0.6%
82.8%
0.5%
0.2%
6.5%
1.7%
0.2%
0.5%
0.2%
98.5%
2.9%
76.5%
99.2%
4.4%
95.6%
5.1%
0.8%
97.7%
1.3%
1.0%
0.6%
0.1%
3.1%
1.3%
0.4%
87.7%
2.5%
4.3%
3.6%
1.3%
0.1%
89.7%
0.2%
1.8%
0.1%

97.7%
1.2%
0.8%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
98.6%
0.1%
0.2%
0.2%
0.5%
0.2%
4.2%
1.3%
89.3%
0.2%
4.9%
0.1%
0.7%
0.2%
93.8%
0.4%
0.7%
3.7%
0.6%
96.5%
0.3%
1.1%
1.1%
1.1%
0.5%
0.1%
2.5%
1.1%
87.6%
0.7%
0.3%
7.2%
0.6%
0.1%
0.3%
0.0%
14.3%
0.5%
12.4%
15.9%
0.7%
14.6%
1.0%
0.0%
39.1%
0.4%
1.4%
0.6%
0.1%
3.2%
1.4%
0.3%
91.0%
2.1%
6.4%
4.8%
2.1%
0.0%
84.1%
0.5%
2.0%
0.1%

E06000001
E06000001
E09000016
E09000016
E09000016
E09000016
E09000016
E06000019
E06000019
E06000019
E06000019
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E10000015
E09000017
E09000017
E09000017
E09000017
E09000017
E09000017
E09000018
E09000018
E09000018
E09000018
E09000018
E09000018
E09000018
E06000046
E09000019
E09000019
E09000019
E09000019
E09000019
E09000019
E09000020
E09000020
E09000020
E09000020
E09000020
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E10000016
E06000010
E06000010
E09000021
E09000021
E09000021
E09000021
E09000021
E09000021
E08000034
E08000034
E08000034
E08000034
E08000034
E08000034
E08000034

Hartlepool
Hartlepool
Havering
Havering
Havering
Havering
Havering
Herefordshire, County of
Herefordshire, County of
Herefordshire, County of
Herefordshire, County of
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Hillingdon
Hillingdon
Hillingdon
Hillingdon
Hillingdon
Hillingdon
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Isle of Wight
Islington
Islington
Islington
Islington
Islington
Islington
Kensington and Chelsea
Kensington and Chelsea
Kensington and Chelsea
Kensington and Chelsea
Kensington and Chelsea
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kent
Kingston upon Hull, City of
Kingston upon Hull, City of
Kingston upon Thames
Kingston upon Thames
Kingston upon Thames
Kingston upon Thames
Kingston upon Thames
Kingston upon Thames
Kirklees
Kirklees
Kirklees
Kirklees
Kirklees
Kirklees
Kirklees

00D
00K
07L
08F
08M
08N
07G
11M
05F
05N
05T
07M
06F
14Y
06H
06K
07X
08E
06N
08G
06P
07H
14Y
07W
08C
08E
08G
07Y
07W
08C
08G
07Y
09Y
08P
08Y
10L
07R
09A
07T
08C
08D
08H
07P
07R
09A
08C
08Y
09C
07N
07Q
09E
09J
09L
08A
09P
99K
09W
10A
10D
10E
99J
02Y
03F
08J
08R
08P
99H
08T
08X
02P
02R
02T
03A
15F
03J
03R

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG
NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG
NHS Havering CCG
NHS Newham CCG
NHS Redbridge CCG
NHS Thurrock CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Herefordshire CCG
NHS Shropshire CCG
NHS South Worcestershire CCG
NHS Barnet CCG
NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Buckinghamshire CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
NHS Enfield CCG
NHS Harrow CCG
NHS Herts Valleys CCG
NHS Hillingdon CCG
NHS Luton CCG
NHS West Essex CCG
NHS Buckinghamshire CCG
NHS Ealing CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Harrow CCG
NHS Hillingdon CCG
NHS Hounslow CCG
NHS Ealing CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Hillingdon CCG
NHS Hounslow CCG
NHS North West Surrey CCG
NHS Richmond CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Isle of Wight CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS City and Hackney CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Haringey CCG
NHS Islington CCG
NHS Brent CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Ashford CCG
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG
NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG
NHS East Surrey CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Hastings and Rother CCG
NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG
NHS Medway CCG
NHS South Kent Coast CCG
NHS Swale CCG
NHS Thanet CCG
NHS West Kent CCG
NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG
NHS Hull CCG
NHS Kingston CCG
NHS Merton CCG
NHS Richmond CCG
NHS Surrey Downs CCG
NHS Sutton CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS Barnsley CCG
NHS Bradford Districts CCG
NHS Calderdale CCG
NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG
NHS Leeds CCG
NHS North Kirklees CCG
NHS Wakefield CCG

Page 90

0.2%
32.4%
3.5%
91.7%
0.1%
0.6%
0.1%
0.3%
98.2%
0.3%
0.8%
0.2%
0.1%
0.2%
2.1%
97.0%
0.5%
0.6%
98.0%
2.2%
0.4%
0.8%
0.0%
5.2%
0.5%
2.2%
94.3%
1.1%
5.4%
1.2%
0.2%
88.2%
0.3%
5.7%
0.2%
100.0%
4.9%
0.5%
3.4%
0.5%
1.2%
89.1%
0.0%
0.2%
4.0%
1.2%
63.9%
100.0%
1.3%
0.9%
100.0%
98.3%
0.1%
0.2%
0.3%
0.6%
6.1%
100.0%
99.8%
100.0%
98.7%
1.3%
90.8%
86.9%
1.1%
0.7%
0.7%
0.1%
0.3%
0.1%
1.0%
1.4%
99.6%
0.1%
98.9%
1.5%

0.6%
99.4%
2.9%
96.2%
0.2%
0.7%
0.0%
0.9%
97.3%
0.5%
1.3%
0.0%
0.0%
0.1%
1.6%
46.5%
0.1%
0.1%
50.7%
0.6%
0.0%
0.2%
0.1%
6.9%
0.3%
1.8%
89.8%
1.0%
7.4%
0.9%
0.2%
87.1%
0.4%
3.8%
0.1%
100.0%
5.4%
0.5%
4.2%
0.5%
1.5%
87.9%
0.1%
0.3%
5.4%
1.7%
92.5%
8.3%
0.2%
0.2%
14.1%
16.5%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
1.1%
12.9%
7.1%
9.1%
30.4%
1.4%
98.6%
95.9%
1.3%
0.8%
1.2%
0.1%
0.7%
0.0%
0.7%
0.7%
54.7%
0.3%
42.4%
1.3%

E08000011
E08000011
E08000011
E08000011
E08000011
E09000022
E09000022
E09000022
E09000022
E09000022
E09000022
E09000022
E09000022
E09000022
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E10000017
E08000035
E08000035
E08000035
E08000035
E08000035
E08000035
E08000035
E06000016
E06000016
E06000016
E10000018
E10000018
E10000018
E10000018
E10000018
E10000018
E10000018
E10000018
E09000023
E09000023
E09000023
E09000023
E09000023
E09000023
E09000023
E10000019
E10000019
E10000019
E10000019
E10000019
E10000019
E10000019
E10000019
E10000019
E08000012
E08000012
E08000012
E06000032
E06000032
E08000003
E08000003
E08000003
E08000003
E08000003
E08000003
E08000003
E08000003

Knowsley
Knowsley
Knowsley
Knowsley
Knowsley
Lambeth
Lambeth
Lambeth
Lambeth
Lambeth
Lambeth
Lambeth
Lambeth
Lambeth
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Lancashire
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leicester
Leicester
Leicester
Leicestershire
Leicestershire
Leicestershire
Leicestershire
Leicestershire
Leicestershire
Leicestershire
Leicestershire
Lewisham
Lewisham
Lewisham
Lewisham
Lewisham
Lewisham
Lewisham
Lincolnshire
Lincolnshire
Lincolnshire
Lincolnshire
Lincolnshire
Lincolnshire
Lincolnshire
Lincolnshire
Lincolnshire
Liverpool
Liverpool
Liverpool
Luton
Luton
Manchester
Manchester
Manchester
Manchester
Manchester
Manchester
Manchester
Manchester

01F
01J
99A
01T
01X
07R
09A
07V
08C
08K
08R
08Q
08X
08Y
02N
00Q
00R
00T
00V
00X
01A
02M
01E
01D
01J
01K
01T
01V
01X
02G
02H
02N
02W
02R
15F
03J
03Q
03R
03W
04C
04V
03V
15M
03W
04C
04N
04Q
05H
04V
07Q
09A
08A
08C
08K
08L
08Q
06H
03W
03T
04D
04H
03H
03K
99D
04Q
01J
99A
01T
06F
06P
00V
01D
14L
00Y
01G
01W
01Y
02A

NHS Halton CCG
NHS Knowsley CCG
NHS Liverpool CCG
NHS South Sefton CCG
NHS St Helens CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Merton CCG
NHS Southwark CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG
NHS Blackburn with Darwen CCG
NHS Blackpool CCG
NHS Bolton CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS Chorley and South Ribble CCG
NHS East Lancashire CCG
NHS Fylde & Wyre CCG
NHS Greater Preston CCG
NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG
NHS Knowsley CCG
NHS Morecambe Bay CCG
NHS South Sefton CCG
NHS Southport and Formby CCG
NHS St Helens CCG
NHS West Lancashire CCG
NHS Wigan Borough CCG
NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG
NHS Bradford City CCG
NHS Bradford Districts CCG
NHS Leeds CCG
NHS North Kirklees CCG
NHS Vale of York CCG
NHS Wakefield CCG
NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
NHS Leicester City CCG
NHS West Leicestershire CCG
NHS Corby CCG
NHS Derby and Derbyshire CCG
NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
NHS Leicester City CCG
NHS Rushcliffe CCG
NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG
NHS Warwickshire North CCG
NHS West Leicestershire CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Southwark CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
NHS Lincolnshire East CCG
NHS Lincolnshire West CCG
NHS Newark & Sherwood CCG
NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG
NHS North Lincolnshire CCG
NHS South Lincolnshire CCG
NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG
NHS Knowsley CCG
NHS Liverpool CCG
NHS South Sefton CCG
NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Luton CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Oldham CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS Stockport CCG
NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
NHS Trafford CCG

Page 91

1.0%
86.8%
2.4%
0.1%
2.3%
0.2%
0.9%
0.7%
0.6%
85.5%
1.0%
1.9%
3.5%
0.1%
0.2%
11.1%
13.6%
0.3%
1.4%
99.8%
99.0%
97.9%
100.0%
0.9%
0.1%
44.1%
0.5%
3.2%
0.5%
96.9%
0.7%
0.1%
1.1%
0.5%
97.7%
0.3%
0.6%
1.4%
2.1%
92.8%
2.8%
0.5%
0.4%
85.5%
7.2%
5.4%
5.6%
1.6%
96.2%
1.4%
0.2%
2.1%
0.3%
0.3%
91.5%
3.9%
0.2%
0.2%
99.2%
98.6%
2.4%
2.7%
4.9%
90.8%
93.3%
8.5%
94.4%
3.3%
2.3%
97.3%
0.4%
0.5%
90.9%
0.9%
2.5%
1.7%
0.4%
4.0%

0.8%
88.2%
8.0%
0.1%
2.8%
0.1%
0.6%
0.8%
0.4%
92.2%
0.6%
1.6%
3.7%
0.0%
0.0%
1.5%
1.9%
0.0%
0.2%
14.5%
30.0%
13.8%
16.6%
0.2%
0.0%
12.1%
0.0%
0.3%
0.0%
8.7%
0.2%
0.0%
0.2%
0.2%
98.8%
0.0%
0.2%
0.6%
1.8%
95.5%
2.7%
0.0%
0.6%
39.8%
4.1%
1.0%
1.1%
0.4%
53.1%
1.5%
0.2%
1.9%
0.2%
0.4%
92.0%
3.9%
0.3%
0.1%
32.0%
29.9%
0.4%
0.6%
1.1%
19.6%
16.1%
2.7%
96.3%
1.0%
4.5%
95.5%
0.1%
0.2%
95.6%
0.4%
1.1%
0.8%
0.2%
1.6%

E06000035
E06000035
E06000035
E06000035
E09000024
E09000024
E09000024
E09000024
E09000024
E09000024
E09000024
E06000002
E06000002
E06000002
E06000042
E06000042
E06000042
E08000021
E08000021
E08000021
E09000025
E09000025
E09000025
E09000025
E09000025
E09000025
E09000025
E09000025
E10000020
E10000020
E10000020
E10000020
E10000020
E10000020
E10000020
E10000020
E10000020
E06000012
E06000012
E06000012
E06000013
E06000013
E06000013
E06000013
E06000013
E06000013
E06000024
E06000024
E06000024
E08000022
E08000022
E08000022
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000023
E10000021
E10000021
E10000021
E10000021
E10000021
E10000021
E10000021
E10000021
E10000021
E06000057
E06000057
E06000057
E06000057
E06000057

Medway
Medway
Medway
Medway
Merton
Merton
Merton
Merton
Merton
Merton
Merton
Middlesbrough
Middlesbrough
Middlesbrough
Milton Keynes
Milton Keynes
Milton Keynes
Newcastle upon Tyne
Newcastle upon Tyne
Newcastle upon Tyne
Newham
Newham
Newham
Newham
Newham
Newham
Newham
Newham
Norfolk
Norfolk
Norfolk
Norfolk
Norfolk
Norfolk
Norfolk
Norfolk
Norfolk
North East Lincolnshire
North East Lincolnshire
North East Lincolnshire
North Lincolnshire
North Lincolnshire
North Lincolnshire
North Lincolnshire
North Lincolnshire
North Lincolnshire
North Somerset
North Somerset
North Somerset
North Tyneside
North Tyneside
North Tyneside
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
North Yorkshire
Northamptonshire
Northamptonshire
Northamptonshire
Northamptonshire
Northamptonshire
Northamptonshire
Northamptonshire
Northamptonshire
Northamptonshire
Northumberland
Northumberland
Northumberland
Northumberland
Northumberland

09J
09W
10D
99J
07V
08C
08J
08K
08R
08T
08X
03D
00K
00M
06F
04F
04G
13T
99C
00L
07L
09A
07T
08C
08M
08N
08V
08W
06H
06M
06L
06V
06W
99D
06Y
07J
07K
03T
03H
03K
02Q
02X
02Y
04D
03H
03K
11E
15C
11X
13T
99C
00L
02N
00C
02X
00D
01A
02Y
03D
03E
00K
15F
01K
03M
03Q
03R
06F
06H
03V
05A
03W
04F
04G
10Q
99D
13T
01H
00J
99C
00L

NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG
NHS Medway CCG
NHS Swale CCG
NHS West Kent CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Kingston CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Merton CCG
NHS Sutton CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG
NHS South Tees CCG
NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Milton Keynes CCG
NHS Nene CCG
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG
NHS North Tyneside CCG
NHS Northumberland CCG
NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS City and Hackney CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Newham CCG
NHS Redbridge CCG
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
NHS Waltham Forest CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
NHS North Norfolk CCG
NHS Norwich CCG
NHS South Lincolnshire CCG
NHS South Norfolk CCG
NHS West Norfolk CCG
NHS West Suffolk CCG
NHS Lincolnshire East CCG
NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG
NHS North Lincolnshire CCG
NHS Bassetlaw CCG
NHS Doncaster CCG
NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG
NHS Lincolnshire West CCG
NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG
NHS North Lincolnshire CCG
NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Somerset CCG
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG
NHS North Tyneside CCG
NHS Northumberland CCG
NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG
NHS Darlington CCG
NHS Doncaster CCG
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG
NHS East Lancashire CCG
NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG
NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG
NHS Harrogate and Rural District CCG
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG
NHS Leeds CCG
NHS Morecambe Bay CCG
NHS Scarborough and Ryedale CCG
NHS Vale of York CCG
NHS Wakefield CCG
NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS Corby CCG
NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG
NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
NHS Milton Keynes CCG
NHS Nene CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS South Lincolnshire CCG
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG
NHS North Cumbria CCG
NHS North Durham CCG
NHS North Tyneside CCG
NHS Northumberland CCG

Page 92

0.2%
93.9%
0.2%
0.2%
0.5%
0.2%
3.4%
1.0%
87.7%
3.3%
6.6%
0.2%
0.2%
52.3%
1.5%
95.5%
0.6%
58.9%
5.9%
0.8%
0.5%
0.7%
0.1%
0.5%
96.6%
0.3%
0.2%
1.7%
0.7%
47.7%
0.2%
100.0%
100.0%
0.2%
98.9%
98.4%
2.6%
0.8%
95.9%
0.2%
0.2%
0.0%
0.0%
1.0%
1.4%
94.9%
1.6%
21.8%
0.0%
1.0%
93.2%
0.7%
32.5%
1.3%
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%
1.4%
98.3%
99.8%
0.2%
0.9%
1.9%
99.3%
32.6%
2.0%
0.1%
1.6%
99.2%
0.3%
2.0%
3.1%
98.8%
1.1%
0.9%
0.3%
0.1%
0.2%
0.9%
97.9%

0.2%
99.5%
0.0%
0.3%
0.9%
0.2%
2.9%
1.7%
80.9%
2.6%
10.8%
0.2%
0.3%
99.5%
2.5%
96.2%
1.3%
95.2%
4.0%
0.8%
0.3%
0.4%
0.0%
0.3%
97.3%
0.2%
0.2%
1.4%
0.7%
12.2%
0.0%
18.6%
25.2%
0.0%
24.1%
18.5%
0.7%
1.2%
98.6%
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
1.3%
1.4%
96.9%
1.5%
98.3%
0.2%
2.6%
96.3%
1.1%
8.3%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
0.0%
0.7%
22.8%
26.2%
0.1%
1.3%
1.0%
19.2%
18.8%
1.2%
0.0%
1.9%
9.8%
0.2%
0.8%
1.2%
84.9%
1.0%
0.2%
0.5%
0.1%
0.2%
0.6%
98.7%

E06000018
E06000018
E06000018
E06000018
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E10000024
E08000004
E08000004
E08000004
E08000004
E10000025
E10000025
E10000025
E10000025
E10000025
E10000025
E10000025
E06000031
E06000031
E06000026
E06000044
E06000044
E06000044
E06000038
E06000038
E09000026
E09000026
E09000026
E09000026
E09000026
E09000026
E09000026
E06000003
E06000003
E09000027
E09000027
E09000027
E09000027
E09000027
E09000027
E08000005
E08000005
E08000005
E08000005
E08000005
E08000018
E08000018
E08000018
E08000018
E08000018
E06000017
E06000017
E06000017
E06000017
E06000017
E08000006
E08000006
E08000006
E08000006
E08000006
E08000006
E08000028
E08000028
E08000028
E08000028
E08000028
E08000014
E08000014
E08000014
E08000014
E08000014

Nottingham
Nottingham
Nottingham
Nottingham
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire
Oldham
Oldham
Oldham
Oldham
Oxfordshire
Oxfordshire
Oxfordshire
Oxfordshire
Oxfordshire
Oxfordshire
Oxfordshire
Peterborough
Peterborough
Plymouth
Portsmouth
Portsmouth
Portsmouth
Reading
Reading
Redbridge
Redbridge
Redbridge
Redbridge
Redbridge
Redbridge
Redbridge
Redcar and Cleveland
Redcar and Cleveland
Richmond upon Thames
Richmond upon Thames
Richmond upon Thames
Richmond upon Thames
Richmond upon Thames
Richmond upon Thames
Rochdale
Rochdale
Rochdale
Rochdale
Rochdale
Rotherham
Rotherham
Rotherham
Rotherham
Rotherham
Rutland
Rutland
Rutland
Rutland
Rutland
Salford
Salford
Salford
Salford
Salford
Salford
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sefton
Sefton
Sefton
Sefton
Sefton

04K
04L
04M
04N
02Q
15M
02X
03W
04D
04E
04H
04K
04L
04M
04N
04Q
04V
01D
14L
00Y
01Y
15A
14Y
11M
04G
10Q
05R
12D
06H
99D
15N
10K
10R
10V
15A
10Q
07L
08C
08F
08M
08N
08W
07H
03D
00M
08C
07Y
08J
08P
99H
08X
00V
01A
01D
14L
00Y
02P
02Q
02X
03L
03N
06H
03V
03W
99D
04Q
00T
00V
14L
01G
02A
02H
15E
05C
05L
05Y
06A
01J
99A
01T
01V
02G

NHS Nottingham City CCG
NHS Nottingham North and East CCG
NHS Nottingham West CCG
NHS Rushcliffe CCG
NHS Bassetlaw CCG
NHS Derby and Derbyshire CCG
NHS Doncaster CCG
NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
NHS Lincolnshire West CCG
NHS Mansfield and Ashfield CCG
NHS Newark & Sherwood CCG
NHS Nottingham City CCG
NHS Nottingham North and East CCG
NHS Nottingham West CCG
NHS Rushcliffe CCG
NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG
NHS West Leicestershire CCG
NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Oldham CCG
NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
NHS Berkshire West CCG
NHS Buckinghamshire CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Nene CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS South Warwickshire CCG
NHS Swindon CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS South Lincolnshire CCG
NHS Devon CCG
NHS Fareham and Gosport CCG
NHS Portsmouth CCG
NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG
NHS Berkshire West CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Havering CCG
NHS Newham CCG
NHS Redbridge CCG
NHS Waltham Forest CCG
NHS West Essex CCG
NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG
NHS South Tees CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Hounslow CCG
NHS Kingston CCG
NHS Richmond CCG
NHS Surrey Downs CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS East Lancashire CCG
NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Oldham CCG
NHS Barnsley CCG
NHS Bassetlaw CCG
NHS Doncaster CCG
NHS Rotherham CCG
NHS Sheffield CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS Corby CCG
NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
NHS South Lincolnshire CCG
NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG
NHS Bolton CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS Trafford CCG
NHS Wigan Borough CCG
NHS Birmingham and Solihull CCG
NHS Dudley CCG
NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
NHS Walsall CCG
NHS Wolverhampton CCG
NHS Knowsley CCG
NHS Liverpool CCG
NHS South Sefton CCG
NHS Southport and Formby CCG
NHS West Lancashire CCG

Page 93

89.9%
4.6%
4.1%
4.3%
97.1%
1.5%
1.6%
0.3%
0.4%
97.9%
97.6%
10.1%
95.1%
90.8%
90.3%
0.7%
0.1%
1.5%
0.8%
94.5%
0.2%
0.5%
2.4%
0.2%
0.1%
97.4%
0.6%
2.7%
23.0%
5.1%
22.1%
1.5%
95.6%
0.2%
35.3%
0.2%
4.9%
0.1%
0.8%
1.4%
92.3%
3.3%
1.8%
1.1%
47.3%
0.5%
4.9%
1.6%
91.7%
0.0%
0.4%
0.7%
0.2%
96.5%
0.6%
0.9%
3.3%
1.0%
1.1%
97.9%
0.8%
0.0%
0.2%
9.9%
2.6%
0.4%
0.2%
1.8%
1.1%
94.1%
0.2%
0.9%
1.9%
3.0%
55.1%
1.7%
0.3%
1.8%
2.9%
96.0%
96.8%
0.3%

95.4%
2.0%
1.1%
1.5%
13.5%
1.8%
0.6%
0.1%
0.1%
22.5%
15.6%
4.6%
17.2%
10.2%
13.6%
0.1%
0.0%
1.4%
2.1%
96.3%
0.2%
0.3%
1.8%
0.2%
0.1%
96.5%
0.2%
0.9%
96.3%
3.7%
100.0%
1.4%
98.4%
0.2%
99.4%
0.6%
3.3%
0.1%
0.7%
1.7%
89.4%
3.1%
1.7%
1.1%
98.9%
0.5%
7.0%
1.5%
90.3%
0.1%
0.7%
0.6%
0.3%
96.6%
1.6%
1.0%
3.1%
0.4%
1.2%
93.5%
1.7%
0.3%
0.5%
86.3%
11.5%
1.4%
0.3%
1.4%
2.5%
94.6%
0.2%
1.1%
7.0%
2.7%
88.6%
1.3%
0.3%
1.0%
5.3%
51.6%
41.9%
0.1%

E08000019
E08000019
E08000019
E08000019
E06000051
E06000051
E06000051
E06000051
E06000051
E06000051
E06000051
E06000051
E06000051
E06000039
E06000039
E06000039
E06000039
E06000039
E06000039
E08000029
E08000029
E08000029
E08000029
E08000029
E08000029
E10000027
E10000027
E10000027
E10000027
E10000027
E10000027
E06000025
E06000025
E06000025
E06000025
E08000023
E08000023
E08000023
E06000045
E06000045
E06000033
E06000033
E09000028
E09000028
E09000028
E09000028
E09000028
E09000028
E09000028
E08000013
E08000013
E08000013
E08000013
E08000013
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E10000028
E08000007
E08000007
E08000007
E08000007
E06000004
E06000004
E06000004
E06000004
E06000004

Sheffield
Sheffield
Sheffield
Sheffield
Shropshire
Shropshire
Shropshire
Shropshire
Shropshire
Shropshire
Shropshire
Shropshire
Shropshire
Slough
Slough
Slough
Slough
Slough
Slough
Solihull
Solihull
Solihull
Solihull
Solihull
Solihull
Somerset
Somerset
Somerset
Somerset
Somerset
Somerset
South Gloucestershire
South Gloucestershire
South Gloucestershire
South Gloucestershire
South Tyneside
South Tyneside
South Tyneside
Southampton
Southampton
Southend-on-Sea
Southend-on-Sea
Southwark
Southwark
Southwark
Southwark
Southwark
Southwark
Southwark
St. Helens
St. Helens
St. Helens
St. Helens
St. Helens
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Staffordshire
Stockport
Stockport
Stockport
Stockport
Stockton-on-Tees
Stockton-on-Tees
Stockton-on-Tees
Stockton-on-Tees
Stockton-on-Tees

02P
15M
03L
03N
05F
05G
05N
01R
05Q
05T
05X
02F
06D
14Y
07W
15D
08G
07Y
09Y
15E
05A
05J
05L
05R
05H
11E
15C
15N
11J
11X
99N
11E
15C
11M
99N
13T
00N
00P
10X
11A
99F
99G
07R
09A
08C
08K
08L
08Q
08X
01F
01J
01X
02E
02H
15E
04Y
15M
05C
05D
01C
05G
05N
01R
05Q
05V
05W
05X
05Y
05H
06A
06D
01C
14L
01W
01Y
00C
00D
03D
00K
00M

NHS Barnsley CCG
NHS Derby and Derbyshire CCG
NHS Rotherham CCG
NHS Sheffield CCG
NHS Herefordshire CCG
NHS North Staffordshire CCG
NHS Shropshire CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG
NHS South Worcestershire CCG
NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG
NHS West Cheshire CCG
NHS Wyre Forest CCG
NHS Buckinghamshire CCG
NHS Ealing CCG
NHS East Berkshire CCG
NHS Hillingdon CCG
NHS Hounslow CCG
NHS North West Surrey CCG
NHS Birmingham and Solihull CCG
NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG
NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG
NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
NHS South Warwickshire CCG
NHS Warwickshire North CCG
NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Devon CCG
NHS Dorset CCG
NHS Somerset CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG
NHS South Tyneside CCG
NHS Sunderland CCG
NHS Southampton CCG
NHS West Hampshire CCG
NHS Castle Point and Rochford CCG
NHS Southend CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Southwark CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS Halton CCG
NHS Knowsley CCG
NHS St Helens CCG
NHS Warrington CCG
NHS Wigan Borough CCG
NHS Birmingham and Solihull CCG
NHS Cannock Chase CCG
NHS Derby and Derbyshire CCG
NHS Dudley CCG
NHS East Staffordshire CCG
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
NHS North Staffordshire CCG
NHS Shropshire CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG
NHS Stafford and Surrounds CCG
NHS Stoke on Trent CCG
NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG
NHS Walsall CCG
NHS Warwickshire North CCG
NHS Wolverhampton CCG
NHS Wyre Forest CCG
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Stockport CCG
NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
NHS Darlington CCG
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG
NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG
NHS South Tees CCG

Page 94

0.8%
0.2%
0.4%
98.5%
0.4%
0.5%
96.7%
0.4%
1.2%
1.0%
2.3%
0.1%
0.8%
1.8%
0.0%
33.8%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
17.0%
0.0%
0.4%
0.0%
0.4%
0.2%
3.1%
0.2%
0.2%
0.5%
98.5%
0.1%
0.8%
28.2%
0.8%
0.0%
0.0%
99.2%
0.3%
94.9%
0.2%
4.8%
96.7%
0.3%
2.5%
0.7%
6.6%
2.1%
94.1%
0.1%
0.2%
2.6%
91.2%
0.1%
0.7%
0.3%
99.3%
0.5%
1.4%
92.1%
0.6%
95.1%
1.0%
0.5%
96.2%
99.5%
8.8%
1.0%
1.6%
1.1%
2.6%
0.2%
1.6%
1.1%
94.9%
0.2%
0.4%
0.4%
0.1%
66.9%
0.4%

0.4%
0.4%
0.2%
99.1%
0.3%
0.3%
95.4%
0.3%
0.9%
1.0%
1.4%
0.1%
0.3%
6.2%
0.1%
93.4%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
98.9%
0.1%
0.3%
0.1%
0.4%
0.2%
1.1%
0.3%
0.5%
0.7%
97.3%
0.1%
0.6%
97.5%
1.8%
0.1%
0.2%
99.2%
0.6%
99.5%
0.5%
4.7%
95.3%
0.3%
1.6%
0.5%
7.7%
2.0%
87.9%
0.1%
0.1%
2.3%
96.3%
0.1%
1.2%
0.4%
14.9%
0.5%
0.5%
14.7%
0.1%
23.4%
0.3%
0.1%
23.6%
16.7%
2.9%
0.2%
0.5%
0.2%
0.8%
0.0%
1.1%
2.2%
96.5%
0.2%
0.2%
0.6%
0.1%
98.4%
0.7%

E06000021
E06000021
E06000021
E10000029
E10000029
E10000029
E10000029
E10000029
E10000029
E10000029
E08000024
E08000024
E08000024
E08000024
E08000024
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E10000030
E09000029
E09000029
E09000029
E09000029
E09000029
E09000029
E09000029
E06000030
E06000030
E06000030
E08000008
E08000008
E08000008
E08000008
E06000020
E06000020
E06000034
E06000034
E06000034
E06000034
E06000027
E09000030
E09000030
E09000030
E09000030
E09000030
E09000030
E09000030
E08000009
E08000009
E08000009
E08000009
E08000036
E08000036
E08000036
E08000036
E08000030
E08000030
E08000030
E08000030
E08000030
E09000031
E09000031
E09000031
E09000031
E09000031
E09000031

Stoke-on-Trent
Stoke-on-Trent
Stoke-on-Trent
Suffolk
Suffolk
Suffolk
Suffolk
Suffolk
Suffolk
Suffolk
Sunderland
Sunderland
Sunderland
Sunderland
Sunderland
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Surrey
Sutton
Sutton
Sutton
Sutton
Sutton
Sutton
Sutton
Swindon
Swindon
Swindon
Tameside
Tameside
Tameside
Tameside
Telford and Wrekin
Telford and Wrekin
Thurrock
Thurrock
Thurrock
Thurrock
Torbay
Tower Hamlets
Tower Hamlets
Tower Hamlets
Tower Hamlets
Tower Hamlets
Tower Hamlets
Tower Hamlets
Trafford
Trafford
Trafford
Trafford
Wakefield
Wakefield
Wakefield
Wakefield
Walsall
Walsall
Walsall
Walsall
Walsall
Waltham Forest
Waltham Forest
Waltham Forest
Waltham Forest
Waltham Forest
Waltham Forest

05G
05V
05W
06H
06M
06L
06T
06Y
07H
07K
00D
13T
00J
00N
00P
07Q
09G
09H
07V
15D
09L
09N
09X
07Y
08J
08R
99M
10J
09Y
08P
10V
99H
10C
08T
99J
07V
08J
08K
08R
99H
08T
08X
11M
12D
99N
14L
00Y
01W
01Y
05N
05X
07L
99E
08F
07G
15N
07R
09A
07T
08C
08H
08M
08V
14L
01G
02A
02E
02P
15F
03J
03R
15E
04Y
05L
05Y
06A
07T
08C
08D
08M
08N
08W

NHS North Staffordshire CCG
NHS Stafford and Surrounds CCG
NHS Stoke on Trent CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
NHS North East Essex CCG
NHS South Norfolk CCG
NHS West Essex CCG
NHS West Suffolk CCG
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG
NHS North Durham CCG
NHS South Tyneside CCG
NHS Sunderland CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG
NHS Crawley CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
NHS East Berkshire CCG
NHS East Surrey CCG
NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG
NHS Hounslow CCG
NHS Kingston CCG
NHS Merton CCG
NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG
NHS North Hampshire CCG
NHS North West Surrey CCG
NHS Richmond CCG
NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG
NHS Surrey Downs CCG
NHS Surrey Heath CCG
NHS Sutton CCG
NHS West Kent CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
NHS Kingston CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Merton CCG
NHS Surrey Downs CCG
NHS Sutton CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Swindon CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Oldham CCG
NHS Stockport CCG
NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
NHS Shropshire CCG
NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG
NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG
NHS Basildon and Brentwood CCG
NHS Havering CCG
NHS Thurrock CCG
NHS Devon CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS City and Hackney CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Islington CCG
NHS Newham CCG
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS Trafford CCG
NHS Warrington CCG
NHS Barnsley CCG
NHS Leeds CCG
NHS North Kirklees CCG
NHS Wakefield CCG
NHS Birmingham and Solihull CCG
NHS Cannock Chase CCG
NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
NHS Walsall CCG
NHS Wolverhampton CCG
NHS City and Hackney CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Haringey CCG
NHS Newham CCG
NHS Redbridge CCG
NHS Waltham Forest CCG

Page 95

3.3%
0.5%
91.2%
0.2%
52.3%
99.6%
1.4%
1.1%
0.1%
91.1%
0.9%
0.5%
2.2%
0.5%
98.5%
0.4%
0.2%
6.6%
1.3%
3.4%
96.6%
94.0%
1.5%
0.7%
4.5%
0.3%
23.0%
0.1%
99.4%
0.7%
0.1%
97.4%
98.9%
1.2%
0.2%
1.0%
3.5%
0.1%
6.3%
1.3%
94.7%
0.2%
0.0%
96.0%
0.7%
2.2%
3.6%
1.8%
85.2%
1.8%
96.7%
0.3%
0.2%
0.2%
98.5%
11.7%
1.1%
0.5%
0.9%
0.8%
0.2%
0.2%
98.9%
2.7%
0.1%
95.7%
0.1%
0.9%
0.4%
0.6%
94.5%
1.1%
0.7%
1.6%
92.8%
1.4%
0.4%
0.3%
0.1%
1.3%
1.4%
94.3%

2.7%
0.3%
97.1%
0.2%
16.3%
52.9%
0.6%
0.3%
0.0%
29.7%
0.9%
0.9%
1.9%
0.3%
96.0%
0.1%
0.0%
0.7%
0.4%
1.2%
14.1%
16.9%
0.3%
0.2%
0.7%
0.0%
4.2%
0.0%
29.5%
0.1%
0.0%
23.8%
7.6%
0.2%
0.0%
1.9%
3.4%
0.2%
6.7%
1.9%
85.6%
0.3%
0.2%
98.2%
1.5%
5.8%
3.9%
2.3%
88.0%
2.9%
97.1%
0.3%
0.3%
0.4%
99.0%
100.0%
0.9%
0.3%
0.9%
0.5%
0.1%
0.2%
96.9%
7.0%
0.1%
92.7%
0.1%
0.6%
1.0%
0.3%
98.0%
4.8%
0.3%
3.1%
90.4%
1.4%
0.4%
0.2%
0.1%
1.7%
1.4%
96.1%

E09000032
E09000032
E09000032
E09000032
E09000032
E09000032
E09000032
E09000032
E06000007
E06000007
E06000007
E06000007
E06000007
E10000031
E10000031
E10000031
E10000031
E10000031
E10000031
E10000031
E10000031
E10000031
E10000031
E06000037
E06000037
E06000037
E06000037
E10000032
E10000032
E10000032
E10000032
E10000032
E10000032
E10000032
E10000032
E10000032
E09000033
E09000033
E09000033
E09000033
E09000033
E09000033
E08000010
E08000010
E08000010
E08000010
E08000010
E08000010
E06000054
E06000054
E06000054
E06000054
E06000054
E06000054
E06000054
E06000054
E06000054
E06000040
E06000040
E06000040
E06000040
E06000040
E06000040
E08000015
E08000015
E06000041
E06000041
E06000041
E08000031
E08000031
E08000031
E08000031
E08000031
E10000034
E10000034
E10000034
E10000034
E10000034
E10000034
E10000034
E10000034
E10000034
E06000014
E06000014

Wandsworth
Wandsworth
Wandsworth
Wandsworth
Wandsworth
Wandsworth
Wandsworth
Wandsworth
Warrington
Warrington
Warrington
Warrington
Warrington
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
Warwickshire
West Berkshire
West Berkshire
West Berkshire
West Berkshire
West Sussex
West Sussex
West Sussex
West Sussex
West Sussex
West Sussex
West Sussex
West Sussex
West Sussex
Westminster
Westminster
Westminster
Westminster
Westminster
Westminster
Wigan
Wigan
Wigan
Wigan
Wigan
Wigan
Wiltshire
Wiltshire
Wiltshire
Wiltshire
Wiltshire
Wiltshire
Wiltshire
Wiltshire
Wiltshire
Windsor and Maidenhead
Windsor and Maidenhead
Windsor and Maidenhead
Windsor and Maidenhead
Windsor and Maidenhead
Windsor and Maidenhead
Wirral
Wirral
Wokingham
Wokingham
Wokingham
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Worcestershire
Worcestershire
Worcestershire
Worcestershire
Worcestershire
Worcestershire
Worcestershire
Worcestershire
Worcestershire
York
York

09A
08C
08J
08K
08R
08P
08X
08Y
01F
01G
01X
02E
02H
15E
05A
11M
04G
10Q
05J
05Q
05R
05H
04V
15A
10J
10Q
99N
09D
09G
09H
09L
09N
99K
09X
10V
99H
07P
07R
09A
08C
08K
08Y
00T
01G
01X
02E
02G
02H
11E
15A
15C
11J
11M
11X
12D
11A
99N
15A
14Y
15D
09Y
10Q
10C
02F
12F
15A
15D
10Q
05C
05L
05Q
05Y
06A
15E
05C
11M
05F
05J
05N
05R
05T
06D
03E
03Q

NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Kingston CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Merton CCG
NHS Richmond CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Halton CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS St Helens CCG
NHS Warrington CCG
NHS Wigan Borough CCG
NHS Birmingham and Solihull CCG
NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Nene CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG
NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG
NHS South Warwickshire CCG
NHS Warwickshire North CCG
NHS West Leicestershire CCG
NHS Berkshire West CCG
NHS North Hampshire CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Brighton and Hove CCG
NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG
NHS Crawley CCG
NHS East Surrey CCG
NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG
NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG
NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG
NHS Surrey Downs CCG
NHS Brent CCG
NHS Camden CCG
NHS Central London (Westminster) CCG
NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS West London (K&C & QPP) CCG
NHS Bolton CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS St Helens CCG
NHS Warrington CCG
NHS West Lancashire CCG
NHS Wigan Borough CCG
NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG
NHS Berkshire West CCG
NHS Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Dorset CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Somerset CCG
NHS Swindon CCG
NHS West Hampshire CCG
NHS Wiltshire CCG
NHS Berkshire West CCG
NHS Buckinghamshire CCG
NHS East Berkshire CCG
NHS North West Surrey CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS Surrey Heath CCG
NHS West Cheshire CCG
NHS Wirral CCG
NHS Berkshire West CCG
NHS East Berkshire CCG
NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS Dudley CCG
NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
NHS South East Staffs and Seisdon Peninsular CCG
NHS Walsall CCG
NHS Wolverhampton CCG
NHS Birmingham and Solihull CCG
NHS Dudley CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Herefordshire CCG
NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG
NHS Shropshire CCG
NHS South Warwickshire CCG
NHS South Worcestershire CCG
NHS Wyre Forest CCG
NHS Harrogate and Rural District CCG
NHS Vale of York CCG

Produced by NHS England using data from National Health Applications and Infrastructure Services (NHAIS) as supplied by NHS Digital.

Page 96

0.9%
1.0%
0.1%
3.2%
2.8%
1.3%
88.3%
0.7%
0.3%
0.5%
2.2%
97.6%
0.2%
0.2%
25.2%
0.2%
0.2%
0.3%
0.7%
0.8%
96.1%
96.7%
0.5%
30.0%
0.7%
0.2%
0.1%
1.1%
99.5%
93.4%
0.3%
3.1%
1.1%
95.7%
4.1%
0.6%
1.3%
3.0%
79.3%
0.6%
0.1%
23.1%
0.2%
0.8%
3.8%
0.4%
2.8%
96.7%
0.9%
0.2%
0.2%
0.3%
0.4%
0.3%
1.3%
0.1%
96.7%
0.4%
0.3%
34.1%
0.2%
0.0%
0.1%
0.4%
99.7%
31.5%
1.0%
0.1%
1.3%
0.1%
1.8%
3.4%
93.8%
0.9%
0.7%
0.5%
0.9%
95.8%
0.3%
2.3%
97.2%
98.3%
0.2%
60.2%

0.6%
0.6%
0.0%
3.5%
1.6%
0.7%
92.6%
0.4%
0.2%
0.6%
2.0%
97.0%
0.2%
0.5%
21.5%
0.2%
0.2%
0.3%
0.2%
0.3%
45.8%
30.7%
0.3%
97.6%
0.9%
1.1%
0.4%
0.4%
57.5%
14.0%
0.0%
0.8%
0.2%
25.9%
1.0%
0.2%
2.0%
3.4%
71.3%
0.6%
0.2%
22.6%
0.1%
0.6%
2.2%
0.2%
1.0%
95.7%
0.4%
0.2%
0.5%
0.4%
0.5%
0.4%
0.6%
0.2%
96.8%
1.3%
1.1%
96.9%
0.5%
0.2%
0.0%
0.3%
99.7%
97.0%
2.6%
0.4%
1.5%
0.3%
1.4%
3.5%
93.4%
2.0%
0.4%
0.6%
0.3%
27.7%
0.1%
1.1%
49.3%
18.6%
0.1%
99.9%

Agenda Item 6
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Report Title

Update on NHS Long Term Plan

Contributors

Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group Item No. 6
Managing Director
Part 1
Date: 14 November
2019
This report provides an update on the South East London ICS
Response to the NHS Long Term Plan

Class
Strategic
Context

1.

Purpose

1.1

This report provides an update on the South East London Integrated Care
System (SEL ICS) Response to the NHS Long Term Plan.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to note the
following report and attachment at Appendix A.

3.

Policy Context

3.1

In January 2019, the NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) was published, setting
out expectations for the next 10 years to support people in starting well,
living well, and ageing well. Whilst refreshing areas such as cancer,
mental health and urgent and emergency care, the LTP brings renewed
focus to specific major health conditions including cardiovascular
disease, stroke, and respiratory disease. In outlining an improved health
and care offer for our population, the LTP also emphasises the need to
reduce health inequalities, enhance out-of-hospital care, and increase
digitally-enabled care.

3.2

In responding to the Long Term Plan, the SEL ICS is required to produce
and submit a narrative plan for delivery between 2019/20 and 2023/24,
supported by technical documents on finance, activity, workforce, and
performance metrics.

4.

South East London ICS Response

4.1

A national framework for implementing the LTP was released in June; the
framework confirmed key timelines and importantly identified the areas of
the plan that are the ‘core foundations’, the areas that we must have
clear plans for delivering on over the next five years.

4.2

The framework also outlined a number of areas – ‘prioritised
commitments’ – where there is more flexibility for local systems in
determining how work is phased over the five year period.

Page
1 97

4.3

In June 2019, SEL developed a system improvement plan that includes
the areas where SEL does not currently meet the standards for a fully
mature ICS, sets out a number of actions around performance and
finance, and makes a series of commitments to enhance our ICS
maturity and system ways of working.

4.4

Delivering the commitments of the Long Term Plan can only be achieved
through working across the levels within our integrated care system –
neighbourhood, place and system

5.

Financial implications

5.1

The LTP sets out the recurrent allocations for each CCG and we are
required to produce a financial plan for the ICS. It must demonstrate
compliance with the five tests set out in the LTP, covering financial
balance, productivity growth, reducing growth in demand, reducing
variation in performance, use of capital investment and assets.

6.

Legal implications

6.1

There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.

7.

Crime and Disorder Implications

7.1

There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this
report.

8.

Equalities Implications

8.1

The Long Term Plan has identified tackling health inequalities as a
priority area, in particular to focus on those communities and groups
impacted by smoking, drinking problems and Type 2 diabetes.

9.

Environmental Implications

9.1

There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report.

If there are any queries on this report please contact Charles Malcolm-Smith,
Deputy Director (Strategy & OD), Lewisham CCG, e-mail charles.malcolmsmith@nhs.net

Page2 98

South east London ICS response
to the NHS Long Term Plan
Update for Health and Wellbeing Boards
October 2019

Page 99

In January 2019, the NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) was published, setting out expectations for the next 10 years to
support people in starting well, living well, and ageing well. Whilst refreshing areas such as cancer, mental health
and urgent and emergency care, the LTP brings renewed focus to specific major health conditions including
cardiovascular disease, stroke, and respiratory disease. In outlining an improved health and care offer for our
population, the LTP also emphasises the need to reduce health inequalities, enhance out-of-hospital care, and
increase digitally-enabled care.

In responding to the Long Term Plan, the South East London (SEL) ICS is required to produce and submit a narrative
plan for delivery between 2019/20 and 2023/24, supported by technical documents on finance, activity, workforce,
and performance metrics.

Clinically led and locally owned
Financially balanced
Based on realistic workforce assumptions
Deliver the entirety of the LTP
Phase activity over 5 years based on local need

Our plans need to be:
•
•
•
•
•

Page 100

2

1

6

3

Ensure that NHS staff get the backing that
they need

Improve care quality and outcomes for
major conditions

Make better use of data and digital
technology

4

Take more action on prevention and health
inequalities

Do things differently, through a new service
model

2

5

Ensure we get the most out of taxpayers’
investment in the NHS

Page 101

3

1

Demand for health and care
services is increasing

Developing consistent and
high quality community
based care (CBC), primary
care development and
prevention

2

3

4

The cost of delivering health
and care services is increasing

5

• Joint commissioning and
delivery models
• Strategic plan for south
London
• London Specialised
Commissioning Planning
Board
• Managing demand across
boundaries
• Mental health collaboration

• Effective joint governance
able to address difficult
issues
• Incorporation of whole
commissioning spend
including specialist
services
• Sustainable workforce
strategy
• Collective estates strategy
and management
• New models of
collaboration and delivery

Changing how we work
together to deliver the
transformation required

• Increased collaboration
• Reduced duplication
• Management of flow

(Need to address £190m)

• Aligned decision making
resulting in faster
implementation
• Increased transparency
and accountability

Developing sustainable
specialised services

Our system is fragmented resulting in
duplication and confusion

(Net saving c.£225m)

Cross-organisation
productivity savings from
joint working, consolidation
and improved efficiency

• Standardise and
consolidate non-clinical
support services
• Optimise workforce
• Capitalise on collective
buying power
• Consolidate clinical
support services
• Capitalise on collective
estate

Reducing cost through
provider collaboration

There is unacceptable variation
in care, quality and outcomes
across SEL

Improving quality and
reducing variation across
both physical and mental
health

• Integration of mental health
• Reduce pressure on and
simplify A&E
• Implementation of
standards, policies and
guidelines
• Collaborate to improve
quality and efficiency
through consolidation (e.g.
the elective orthopaedic
centres)
• Standardise care across
pathways

Reduction in A&E attends and non-elective admissions
Reduced length of stay
Reduced re-admissions
Early identification and intervention
Delivery of care in alternative settings

• Promote self care and
prevention
• Improved access and
coordination of care
• Sustainable primary care
• Co-operative structures
across parts of the system
• Financial investment by the
system
• Contracting and whole
population budgets

•
•
•
•
•

(Net savings c.£116m)

Page 102

Our challenges
Our five priorities and areas of focus
The impact of our
plans

4

•

•

•

•

•

•

Shorter waits for planned care

Improving mental health services

Improving cancer outcomes

Digitally-enabling primary care and outpatient care

Giving people more control over their own health and more
personalised care

Reducing pressure on emergency hospital services

Transformed out-of-hospital care and fully integrated community-based
care

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Wider social impact

Volunteering

Genomics

Research and innovation to drive future outcomes improvement

Respiratory disease

Diabetes

Stroke care

Cardiovascular disease

Learning disabilities and autism

Services for children and young people

Maternity and neonatal services

More NHS action on prevention

Prioritised Commitments

All STPs and ICSs are required to write a response that sets out how systems will deliver the commitments within the Long Term Plan.
To support this a national framework for implementing the LTP was released in June; the framework confirmed key timelines and
importantly identified the areas of the plan that are the ‘core foundations’, the areas that we must have clear plans for delivering on
over the next five years.
The framework also outlined a number of areas – ‘prioritised commitments’ – where there is more flexibility for local systems in
determining how work is phased over the five year period; ultimately the national deadlines within the LTP must still be met, but
systems may prioritise actions required to meet these commitments according to local need:

•

Moving to integrated care systems everywhere

Core Foundations

•

•

Page 103

5

2.

1.
Understanding our population’s need

Our ambition for SEL residents and our service delivery vision

•

•

•

Workforce

Activity

Finance

System delivery plan

3.

Service transformation – SEL actions and priorities (including the London vision,
the ‘core foundations’, prevention, and progress on care quality and outcomes)

System narrative plan

4.

System development – How we will deliver the transformation of our system to
deliver our priorities (including our ICS and enablers)

•

Draft plans have been submitted to NHSE&I (London) on 27 September, and there will be further refinement
before a final submission on 15 November.

Finance (including meeting the five tests)

•

Given the additional complexity of being part of the wider London system, our response will also need to align to
the London vision.

5.

•

We have undertaken additional public engagement to complement the Healthwatch engagement and to ensure
our response is fit for purpose.

Next steps

•

The content of our response will build upon previous and current plans and incorporating the outputs of
engagement activities.

6.

•

In building our response we need to ensure that we are delivering the commitments within the LTP whilst also
addressing our financial challenge.

Page 104

6

•

•

This made explicit the areas where SEL does not currently meet the standards for a fully mature ICS:
– We do not consistently meet the NHS Constitutional standards, and performance in some areas is not
“consistently improving”;
– We face a significant challenge in developing and delivering plans to move towards system financial balance; and
– Further development of system leadership, architecture and partnership working is needed to drive effective
collective decision making and ability to carry out decisions that are made.

In June 2019, SEL developed our System Improvement Plan.

•

The System Improvement Plan sets out a number of actions around performance and finance, and makes a series of
commitments to enhance our ICS maturity and system ways of working. The ways of working commitments are:
1. We will set out the governance and delivery of the ‘System of Systems’, focussing on place-based delivery.
2. We will redesign how we commission services in south east London.
3. We will test hospital group model approaches.
4. We will test integrated care approaches through the development of primary care networks at the core of our
delivery model for fully integrated community-based care.
5. We will explore delegation of specialised services commissioning to the ICS.

Page 105

7

•

In order to ensure that we can deliver the aims and visions set out in our five year plan, we recognise the vital
need to achieve long term financial sustainability across the South East London system. Our aim to achieve
financial balance is predicated on a collective commitment from CCGs and providers to system planning and
shared financial risk management, supported by a system control total and system operating plan.

Test 1: The NHS (including providers) will return to financial balance
Test 2: The NHS will achieve cash-releasing productivity growth of at least 1.1% per year
Test 3: The NHS will reduce the growth in demand for care through better integration and prevention
Test 4: The NHS will reduce unjustified variation in performance
Test 5: The NHS will make better use of capital investment and its existing assets to drive transformation

•

–
–
–
–
–

The LTP sets out the recurrent allocations for each CCG and we are required to produce a financial plan for the
ICS which includes five year capital plans at a SEL level; this must demonstrate compliance with the five tests set
out in the LTP:

•

As part of this process we will develop SEL wide principles that are agreed across our key stakeholders and which
would frame the approach to financial planning and assumptions for the LTP response, building on the approach
we adopted to the planning round for 2019/20.

Page 106

8

Person

Neighbourhood c.50k

Place c. 250-500k

System c. 1m+

•

•

•

•

Both addressing our financial challenge and delivering the
commitments of the Long Term Plan can only be achieved
through working across the levels within our integrated care
system – neighbourhood, place and system.
At a borough level this will require the development of placebased boards and local care partnerships to design and
oversee delivery of integrated health and care for the local
population.
As part of this services will need to work together beyond the
scale of the neighbourhood level. For example, primary care
networks and community services will need to work together
to wrap services around the needs of patients with long term
conditions.
At the same time we will need to deliver personalised care as
far as possible, aiming to do what is right for the individual
person rather than what is easiest for the system.

Page 107

9

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Report Title

Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-19

Contributors

Business Manager for the Lewisham
Safeguarding Adults Board

Class

Part 1

Item No.

7

Date: 14 November 2019

1.

Purpose

1.1

This report and accompanying copy of the Lewisham Safeguarding Adults
Board (LSAB) Annual Report for 2018-19 demonstrates the work that
continues to be delivered by the Board and partner agencies to safeguard
adults in Lewisham.

2.

Background

2.1

The LSAB brings together a wide range of agencies from across the borough
to ensure that there is a joined-up approach to adult Safeguarding.

3.

Policy Context

3.1

Safeguarding is about people and organisations working together to prevent
and stop both the risks and experience of abuse or neglect, while at the same
time making sure that the adult’s wellbeing is promoted including, where
appropriate, having regard to their views, wishes, feelings and beliefs in
deciding on any action.

3.2

Local authorities are required to: lead a multi-agency local adult safeguarding
system; making or causing enquiries to be made where there is a
safeguarding concern; hosting Safeguarding Adults Boards; carrying out
Safeguarding Adult Reviews; and arranging for the provision of independent
advocates.

3.3

The Board are committed to ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ (MSP); to
improve outcomes for people at risk of harm. This is achieved, during a
safeguarding enquiry, by establishing a real understanding of what people
wish to achieve and the ‘outcomes’ they want at the beginning then checking
throughout, and at the end the extent to which these outcomes were realised.

Page 108

4.

Changes with the LSAB since 2017-18

4.1

A new Strategic Business Plan was published in June 2019 which created
and new Vision, set of Priorities, Aims and Objectives:

Vision
To ensure adults are safeguarded by empowering and supporting them to make
informed decisions.
Priorities
1. Prevent adult exploitation, abuse and neglect.
2. Develop intelligence led, evidence based practice.
3. Strengthen partnership working.
Prevention Aim:
By April 2020 we will have made further progress in developing preventative
strategies.
Accountability Aim:
By April 2020 we will have established methods to effectively measure how well
adults at risk of abuse and neglect are being protected, which will be used to
develop evidence based practice.
Partnerships Aim:
By April 2020 we will have demonstrated our commitment to supporting the
‘whole family’ approach to safeguarding those most at risk of abuse and neglect
in Lewisham.
4.2

A new LSAB Business Manager started in post in March 2019.

4.2

The Board continues to be funded by the following agencies:







4.3

London Borough of Lewisham - Adult Social Care
NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group
Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust
South London & Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
The Metropolitan Police Service
The London Fire Brigade

Two Safeguarding Adult Reviews were published in July 2018. The broad
details of these cases and other related activity are outlined in the LSAB
Annual Report (pages 8 & 9).

Page 109

5.

Financial Implications

5.1

There are no additional financial implications arising from this report.

6.

Legal Implications

6.1

There are no additional legal implications arising from this report.

7.

Crime and Disorder Implications

7.1

There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
The LSAB works in close collaboration with Safer Lewisham Partnership to
ensure joint approaches to overlapping issues such as domestic violence,
hate crimes and ‘Prevent’ (the government's counter-terrorism strategy).

8.

Equalities Implications

8.1

As highlighted in the LSAB Annual Report (and full Strategic Business Plan)
there are ongoing equalities implications to ensure that all communities
across Lewisham are engaged with relevant agencies and services to help
prevent adult abuse and neglect.

8.2

The further development and analysis of data will enable the Board to
understand if there any potential barriers to reporting abuse, and also
accessing protective and preventative services.

9.

Environmental Implications

9.1

There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its
recommendations.

If there are any queries on this report please contact Martin Crow, LSAB Business
Manager, on 0777 159 4879 or email martin.crow@lewisham.gov.uk
Background documents
LSAB Strategic Business Plan 209-20
https://www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab/lsab/publications/strategic-businessplan

Page 110

Annual Report 2018-19
Period: 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Page 111

Contents

Page

Message from the Independent Chair

3

Board Membership

4

Board Structure

4

Lewisham: Key Facts and Figures

5

Strategic Business Plan 2018-19 Outcomes

6

Work of the Case Review Group

8

Work of the Housing Provider Sub-Group

10

Work of the Board’s Partners
Healthwatch Lewisham
Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
Lewisham Borough Council
Metropolitan Police – South East Basic Command Unit
London Fire Brigade
Lewisham Homes

11
11
12
12
13
13
14
14

Adults Stories

15

Safeguarding Data 2018-19

17

Strategic Business Plan 2019-20

18

Appendix One: Jargon Buster

19

Any words used in the report that are included in the Jargon Buster are highlighted using *

Page2 112

Message from the Independent Chair
This is the third occasion I have had the pleasure to welcome you as Independent Chair to the
Annual Report of the Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB). It is a statutory requirement
for each SAB to publish this report and include the details of what it has done to deliver its
strategic plan (pages 6 & 7). The report must also provide information about Safeguarding Adult
Reviews (SARs) that are ongoing or have been completed, including what has been done to
ensure that the lessons from these SARs are translated into the development of policy and
practice (pages 8 & 9).
These are challenging times for public and voluntary sector agencies. Organisations are having
to manage the ongoing impact of financial austerity alongside not just rising demand for care
and support, but also the increasing complexity of needs being presented to the Local Authority
and to NHS staff in primary and secondary care. Almost inevitably, it appears, the need to find
further savings leads agencies into structural re-organisation, which inevitably has an impact on
the strategic and operational relationships that are essential for effective adult safeguarding.
Nonetheless, partners have remained committed to the SAB and to adult safeguarding, as their
contributions to this annual report demonstrate. The SAB has held these partners to account for
how they ensure that people with care, health and support needs are protected from abuse and
neglect, for example by close scrutiny of performance data, inquiry into how the wellbeing of
people in residential and nursing care is promoted, and focus on ensuring that the lessons from
Lewisham SARs, and from those conducted elsewhere, result in improved practice locally.
The SAB has also been proactive in providing learning workshops, ensuring that those involved
in adult safeguarding have the best possible foundations for their practice. I have been really
pleased with the take-up of the events for making safeguarding personal, mental capacity act
assessments and working with people who self-neglect.
Healthwatch Lewisham and Voluntary Action Lewisham supported the delivery of a conference
for voluntary and community sector organisations. This helped to continue the work in raising
awareness of key issues, and in promoting practice that seeks to prevent as well as protect
people from abuse and neglect.
The annual report gives an account of these and other initiatives that partner agencies have
delivered, and what the SAB and its partners plan to deliver in 2019-20 to ‘ensure adults are
safeguarded by empowering and supporting them to make informed decisions’. (The Strategic
Business Plan for 2019-20 is on page 21).
During the year we said goodbye to Philip Byron the SAB Business Manager, who did much to
establish the effectiveness of the Board. We welcome Martin Crow as his successor, working
alongside Vicki Williams and Tiana Mathurine. Together they have ensured the smooth running
of the SAB. I am grateful to them for their work and to all those who have worked hard to
provide effective adult safeguarding services in the Borough.
I hope that you find the annual report informative and helpful.
Professor Michael Preston-Shoot
Independent Chair

3 113
Page

Board Membership
The Board is made up from the following organisations, which includes the statutory partners
that must be involved in leading local adult safeguarding arrangements, as well as the other
important agencies listed below:


Healthwatch Lewisham



Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust



Lewisham Adult Social Care



Lewisham Children & Young People’s Services



Lewisham Safeguarding Children’s Partnership Board



Lewisham Homes



Lewisham Joint Commissioning Group



Lewisham Public Health



Lewisham Public Protection and Safety



Lewisham Strategic Housing Services



London Ambulance Service



London Community Rehabilitation Company



London Fire Brigade



Metropolitan Police Lewisham



National Probation Service, Lewisham and Southwark



NHS England



NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group



South London & Maudsley NHS Foundation trust



Voluntary Action Lewisham

Board Structure
The Executive Group was made up from the
statutory and funding partners who met to
discuss resourcing and other key strategic
issues. However, the group did not meet
regularly throughout 2018-19 and a decision
was made to stand this group down.
The Case Review Group became a formal
Sub-Group towards the end of the reporting
period, which is linked to the review of the
structure in line with the objectives outlined
in the Strategic Business Plan for 2019-20.

Page4 114

Lewisham: Key Facts and Figures
There were 125 Safeguarding *Section 42 Enquiries
per 100,000 of population recorded in Lewisham in
2018-19 (the London average is approximately 270).
See more detailed safeguarding data on page 17.
Statutory
homelessness
rate of 6.1
people per
1,000 (England
rate is 2.5)
13th most densely populated
area in England

8.1% of residents provide
at least some unpaid care
each week, which equates
to around 22,500 people

The population is
expected to grow to
344,000 by 2031

There are
1 NHS and 2 private
Mental Health
Hospitals

14.5% of residents
are living with a
long-term condition which
limits their activities

4.5% of GP patients aged 65+
are recorded as living
with dementia

48
Residential
&
Nursing
The 60’s +
Care
population is
Homes
projected to
increase by
around
33,000
by 2040
In the top 20% most
deprived Areas in
England

*BAME service users
are overrepresented in
mental health
services

17th highest
crime rate
in
London

There were 6000 reported victims of
domestic abuse in 2018-19, which is the 4th
highest rate in London
There were 19 *s.42 Enquiries for
Domestic Abuse in 2018-19

The data on this page has been taken from the *Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for
Lewisham, Local Authority statistics, NHS, and Metropolitan Police reporting data.

5 115
Page

Strategic Business Plan 2018-19 Outcomes
The Board had the following Aims during 2018-19:
1. Stop abuse and neglect
This is a critical feature of the work of the Board. The examples and stories that are outlined on
pages 11 to 16 help to illustrate what the partner agencies are doing to help stop adult abuse.
2. Improve the health and wellbeing of people
This is also a core part of the work of many of the Board’s partner agencies, which includes
the public health and trauma informed approach to violence reduction. These strategies are
helping to prevent adult abuse and tackle some of the most significant issues in the Borough.
3. Promote people making choices and having control of their lives
During the last 12 months the Board has conducted a Making Safeguarding Personal (*MSP)
‘Temperature Check’ in conjunction with the London SAB, which was designed to test how
well agencies have embedded person-centred approaches to supporting adults at risk of abuse
and neglect. This was supported by a training session being delivered to professionals on this
subject in January 2019, which followed on from a previous Seminar on Autonomy vs Duty of
Care in June 2018.
4. Raise public awareness of abuse and neglect and what to do
The Board delivered a Voluntary and Community Sector Safeguarding Conference on the
8 November 2018 in conjunction with Healthwatch Lewisham and Voluntary Action Lewisham.
This event was very well received and attended by 83 delegates, helping to improve the profile
of adult safeguarding related work in the local community by placing an emphasis on selfneglect and hoarding, disability hate crime, domestic abuse and SCAMS prevention.
The Business Unit continues to distribute Newsletters and Bulletins centrally, and partners are
involved in numerous projects across Lewisham to help raise public awareness, which forms
part of their commitment to this subject as part of their membership of the Board.
5. Promote prevention of abuse and neglect
Between November 2018 and March 2019 the Board delivered 12 learning events:
Self-Neglect and Hoarding Masterclass x 4
Making Safeguarding Personal x 2
Mental Capacity Act & Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLs) x 2
Information Sharing x 2
Provider Managers x 1
Basic Awareness x 1

248

This resulted in a total of 248 delegates accessing these training activities.
Motivational
course that
left me feeling
I wanted to
learn more

“Excellent training. It came strongly
recommended and lived up to
expectations”
“I am grateful to have such good training”
Page6 116

The Board conducted and published two Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) in 2018-19,
which are designed to generate lessons that can be learned to prevent similar instances from
occurring again.
The recommendations and actions that have been developed as a result of these reviews are
still being delivered, helping to inform practice developments in the Borough and further afield.
These reviews are summarised on pages 8 & 9.
The Board has also been developing a comprehensive Self-Neglect and Hoarding Policy and
Procedures in the last year, which will help to underpin changes to local systems when the
adult *Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MaSH) becomes operational in the near future.
The Board also supported Lewisham Borough Council in the development of the Modern
Slavery and Human Trafficking Protocol (published February 2019), and will help to further
promote and establish the approaches needed to prevent this type of abuse in the coming year
and beyond.
These Policies and Protocols can be accessed here:
https://www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab/lsab/publications/policy-and-procedures

6. Support people to protect themselves and stay safe
The final evaluation of the Faith Group Champions training delivered to 223 people in 2017-18
was completed in October 2018. This has been used to help the planning of a broader
Safeguarding Champions’ role to be established, which will encourage professionals,
volunteers and community members to support people to stay safe.
7. Improve the quality of care
The Board co-ordinated a significant amount of activity that was designed to examine the
quality of care being provided in the Borough. This included oversight of the:

Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Groups Audit Report

Joint Commissioning Provider Audits and Annual Safeguarding Assurance Report

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Audit by Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Audit by Lewisham Borough Council.
This focus on quality will continue and be expanded in line with the Board’s Strategic Business
Plan for 2019-20.

7 117
Page

Work of the Case Review Sub-Group
Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) Definition
Safeguarding Adults Boards (SABs) must arrange a SAR when an adult dies either as a result
of abuse or neglect, known or suspected, and there is concern that partner agencies could
have worked more effectively to protect the adult; or if an adult has not died, but the SAB
knows or suspects that the adult has experienced serious abuse.
The Case Review Sub-Group manages and oversees the SAR process locally and is led by the
Board’s Independent Chair Professor Michael Preston-Shoot.
The group met six times throughout the year and included membership from Lewisham
Borough Council, the Metropolitan Police, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group, and
Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust. A significant amount of work was overseen by the group,
and in addition to the cases outlined below, other non-statutory reviews and reports were also
considered and monitored. This included the local annual reports for the *Learning Disability
Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR), and Drug & Alcohol Related Deaths. This report also
specifically examined the subject of homelessness, which links to Government advice for SARs
to be used to examine the deaths of rough sleepers where appropriate.
SAR Notifications
The Board received and considered 5 new SAR Notifications during 2018-19. One of these
cases was approved as a statutory SAR and has commenced; one didn’t meet the criteria; and
the other three were still pending a decision at the end of March 2019 due to the need for
parallel processes (such as court cases) to conclude, or for more information to be collected.
Ongoing SARs
One review continued throughout all of 2018-19 but has been delayed due to unforeseen
circumstances, and two further SARs were concluded and are outlined below.
SAR Mr. Michael Thompson (published in July 2018)
Mr. Thompson was a 60-year-old Black British man of Jamaican origin who had been living on
his own in Lewisham for the previous five years. The review concerns the death of Michael on
3 March 2016.
On that morning a call was made to the London Fire Brigade (LFB) as smoke had been seen
coming out of the window of Michael’s flat by a person driving past. LFB found Michael
unconscious and called the London Ambulance Service who attended and administered
emergency treatment. Michael was taken to Hospital, placed on cardiac support and
ventilation, but he was declared dead the following day. A post mortem later gave a provisional
cause of death due to inhalation of fumes.
During the 2 and 3 March 2016 emergency services had been called to Michael’s flat by family
members and neighbours on three separate occasions because of concerns about his
behaviour. It is the circumstances surrounding these contacts with services and the subsequent
decisions and actions that were taken that are central to this review.
Key actions that were delivered as a result of this SAR:
1. Considering Mental Capacity
All clinicians attended training on Mental Capacity Act assessments facilitated by a Consultant
Psychiatrist. This subject also featured in a weekly bulletin to clinicians, and the consideration
and use of Mental Capacity Act assessments is now regularly audited.
Page8 118

2. Inter-agency referrals to out of hours mental health services
Protocols and agreements have been implemented to improve the information and assistance
available to emergency services working out of hours (evenings, nights and weekends).
3. Nearest relative & their right to ask for assessment under the Mental Health Act 1983
A leaflet on the rights of the nearest relative to a person in mental health crisis has been
created and distributed by mental health and social care services. The wishes of the nearest
relatives are also now recorded in all contacts with the mental health service.
SAR Mr. Cedric Skyers (published in July 2018)
Mr. Skyers was a 69-year-old man who was born in Jamaica but had lived in England from
being a teenager.
Cedric died on the 13 March 2016 in Hospital after he was transported there by ambulance,
after having been discovered engulfed in flames in the smoking shelter located in the garden
of the Nursing Home where he had lived for the previous 10 years.
Earlier he had been taken to the shelter in his wheelchair so that he could smoke. The cause
of death was recorded as extensive burning. The review examined the wider considerations,
circumstances and context of Cedric’s death, in respect of policy, procedure and practice to
aid future prevention and learning.
Key actions that were delivered as a result of this SAR:
1. Smoking and risk assessment guidance in care homes
Guidance is being written which will set out what a good risk assessment should look like. This
will include: Consideration of the Mental Capacity Act 2005, documenting any unwise decisions;
the use of equipment, including alarms and fire retardant clothing; levels of dexterity/mobility
and physical impairment; need for regular review; and the right to privacy versus supervision.
2. Smoking cessation
Residents are offered the chance to stop smoking with the assistance of smoking cessation
services, and this offer is repeated on an annual basis by the care home provider.
3. Risk assessments for the adult
All residents who smoke now have a fully completed risk assessment that is regularly updated.
Both reviews can be read in full here:
https://www.safeguardinglewisham.org.uk/lsab/lsab/publications/safeguarding-adult-reviews
National Picture
2018-19

Safeguarding Adult Reviews

120
100
80

2017-18

60
40

2016-17
20
2015-16

0
North
East

East
Mids

East
of Eng

West
Mids

North
West

Yorks &
Humber

South
West

South
East

London

Since 2015 when the Care Act came into force there have been around 420 SARs conducted
nationally. Approximately 25% of these have been conducted in London.
(Data for 2018-19 is based on the previous averages).
9 119
Page

Work of the Housing Providers Sub-Group
The group met three times during the reporting period and included regular contributions from
ten local housing providers, as well as from a range of other organisations.
Throughout the year there were very useful presentations from:

Age UK - Scams Prevention and Victim Support Project

London Fire Brigade - Support for Hoarders and Fire Safety Visits

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust - Community Falls Service

Lewisham Borough Council:

Adult Social Care (Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub)

Violence Reduction Team (Cuckooing and County Lines).
The group have shared case studies and good news stories, and used the forum to improve
understanding around relevant policy and practice guidelines; including information sharing and
self-neglect (hoarding).
Members have also completed a self-audit process based on the London Safeguarding Adults
Board model, which will help to further inform practice and improve the focus on preventing
adult abuse and neglect.
The Board would like to formally thank Sebastian Taylor (Phoenix Housing) for being the Chair
of this group throughout 2018-19, and welcome Clare Hopkins (Lewisham Homes) who has
now taken on this role.
Cuckooing and County Lines
Cuckooing is a form of home invasion crime in which drug dealers take over the home
(like a nest) of a vulnerable person in order to use it as a base for drug dealing.

County Lines is a term used when drug gangs from cities start operating in smaller
towns, exploiting children and adults at risk of abuse (including human trafficking) to sell drugs.
These dealers use dedicated mobile phone lines, known as 'deal lines', to take orders from
drug users. This is a growing and significant problem across London and in Lewisham.
Vulnerabilities

Methods

Venues

Certain circumstances in a persons life
place at them at greater risk of grooming for
County Lines involvement, and gangs look
to exploit this:

The gang lifestyle is glorified on social
media, promises of cash and clothes
are made, and other grooming methods
are reported:

These venue types are
commonly used, but
there is a lack of detailed
intelligence on this:

Exclusion from school, or part-time attendance
is seen by exploiters positively as the young
person has more time to work on a County Line
and will not trigger Council action through
truancy.

Hook: Young people are used to recruit
others, with the recruiter being the ‘Hook’.

Pupil Referral
Units & Schools

Honey Trap: A young woman is used to
entice young men as part of ‘grooming’.

Social Media &
Gaming Platforms

Family breakdown can be a risk factor. More
attention should be given to young people at
these times of crisis.

Broadcasts: These are put out on
social media offering young people the
opportunity to make a lot of money.

Young people on the verge of going into care
are at risk, before attracting the attention of
Local Authorities and Police during missing
periods.

Food: This is bought for young people
in ‘chicken shops’ as an early step in the
grooming process.

People with drug habits, learning difficulties or Drugs: Exploited are offered ‘freebies’
who may be naïve are exploited, and especially to gain control of them leading to regular
those not known to Police as ’clean skins’.
drug use or debt bondage.

10120
Page

Based on an extract from ‘Rescue and Response’ County Lines Project

Youth Clubs

Chicken Shops & Other
Fast Food Outlets
Bus Stops, Parks &
Skate Parks

Work of the Board’s Partner Agencies
Healthwatch Lewisham
Key achievements in 2018-2019
1. Enter and View
In accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Healthwatch Lewisham conducted
Enter and View visits to gain insight from service users into how services are experienced,
highlight good practice and make recommendations for improvement.
Linked to LSAB Aim 7

2. Community Adult Safeguarding Conference
Healthwatch supported the planning and organisation of this event where
the Chief Executive (Folake Segun) outlined the role of the organisation
in relation to adult safeguarding.
Linked to LSAB Aim 4

3. BAME Mental Health Summit
Healthwatch helped to deliver this Summit in response to the Health and Wellbeing Board’s
review of health inequalities and the treatment of mental ill health within the BAME community.
Linked to LSAB Aim 4

4. Seldom Heard Engagement
This includes engagement with numerous support groups across the Borough to hear about
how people experience health and care services.
Linked to LSAB Aim 7

Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (LCCG)
Key achievements in 2018-2019
1. Work within nursing and residential homes
The Safeguarding Nurse Advisor (SNA) continued to offer significant support to nursing and
residential homes in relation to improving quality standards and safeguarding.
Linked to LSAB Aim 2, 3 & 7

2. The Multi-Disciplinary Community Pressure Ulcer Panel
This is chaired by the SNA to investigate the causes of community acquired pressure ulcers,
and to ensure lessons are learned and that recommendations are taken forward. Care homes
are supported through the process by the SNA who also delivers ‘reflection on practice’ groups
and unannounced follow up visits to ensure changes of practice are being embedded.
Linked to LSAB Aims 1, 2 & 7

3. Partnership working
The SNA is a member of the following groups and is involved in development work linked to
these forums:

Catford Falls Project

The South London Health Innovation Group for Community Pressure Ulcers

Weekly Multi Agency Safeguarding Conferences (MASCC) chaired by the Local Authority

Multi-Agency Quality Assurance and Information Group (MAQUAIG)

Catheter Care Project Group.
Linked to LSAB Aims 1, 2 & 6

11121
Page

Work of the Board’s Partner Agencies
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
Key achievements in 2018-2019
1. Improving the reporting to LeDeR (Learning Disability Mortality Reviews)
The Adult Safeguarding Team conduct reviews for patients who have died within the Trust, and
now report to the newly established internal Mortality Review Committee. The Trust also
participates in the South East London steering group and divisional governance meetings.
Linked to LSAB Aims 2 & 7

2. Preparation for adult safeguarding records to go live electronically across the Trust
The Adult Safeguarding Team has worked in conjunction with the ‘iCare project Team’ to plan
and prepare for adult safeguarding documentation to be implemented within electronic patient
records. This includes Safeguarding Alerts, Mental Capacity Act Assessments, and all clinical
documentation related to adult safeguarding. These changes will also enhance the efficiency of
onward referrals to the Local Authority safeguarding team.
Linked to LSAB Aim 7

3. Introduction of a Level 2 training App for adult safeguarding - Improving access to training
The Adult Safeguarding Team devised a training programme via an App which
is available to clinical staff. The programme contains a self-assessment that
consists of twenty questions covering all of the content in the App including
Making Safeguarding Personal, Safeguarding Adult Reviews, Modern Slavery,
Domestic Violence and the Mental Capacity Act 2005.
Linked to LSAB Aim 7

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM)
Key achievements in 2018-2019
1. Quality Indicator Dashboard
The Adult Safeguarding Leads in the Boroughs that SLaM operates within now have access to
the Quality Indicator Dashboard. This allows them to view and analyse relevant information
linked to adult safeguarding, which in turn supports them in identifying themes and gaps in
practice, to be used in creating learning and development objectives.
Linked to LSAB Aim 7

2. Domestic Abuse
The Trust now has Domestic Abuse and MARAC Steering Groups involving staff from all of the
areas SLaM delivers services in. The Trust also conducted a domestic abuse audit during the
reporting period that focussed on practitioner’s awareness and documentation.
Linked to LSAB Aims 5 & 7

3. Training delivery
SLaM continues to exceed training targets for Prevent
and Safeguarding Adults Level 1 & 2.
Linked to LSAB Aim 5

12122
Page

Radicalisation
Prevent is part of the Government's
counter-terrorism strategy (Contest).
This aims to safeguard and provide
support to divert vulnerable individuals
at risk from being radicalised or
groomed into supporting terrorist
activity, before any crimes are
committed.

Work of the Board’s Partner Agencies
London Borough of Lewisham - Adult Social Care (ASC)
Key achievements in 2018-2019
1. Development of ‘call over’ meetings
These monthly meetings help to improve the quality and consistency of safeguarding practice
and performance across ASC. They examine information and case work records, and involve
discussions with Safeguarding Adult Managers to explore these issues in greater detail.
This resulted in 32% more enquiries being conducted on time and also led to the development
of a 10 day safeguarding case file self-audit tool; an agreed escalation process when there are
delays in receiving reports from other agencies; and changes being proposed to the Council’s
Case Management System.
Linked to LSAB Aims 2 & 7

2. Implementation of routine internal audits of Safeguarding Casework
A working group led by the Principle Social Worker were involved in the development of a
casework/ safeguarding audit tool for *ADASS, which was then used to develop a local version.
The results of these audits help to support practice, identify training needs and to address any
gaps in competency levels.
Linked to LSAB Aim 7

3. Hoarding and Self-Neglect Policy Development Officer
This post was funded and created (currently being recruited) to enable the post holder to
help implement and embed the new LSAB policy across all partner agencies, ensuring that
effective local arrangements are in place to support adults in relation to self-neglect.
Linked to LSAB Aims 2, 3, 4, 6 & 8

Metropolitan Police Service – South East Basic Command Unit (BCU)
Key achievements in 2018-2019
1. Safeguarding under the SE BCU
Staff investigating Domestic Abuse (DA), Child Abuse and Rape offences have been brought
together into one Safeguarding team. Bringing these teams together enables us to provide a
more joined up approach, providing victims with earlier, improved contact and reassurance.
Linked to LSAB Aim 6

2. Prevent & Change Panel
This project aims to increase the safety of DA survivors and their children by working directly
and indirectly with prolific domestic violence perpetrators. Police work with partner agencies to
disrupt and deter perpetrators from offending, and also conduct specific 1-2-1 work with victims.
Linked to LSAB Aims 1 & 6

3. *Domestic Violence Prevention Notices/Orders (DVPN/O)
The BCU has obtained the 2nd highest rate of DVPN/O’s
across the Metropolitan Police Service (37 applied/issued).
This has been achieved by having a dedicated DVPN/O
Officer who works alongside Independent Advocates to
support victims during the 28 day enforcement period, with
further funding also used to support those most at risk.
Linked to LSAB Aim 6

13123
Page

Work of the Board’s Partner Agencies
London Fire Brigade (LFB) - Lewisham
Key achievements in 2018-2019
1. Home Fire Safety Visits (HFSV’s)
The LFB in Lewisham completed 2077 HFSV’s which was above the annual target, with 92%
of those people involved (1716) being described as vulnerable or in ‘priority places’. Work has
also been conducted in conjunction with the police in regard to the threat of arson linked to
domestic violence cases, resulting in 12 arson letterboxes being installed and 6 sets of fire
retardant bedding being issued.
Linked to LSAB Aim 6

2. Welfare Concern reporting
A total of 70 safeguarding/welfare concerns were referred to LFB Lewisham, with hoarding
being a prominent factor involving 23 (33%) of cases, which were also commonly linked to
mental and or physical impairment, and poor living conditions.
Linked to LSAB Aims 4 & 6

3. Fire Safety Sprinklers
£20,000 was given to Lewisham Homes from LFB’s Community
Safety Investment Fund to contribute to sprinklers in a local
housing development. This links to a worrying trend in the
increase in non domestic fires in Regulatory Reform Order (RRO)
properties. These are properties such as Care homes, Houses of
Multiple Occupation (HMO), commercial properties or shops with
dwellings above, that that can commonly involve adults most at risk
of abuse and neglect.

“Sprinklers are not a luxury, they save lives.”
London Fire Brigade Commissioner Dany Cotton

Work continues between LFB and trading standards to identify rogue landlords or premises
which do not have the required level of fire precautions. As a result 3 enforcement notices were
issued to registered care homes in the Borough, who were compliant upon re-inspection. (This
links to the Cedric Skyers SAR).
Linked to LSAB Aim 6

Lewisham Homes
Key achievements in 2018-2019
1. Improved the response to hoarding and self-neglect
Hoarding UK were commissioned to deliver training and policy and
procedures were reviewed in line with the LSAB guidance. An
internal safeguarding panel was also established to review cases,
increase accountability, share decision making and
improve consistency.
Linked to LSAB Aim 6

2. Implemented a system of tenancy risk rating and sustainment
Safeguarding concerns are identified earlier, and more preventative work is being conducted.
Linked to LSAB Aim 5

14124
Page

Adults Stories

Eileen
The Safeguarding Team within Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT)
were approached by the Consultant Respiratory Nurse for support and
advice regarding Eileen.
This patient was receiving oxygen therapy at home and it had been noticed
on a recent home visit that there was evidence of smoking cigarettes in the home, which could
be posing risks to others in the household as well as neighbours. It was not clear whether
Eileen had the mental capacity to make decisions regarding these risks.
A home visit was arranged along with London Fire Brigade Officers and it was found that Eileen
did have the mental capacity to make informed decisions and that she had stopped smoking,
although other family members had been smoking around her.

Eileen and her son worked with the Fire Brigade and the Nurses, and
together they formulated a risk management plan.
Eileen and her son were able to explain the risks of smoking while using oxygen therapy and
said they would discuss this with other extended family members.
Smoking cessation information was offered, and as a result of the interventions the Respiratory
Nurse Team felt that the risk of a smoking and oxygen related clinical incident had been
significantly reduced. The team also felt more confident in conducting a Mental Capacity
Assessment and in working with other partners to protect adults from abuse and neglect.

David
A neighbour alerted Optivo Housing (member of the LSAB Housing
Sub-Group) about their concerns regarding David after going inside his
property. He was dirty, had been wearing the same clothing for a long time,
and there was a strong smell coming from around his home.
A Housing Officer arranged a visit to meet David following these concerns,
where it became apparent that he had health issues affecting his breathing,
linked to a heart condition which made him exhausted quickly.
During the visit David stated that he was struggling to contain the mess in his home as he had
allowed it to get so bad, and the Housing Officer noticed there was no cooker or fridge in the
property, and only a small amount of food in the cupboard.

Following a discussion with David and liaison with the Local Authority, the Tenancy Sustainment
Officer arranged to deep clean the property, which David agreed he would be able to maintain.
A cooker and fridge freezer were also installed following an application to the Helping Hands
Fund (Optivo budget).

This support has helped to improve David ‘s health due to living in a
cleaner environment and now having the ability to store and cook food.
This has also meant that he has been able to maintain his tenancy and improve the relationship
with his neighbour. This help has prevented the risk of self-neglect from escalating and needing
a statutory safeguarding response.
We have not used the actual names or photographs of the adults involved, but the other details are real

15125
Page

Adults Stories

Anna
Anna is an 81 year old living in a residential care home for people with
Dementia.
Lewisham Council (Adult Social Care) received a report from the out of
hours Doctors service to say they had been called to review Anna following
an incident with another resident. The Police were contacted and they made a decision based
on the needs of both clients that they would not pursue the matter. Adult Social Care conducted
a safeguarding enquiry and initiated closer supervision of the other resident, who was later
admitted to hospital following a mental health review. Anna was monitored closely by staff and
supported by her family, and a multi-agency safeguarding case conference was held with family
members, the care provider, and health services.

Although Anna was assessed and found to lack the mental capacity to be directly involved in
the safeguarding investigation, her family acted as advocates and were involved throughout.
Clear outcomes were established based on the views and wishes of the family, which ensured
that the ‘adult’s voice’ was very clearly present, and that Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP)
principles were used to guide the enquiry process.
The multi-agency response ensured that therapeutic support was provided for Anna and her
family, and that measures were identified to help prevent further instances from reoccurring.
Despite the negative impact the incident had on Anna’s family, they felt that the action that had

been taken, and the way that this had been delivered, was positive.
James
James threatens to jump from heights and walks on train tracks, sometimes
both, and is often highly intoxicated during these incidents and therefore at
high risk of accidental suicide. Interventions from Police, London Ambulance
Service and mental health services had not worked, and he was not open to
support from drug and alcohol services due to his previous behaviour. The
financial impact of James’s presentation was around £2,200 per month, on
top of an estimated cost of £100,000 per incident in delays to the rail network.
A multi-agency *Serenity Integrated Mentoring (SIM) plan was created
involving more intensive mental health support, police liaison, diversion into
other activities, as well as enrolment into the Recovery College (mental health support service)
as a precursor to alcohol rehabilitation.

These interventions resulted in James spending his first Christmas in ten years outside of a
mental health hospital, and providing safer crisis management choices for him.
All of the agencies involved in the SIM plan are using it effectively whilst continuing to seeking
support and advice, which is improving the professional response from each agency, and the
overall multi-agency effect in protecting James and preventing adult abuse and neglect.

James is positively engaging with the SIM programme and taking steps
towards his recovery, including possibly entry back into employment.

We have not used the actual names or photographs of the adults involved, but the other details are real

16126
Page

Safeguarding Data 2018-19
This is Local Authority Data regarding concluded Section 42 Enquiries (unless stated)
How much adult abuse was reported?

What is the age and ethnicity of victims?
65-74
8%

800

Safeguarding Concern

18-64
58%

75-84
14%

600

49% Conversion Rate
Section 42 Enquiry
by age

400

85-94
15%
95+
5%

Section 42 Enquiry
200

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

The number of Safeguarding Concerns have
fluctuated over the last three years, but Section 42
Enquiries have increased by 105% in the same
time period, although it has been recognised that
there is still some activity not being accurately
recorded within the Council’s case management
system. The *conversion rate between Concern
and Section 42 Enquiry is 49%, measured against
a national average of approximately 41% (a higher
conversion rate is seen as a positive indicator).

The average age of victims is lower than across
England, which reflects the demographics in the
Borough and also links to where abuse occurred,
with only a relatively small % in care homes.
Section 42 Enquiry by ethnicity

White
53%

The number for BAME is higher than the national
average, but still below the demographics for
Lewisham, which may highlight some barriers to
reporting abuse.

What types of adult abuse were reported?
Modern Slavery

0%

Sexual Exploitation

0%

Discriminatory Abuse

0%

Organisational Abuse
Self-Neglect
Domestic Abuse

BAME
39%

Where did adult abuse occur?

Acute
Hospital
6%

3%

Community
Service
5%

Community
Location
2%

4%
5%

Sexual Abuse
Psychological Abuse
Financial or Material Abuse
Neglect & Acts of Omission
Physical Abuse

Own
Home
32%

Other
8%

9%
14%
15%
24%
27%

Sexual Abuse is higher than the national average,
although this probably reflects the actual picture
more accurately as 1 in 5 adults have been
sexually assaulted in their lifetime (ONS 2017).

Mental Health
Hospital
23%
Care
Home
23%

Mental Health Hospital is high compared to
national trends, and 4 times higher than the
Self-Neglect numbers may start to increase due to University Hospital of Lewisham. A large number
the priority given to this subject, which accounts for of these cases are linked to incidents between
almost 50% of all SARs nationally.
patients at the Ladywell Unit.
Office for National Statistics (ONS)

17127
Page

Strategic Business Plan 2019-2020
The Board has created a new one-year Strategic Business Plan for 2019-20 in consultation
with partner agencies and utilising community feedback. This is summarised below.
This not only reflects local issues in Lewisham, but seeks to address some of the most
prominent national challenges that are currently being faced in relation to preventing adult
abuse and neglect.
The objectives will form the basis of the collective work programme for partner agencies to
contribute to through the work of the Board over the next 12 months, and will be delivered
through planned activities, whilst also building on existing good practice and local networks.
The priorities and aims will also influence each separate partner agency, who are committed
to embedding this overall strategy into their broader organisational approach to safeguarding
adults.
Vision:
To ensure adults are safeguarded by empowering and supporting them to make informed decisions

Priorities:





Prevent adult exploitation, abuse and neglect.
Develop intelligence led, evidence based practice.
Strengthen partnership working.

Objectives:
Prevention Aim:


By April 2020 we will have made
further progress in developing
preventative strategies.




Develop and implement a Learning, Training &
Development Strategy.
Conduct an audit of prevention focussed work.
Implement local policies and protocols, and support
initiatives to help prevent abuse.

Objectives:
Accountability Aim:


By April 2020 we will have
established methods to effectively
measure how well adults at risk of
abuse and neglect are being
protected, which will be used to
develop evidence based practice.




Establish a Performance, Audit & Quality Sub-Group to
measure how well local agencies collectively protect adults
at risk of abuse and neglect.
Conduct self and peer audits to help agencies better protect
adults at risk of abuse and neglect.
Facilitate the development of system wide, inter-agency
guidance that will establish best practice in protecting adults
at risk of abuse and neglect.

Objectives:
Partnerships Aim:


By April 2020 we will have
demonstrated our commitment to
supporting the ‘whole family’
approach to safeguarding those
most at risk of abuse and neglect in
Lewisham.




Develop a Communication and Engagement Strategy that
supports involvement of service users.
Create a protocol that better links the work of children and
adult safeguarding partnerships.
Continue to work with partners in building a safer
community, expanding the number of Safeguarding
Champions, and developing a Safe Place Scheme in the
Borough.

18128
Page

Appendix One: Jargon Buster
ADASS (The Association of Directors of Adult Social Services)
A charity and association that aims to further the interests of people in need of social care by
promoting high standards of social care services and influencing legislation and policy.
BAME (Black, Asian & Minority Ethic)
A term used to described the ethnicity of a wider group of individual ethnic minority groups.
Conversion Rate (Safeguarding Concern to s.42 Enquiry)
This describes when a Safeguarding Concern (see below) becomes a statutory Section 42
Safeguarding Enquiry (also see below). This can help to ascertain the level or quality at which
Concerns are being submitted, with a high conversion rate being seen as positive indicator.
Domestic Violence Prevention Notices/Orders (DVPN/O)
A DVPN is an emergency eviction notice which can be issued by the police to a perpetrator
when attending to a domestic abuse incident. This allows the victim a degree of breathing
space to consider their options with the help of a support agency.
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
JSNAs are the means by which leaders work together to understand the health and wellbeing
needs of people in the local area, and to decide on the priorities in delivering services.
Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR)
The LeDeR programme was established in May 2015 to support local areas across England to
review the deaths of people living with a learning disability, so that the learning from those
deaths can be used to help prevent further occurrences.
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MaSH)
The main aim of the adult MaSH in Lewisham will be to improve the quality of information
sharing and decision making between the statutory agencies, so that a more co-ordinated
response to Safeguarding Concerns can be delivered and achieved.
Pressure Ulcer Pathway
This is the set of processes and procedures that practitioners will follow in providing the most
appropriate care and treatment for preventing and managing pressure ulcers.
Safeguarding Concern
A sign of suspected abuse or neglect that is reported to, or identified by the Local Authority.
s.42 Enquiry (Section 42)
The action taken or instigated by the Local Authority in response to a reported concern that
abuse may be taking place.

Safe and Independent Living (SAIL)
This is a service that is ran by Age UK in partnership with a range of local agencies,
providing a quick and simple way to access local services to support older people (60+ in
Lewisham) in maintaining their independence, safety and wellbeing.
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/lewishamandsouthwark/services/sail/
Serenity Integrated Mentoring (SIM)
This is a model of care where specialist Police Officers work alongside community mental
health professionals to support people struggling with complex mental ill-health problems.
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP)
MSP is an initiative which aims to develop a person-centred and outcomes focus to
safeguarding work in supporting people to improve or resolve their circumstances.
19129
Page

If you see or hear something that concerns you, or you suspect somebody is being abused, or
someone tells you they are being abused. Report it without delay:

See it, report it!
If you suspect a neighbour, friend or family
member is being neglected or abused, or you
need help yourself

Call the Police on 101 or 999 in an emergency
Contact the Adult Social Care Team Monday to Friday 9am - 5pm:
Tel:
020 8314 7777 (select option 1)
Email:
SCAIT@lewisham.gov.uk
Out of hours service:
020 8314 6000
Contact details for the deaf / impaired hearing community
Minicom:
020 8314 3309
Text Message:
07730 637 194
Glide:
07730 637 194
If you are unsure, talk to adult social care team, they will listen to you and give you good
advice. You can talk to them without giving your name.
What not to do

Don’t promise to keep abuse a secret

Don’t alert the abuser, this might make matters worse and make it more difficult to help the
person at risk

Don’t delay reporting abuse, report this straight away.
Think Family
Consider risks to others which may include children or other adults with care and support
needs. Should there be a concern that a parent may be neglecting children in their care,
concerns should be reported to Children’s Social Care.
Contact the Children’s Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub Monday to Friday 9am - 5pm:
Tel:
020 8314 6660
Out of hours service:
020 8314 6000
20130
Page

